
02 October 2018 at 7.30 pm

Conference Room, Argyle Road, Sevenoaks
Despatched: 24.09.18

Planning Advisory Committee 
Membership:
Chairman, Cllr. Mrs. Hunter; Vice-Chairman, Cllr. Thornton  
Cllrs. C. Barnes, Dr. Canet, Clark, Edwards-Winser, Gaywood, Horwood, McGregor, 
Mrs. Morris, Parson and Piper

Agenda
There are no fire drills planned. If the fire alarm is activated, which is a 
continuous siren with a flashing red light, please leave the building immediately, 
following the fire exit signs.

Apologies for Absence
Pages Contact

1.  Minutes (Pages 1 - 4)
To agree the Minutes of the meeting of the 
Committee held on 19 June 2018, as a correct 
record.

2.  Declarations of Interest 
Any interest not already registered.

3.  Actions from Previous Meetings (Pages 5 - 6)  

4.  Update from Portfolio Holder  

5.  Referrals from Cabinet or the Audit 
Committee (if any) 

 

6.  Budget 2019/20: Service Dashboards and 
Service Change Impact Assessments (SCIAs) 

(Pages 7 - 30) Adrian Rowbotham 
Tel: 01732 227153

7.  Local Plan - Infrastructure delivery plan 
update 

(Pages 31 - 54) Hannah Gooden 
Tel: 01732 227178

8.  Public consultation on proposed updated 
conservation area appraisals 

(Pages 55 - 224) Regina Jaszinski 
Tel: 01732227103

9.  Work Plan (Pages 225 - 226)

 



EXEMPT INFORMATION 

At the time of preparing this agenda there were no exempt items. During any 
such items which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public.

If you wish to obtain further factual information on any of the agenda items listed 
above, please contact the named officer prior to the day of the meeting.

Should you need this agenda or any of the reports in a different format, or 
have any other queries concerning this agenda or the meeting please contact 
Democratic Services on 01732 227000 or democratic.services@sevenoaks.gov.uk.



3

PLANNING ADVISORY COMMITTEE

Minutes of the meeting held on 19 June 2018 commencing at 7.00 pm

Present: Cllr. Mrs. Hunter (Chairman)

Cllr. Thornton (Vice Chairman)

Cllrs. C. Barnes, Dr. Canet, Clark, Edwards-Winser, Gaywood, Horwood, 
Mrs. Morris, Parson and Piper 

An apology for absence was received from Cllr. McGregor

Cllrs. Abraham, Esler, Firth, Layland and Parkin were also present.

3.   Minutes 

Resolved: That the Minutes of the meetings of the Advisory Committee held 
on 25 April and 15 May 2018 be approved and signed by the Chairman as a 
correct record.

4.   Declarations of Interest 

No additional declarations of interest were made, however Cllr. Mrs Morris 
indicated that should specific sites be debated she may need to leave the 
Chamber.  
 
5.   Actions from Previous Meetings 

The actions were noted.

Cllr. Mrs Morris commended the Planning Policy Officer for generously spending his 
time with her.

6.   Update from Portfolio Holder 

The Portfolio Holder for Planning reported that the bulk of the work undertaken 
was contained within the agenda.  Within the draft local plan before members a 
lot of concern had been expressed with regard to ‘exceptional sites’ and he urged 
all members to visit the areas in question.  He advised that landowners and 
developers could still submit further sites up until the cut off at the end of the 
year.  

He congratulated Cllr. Edwards-Winser for chairing the first Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Spending Board, and understood another was due around 
November.    

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



Planning Advisory Committee - 19 June 2018

4

In response to a question about the Council’s Enforcement Team, he advised that 
some changes had been made to the structure and working arrangements which he 
believed would make the team more effective, and agreed to communicate this 
with all Members.

Action 1: The Planning Portfolio Holder to write to all Members about the 
changes made to the Enforcement Team. 
 

7.   Referrals from Cabinet or the Audit Committee 

There were none.

8.   Second Tranche of Local List 

The Conservation Officer presented the report which actioned policy EN4 of the 
Allocations and Development Management Plan (ADMP) by creating a Sevenoaks 
District Local List Supplementary Planning Document (SPD).  The report followed 
governmental planning policy set out in The National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) by recommending limited Article 4 Directions for “the wellbeing of the 
area” (NPPF, para. 200). An Article 4 Direction brought specified works under 
planning control, thereby supporting para 135 of the NPPF, “The effect of an 
application on the significance of a non-designated heritage asset should be taken 
into account in determining the application.”

In supporting the adoption of the second tranche it would see the completion of 
the Local List project with all the wards of Sevenoaks having been considered. It 
had been a great example of the working partnership between a local amenity 
group and the District Council. The Local List would meet SDC ADMP para. 2.24 and 
the application of the specific Article 4 Directions would have a positive impact on 
the management of Sevenoaks’ heritage assets.

Within the debate it was suggested that discussion with local ward councillors 
about any further additions prior to the Portfolio Holder exercising any delegated 
authority, would be beneficial.  The Chairman moved the recommendations as per 
the report subject to the addition of the words ‘after consultation with the local 
wards members’ at the end of (d).

Public Sector Equality Duty
Members noted that consideration had been given to impacts under the Public 
Sector Equality Duty.

Resolved: That it be recommended to Cabinet that

a)  the adoption of the second tranche of the Local List, be supported;

b)  the consideration of the focused use of Article 4 Directions to remove 
limited permitted development rights, be supported which would result 
in planning permission being required for

i) Demolition of Locally Listed Buildings outside a conservation area

Page 2

Agenda Item 1



Planning Advisory Committee - 19 June 2018

5

ii) Alteration (including removal) of locally listed boundaries and 
railings, inside and outside a conservation area;

c)  the communication of the proposed Article 4 Direction if necessary, be 
supported; and

d)  the request to grant delegated authority to the Portfolio Holder to 
consider and approve further additions to the Local List after 
consultation with the local ward members, be supported.

9.   Draft Local Plan 

The Chairman introduced the report advising that it was the ‘draft’ of the draft 
Local Plan and sites listed as ‘potentially’ suitable for development did not mean 
that they would be included within the final draft Local Plan submitted to the 
Inspector.  She urged that once this draft was agreed for consultation, residents 
and stakeholders should respond with valid reasons as to why or why not a site or 
policy should or should not be considered.  The Council had to demonstrate to the 
Inspector at the end of this process, that everything had been considered in full, 
with sound and evidence based reasons.  Results of the consultation would be 
considered at the Planning Advisory meeting on 22 November and Cabinet on 6 
December 2018, where debate would more likely be site specific.  Within the 
report there were 19 policies suggested which once adopted would be used during 
the consideration of planning applications at the development control committee, 
so feedback was important.

The Planning Policy Team Leader and Senior Planning Officer presented the report 
which provided a summary of the draft Local Plan, which would be issued for 
public consultation in the summer. It covered the main elements of the housing, 
employment, retail and gypsy and traveller strategies, together with an update on 
the potential housing figure and further information on the potential ‘Exceptional 
Circumstances’ sites. It was noted that ‘exceptional circumstances’ had not yet 
been tested.

It also provided an update on the recent member briefings, where Officers had 
outlined the sites that would be included in the consultation and the proposed 
public and stakeholder consultation strategy which would run for 8 weeks from 
Monday 16 July 2018 (which tied in with the publication of ‘InShape’) to Monday 10 
September 2018 (extended by two weeks to take into account the school summer 
holidays).   Consultation events would also be held.

Members took the opportunity to ask questions and seek clarification from 
Officers.  Members suggested improvements to help them and the public navigate 
the consultation, including: indexing; a ward by ward breakdown; and smaller 
downloads for those without reliable broadband.  Officers advised that there would 
be an interactive map, and Members were reminded that this was a committee 
report and not how the consultation would be finally presented.  All suggestions 
would be considered as it was hoped to make the consultation process accessible 
and as transparent as possible.

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



Planning Advisory Committee - 19 June 2018

6

With regards to the Green Belt and ‘exceptional circumstances’ the Chief Planning 
Officer explained that part of the consultation process was to test the validity of 
the arguments being put forward by promotors that a site fell under that remit.  
The Council needed consultees to respond on the planning merits and impacts of 
the sites as the plan had to be evidence based.  Sites currently being promoted as 
‘exceptional circumstances’ needed to be tested to demonstrate whether the 
infrastructure being proposed met an existing social and community need. Within 
the consultation process all residents and stakeholders were encouraged to 
respond and let the Council know their views.  Widespread and site specific views 
were encouraged as well as the evidence to omit as well as include sites.
The Chairman took each of the 19 policies separately for consideration and debate.  
There were no objections to anything within them but a few suggestions were 
made as to further inclusions, enhancements and cross referencing which Officers 
noted and agreed to look at.

Public Sector Equality Duty
Members noted that consideration had been given to impacts under the Public 
Sector Equality Duty.

Resolved:  That it be recommended to Cabinet that the Draft Local Plan 
2015 – 2035 document be agreed for public consultation and the Local Plan 
timetable (LDS) be agreed.

10.   Work Plan 

The work plan was noted.

THE MEETING WAS CONCLUDED AT 9.19 PM

CHAIRMAN

Page 4

Agenda Item 1



 

ACTIONS FROM THE MEETING HELD ON 19/09/2018

Action Description Status Contact Officer

ACTION 1
The Planning Portfolio Holder to write to 
all Members about the changes made to 
the Enforcement Team.

An update will be given at the meeting.
Cllr. Piper

P
age 5

A
genda Item

 3



T
his page is intentionally left blank



BUDGET 2019/20: SERVICE DASHBOARDS AND SERVICE CHANGE IMPACT 
ASSESSMENTS (SCIAs)

Planning Advisory Committee – 2 October 2018

Report of Chief Finance Officer

Status For comment 

Also considered by Economic and Community Development Advisory Committee 
– 25 September 2018

Legal and Democratic Services Advisory Committee – 4 
October 2018

Direct and Trading Advisory Committee – 9 October 2018

Finance Advisory Committee – 30 October 2018

Housing and Health Advisory Committee – 27 November 2018

Policy and Performance Advisory Committee – 29 November 
2018

Key Decision No

Executive Summary: 

This report sets out updates to the 2019/20 budget within the existing framework 
of the 10-year budget and savings plan.  The report presents growth and savings 
proposals that have been identified which need to be considered (if applicable to 
this Committee), and requests further suggestions from the Advisory Committees, 
before finalising the budget for 2019/20.

Informed by the latest information from Government and discussions with Cabinet, 
it is proposed that the Council continues to set a revenue budget which assumes no 
direct funding from Government through the Revenue Support Grant or New Homes 
Bonus. This will result in the Council continuing to be financially self-sufficient as 
set out in its Corporate Plan.

To achieve this aim and to ensure a balanced budget position over the next 10-year 
period, whilst also increasing the Council’s ability to be sustainable beyond that 
time, a savings requirement of £100,000 per annum is included. 

Other pressures may result in a requirement for further savings.  Officers will 
continue to monitor these pressures and report the latest position to Cabinet in 
December. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 6



Portfolio Holder Cllr. John Scholey

Contact Officers Adrian Rowbotham,  Ext. 7153

Alan Mitchell, Ext. 7483

Recommendation to each Advisory Committee:  

(a) Advise Cabinet with views on the growth and savings proposals identified in 
Appendix D applicable to this Advisory Committee.

(b) Advise Cabinet with further suggestions for growth and savings applicable to 
this Advisory Committee.

Reason for recommendation: It is important that the views of the Advisory 
Committees are taken into account in the budget process to ensure that the 
Council’s resources are used in the most suitable manner. 

Introduction and Background

1 The Council’s financial strategy over the past fourteen years has worked 
towards increasing financial sustainability and it has been successful through 
the use of a number of strategies including:

 implementing efficiency initiatives;

 significantly reducing the back office function;

 improved value for money;

 maximising external income;

 the movement of resources away from low priority services; and

 an emphasis on statutory rather than non-statutory services.

2 Over this period, the Council has focused on delivering high quality services 
based on Members’ priorities and consultation with residents and 
stakeholders.  In financial terms, the adoption of this strategy has to date 
allowed the Council to move away from its reliance on general fund 
reserves.

3 Using the data sources available to the Council, this report sets out a budget 
over the 10-year period but recognises that it is likely that more accurate 
data will become available in future months and current assumptions may 
need to be updated. 

4 In setting its budget for 2011/12 onwards, the Council recognised the need 
to address both the short-term reduction in Government funding as well as 
the longer-term need to reduce its reliance on reserves. The outcome was a 
10-year budget, together with a four-year savings plan, that ensured the 

Page 8

Agenda Item 6



Council’s finances were placed on a stable footing but that also allowed for 
flexibility between budget years.  

5 With the Revenue Support Grant provided by Government ceasing from 
2017/18 it is important that the council remains financially self-sufficient by 
having a balanced economy and a financial strategy that is focused on local 
solutions.  These solutions include:

 continuing to deliver financial savings and service efficiencies;

 growing the council tax and business rate base; and

 generating more income.

6 The intention of this report is to provide Members of each Advisory 
Committee an opportunity to give their views on potential growth and 
savings items that could be included in the updated 10-year budget that will 
be presented to Council on 26 February 2019.  

7 The ‘Financial Prospects and Budget Strategy 2019/20 and Beyond’ report 
has been presented to Cabinet to start the budget setting process for 
2019/20.

Financial Self-Sufficiency

8 The Council’s Corporate Plan, introduced in 2013, set out an ambition for 
the Council to become financially self-sufficient which was achieved in 
2016/17. This means that the Council no longer requires direct funding from 
Government, through Revenue Support Grant or New Homes Bonus, to 
deliver its services.

9 This approach was adopted in response to the financial challenges the 
Country is faced with in bringing its public spending down to ensure it is able 
to live within its means. In practice this has seen Government funding to 
local authorities dramatically reduced since 2010/11 with Sevenoaks District 
Council receiving no Revenue Support Grant from 2017/8.

10 The decision to become financially self-sufficient is intended to give the 
Council greater control over its services, reducing the potential for decision 
making to be influenced by the level of funding provided by government to 
local authorities. 

11 The Council’s decision to seek to become financially self-sufficient was 
subject to scrutiny by the Local Government Associations Peer Challenge of 
the District Council during December 2013. In their closing letter to the 
Council they concluded that they ‘fully support that aspiration and given the 
existing and anticipated squeeze upon public finances this makes much 
sense’.

12 With the Council receiving no Revenue Support Grant from 2017/18 and New 
Homes Bonus reducing from 2018/19, this approach remains appropriate.  
The attached 10-year budget assumes no Revenue Support Grant or New 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



Homes Bonus.  Any funding received from these sources will be put into the 
Financial Plan Reserve which can be used to support the 10-year budget by 
funding invest to save initiatives and supporting the Property Investment 
Strategy.  One of the aims of the Property Investment Strategy is to achieve 
returns of 5%+ when not borrowing or in excess of 3% for schemes that 
include some external borrowing; therefore using funding for this purpose 
will result in additional year on year income that is not impacted by 
Government decisions.

13 Cabinet are keen to remain financially self-sufficient and be ahead of the 
game.  This allows this Council to move ahead in the knowledge that it has 
the financial resources to provide the services that the district’s residents 
want into the future.

Service Dashboards

14 The intention of service dashboards is to provide Members with improved 
information during the budget setting process to provide context and inform 
any growth and savings ideas that Members may put forward.

15 The Service Dashboards cover a summary of the services provided, 
objectives, achievements and opportunities, challenges and risks and 
performance.

16 Appendix A contains the Service Dashboard for this Advisory Committee and 
Appendix B contains the budget for those services.

Savings Plan

17 Appendix C to this report sets out a summary of the savings and growth 
items approved by Council since the 10-year budget strategy was first used 
in 2011/12, which have allowed the Council to deliver a 10 year balanced 
budget.  

18 The savings plan requires a total of over £7 million to be saved between 
2011/12 and 2018/19 which is an average saving of nearly £900,000 per 
annum.  In the fourteen years from 2005/06, over £10m of savings will then 
have been made.

19 The 10-year budget attached shows a net saving or additional income 
requirement of £100,000 per annum to deliver a long-term sustainable 
budget.

20 Other pressures may result in a requirement for further savings.  Officers 
will continue to monitor these pressures and report the latest position to 
Cabinet in December.

Proposed Growth and Savings Items

21 Growth items are items that are in addition to non-service issues and risks, 
such as grant settlements, impacts of economic change and other pressures 

Page 10

Agenda Item 6



highlighted in the ‘Financial Prospects and Budget Strategy 2019/20 and 
Beyond’ report considered by Cabinet on 13 September 2018.

22 A number of growth and savings items will be proposed at the seven Advisory 
Committees with the aim of achieving the £100,000 mentioned above.  The 
£100,000 does not necessarily have to all be achieved in 2019/20 but the 
impact is required to be £1m (i.e. £100,000 x 10 years) over the 10-year 
budget period.

23 The proposed growth and savings items relating to this Advisory Committee 
are listed in Appendix D.

24 Service Change Impact Assessments (SCIAs) contain further details for all 
proposed growth and savings items.  SCIAs applicable to this Advisory 
Committee can be found in Appendix E.

25 During the budget process last year, each Advisory Committee was asked to 
provide further growth and savings suggestions to Cabinet.  Some suggestions 
were approved as part of the 2018/19 budget but Cabinet indicated that 
some other suggestions would be worth keeping on a list for future 
investigation.  The suggestions for future investigation relating to this 
Advisory Committee are included in Appendix F and Members may wish to 
consider these ideas when proposing growth and savings suggestions.

Financial Summary

26 The assumptions currently included take into account the latest information 
available but a number of assumptions may change before the final budget 
meeting in February 2018.

27 The 10-year budget attached at Appendix G includes the changes that were 
included in the ‘Financial Prospects and Budget Strategy 2019/20 and 
Beyond’ report.

Role of the Advisory Committees

28 Training sessions on the budget process have been provided to Members in 
previous years to ensure that they have an understanding of the process and 
relevant issues to allow them to play an active part in the budget setting 
process.  If Members require refresher training, please contact Adrian 
Rowbotham, Chief Finance Officer.

29 Views of the Advisory Committees on the growth and savings items proposed 
together with any additional suggestions will be considered by Cabinet at its 
meeting on 6 December 2018.

Process and Timetable

30 This report is the second stage of the budget process as shown in the Budget 
Timetable (Appendix H).

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



31 It is possible that Advisory Committees may have to re-address service 
budgets in January if significant changes have taken place leading to a large 
and unmanageable deficit.

Key Implications

Financial

All financial implications are covered elsewhere in this report.

Legal Implications and Risk Assessment Statement.

There are no legal implications.

For the effective management of our resources and in order to achieve a 
sustainable budget it is essential that all service cost changes and risks are 
identified and considered.

Challenges and risks are included in the Service Dashboards and each Service 
Change Impact Assessment (SCIA) includes the likely impacts including a risk 
analysis.

Financial risks will be reviewed again when the Cabinet publishes its proposals for 
the annual budget.

Equality Assessment

Members are reminded of the requirement, under the Public Sector Equality Duty 
(section 149 of the Equality Act 2010) to have due regard to (i) eliminate unlawful 
discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct prohibited by the 
Equality Act 2010, (ii) advance equality of opportunity between people from 
different groups, and (iii) foster good relations between people from different 
groups.

Individual equality impact assessments have been completed for all Service Change 
Impact Assessments (SCIAs) to ensure the decision making process is fair and 
transparent.
  

Conclusions

The Strategic Financial and Business Planning process has ensured that the Council 
follows a logical and well considered process and approach in dealing with the 
many difficult financial challenges that it has faced.  The 10-year budget has 
further improved this process and helped to ensure that the Council is well placed 
in dealing with more immediate and longer-term financial challenges.

By becoming financially self-sufficient at an early stage, this Council has become 
much more in control of its own destiny as the Property Investment Strategy should 
provide a much more stable income stream than the reducing direct government 
funding streams.

Page 12

Agenda Item 6



The attached 10-year budget shows that this Council can continue to be financially 
stable going into the future with a level of assurance that any council would aspire 
to.

This budget process will once again be a major financial challenge for a Council 
that already provides value for money services to a high standard.  In making any 
budget proposals, Members will need to consider the impact on service quality and 
staff well-being, to ensure that these proposals lead to an achievable 10-year 
budget that supports the Council’s aspirations for customer-focused services.

Members’ consideration and scrutiny of the relevant services is an essential and key 
element in the business and financial planning process.  If the net total of growth 
and savings proposals identified by the Advisory Committees and approved by 
Cabinet does not reach the £100,000 savings target, additional savings will be 
required that may result in service changes, to ensure a balanced budget position.  

Appendices Appendix A – Service Dashboards relating to this 
Advisory Committee.

Appendix B – 2017/18 Budget by Service relating 
to this Advisory Committee.

Appendix C – Summary of the Council’s agreed 
savings plan and growth items.

Appendix D – New growth and savings items 
proposed relating to this Advisory Committee (if 
applicable).

Appendix E - Service Change Impact Assessment 
forms (SCIAs) for the new growth and savings 
items relating to this Advisory Committee (if 
applicable).

Appendix F - Update on growth and savings 
suggestions made last year relating to this 
Advisory Committee (if applicable)

Appendix G – 10-year budget.

Appendix H – Budget timetable.

Background Papers None  

Adrian Rowbotham
Chief Finance Officer

Page 13

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



Service Dashboard Appendix A

Portfolio for Planning 

5

0

1

Green

Amber

Red

Performance

2,745

1,460
1,285

Expenditure Income Net

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

Revenue Budget (£000)

The services we provide

Development Management – including planning applications, planning enforcement and 

arboriculture. Building Control, and Strategic Planning – including the Local Plan, transport 

policy, conservation and design

Service contribution

Statutory service 


Income generating 


Working in partnership


Corporate priorities

Self-sufficiency 

Value for Money 

Safe district 

Collect rubbish effectively 

Green Belt 

Local Economy 

Challenges & Risks

 Continuing to deliver the Local Plan within 
the target timescale

 Recruitment and retention of high quality 
staff across the services in the Planning 
portfolio

 The cost of decisions being challenged, 
either at appeal or through the Courts

 Maintaining market share in Building 
Control with increasing competition from 
the private sector

 Digital services for Building Control

Achievements & Opportunities

 Consistently high performing development 
management function for speed and 
quality of decision making

 Production of the new Local Plan has met 
all milestones set

 More than 15,000 consultation responses 
to the Issues & Options consultation and 
approx. 4,800 on the Draft Local Plan

 100% of Building Control plans checked 
within 15 days and 4,400 site inspections 
completed annually

 100% response rate to dangerous 
structures within 2 hours

Page 15

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B

Planning Advisory Committee: 2018/19 Budget by Service

Revenue
2018/19 

Expenditure
2018/19 
Income

2018/19    
Net

Chief Officer Description £'000 £'000 £'000
Planning Services Administrative Expenses - Building Control 11 0 11
Planning Services Administrative Expenses - Planning Services 44 0 44
Planning Services Building Control 344 (456) (112)
Planning Services Building Control Discretionary Work 0 0 0
Planning Services Conservation 91 0 91
Planning Services Dangerous Structures 3 0 3
Planning Services Planning - Appeals 202 0 202
Planning Services Planning - CIL Administration 31 (80) (49)
Planning Services Planning - Development Management 1,138 (924) 214
Planning Services Planning - Enforcement 283 0 283
Planning Services Planning Policy 598 0 598

2,745 (1,460) 1,285

Capital
2018/19 

Expenditure
Chief Officer Description £'000

0
0

Page 17

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



Summary of the Council's Agreed Savings and Growth Items Appendix C

Description
2011/12 - 
2018/19 2019/20 Later Years Total

Year No. £000 £000 £000 £000
Direct and Trading Advisory Committee

2016/17 8 Playgrounds: reduction in asset maintenance (reversal of temporary 
saving item)

7

2016/17 9 Public Conveniences: reduction in asset maintenance (reversal of 
temporary saving item)

8

Economic and Community Development Advisory Committee
No savings or growth agreed from 2019/20 onwards

Finance Advisory Committee
2011/12 62,63 Staff terms and conditions - savings agreed by Council 18/10/11 (186) (187)
2018/19 11 Members Allowances: increase following JIRP review 15

Housing and Health Advisory Committee
No savings or growth agreed from 2019/20 onwards

Legal and Democratic Services Advisory Committee
No savings or growth agreed from 2019/20 onwards

Planning Advisory Committee
No savings or growth agreed from 2019/20 onwards

Policy and Performance Advisory Committee
2017/18 10 Apprenticeship Levy (reversal of temporary growth item) (45)
2018/19 3 Swanley Local Office contract (10) (15)
2018/19 13 IT Developers: funding for two years (reversal of temporary growth 

item)
(51)

Minor movements between years (1)

Total Savings (7,051) (196) (188) (7,435)
Total Growth 1,930 15 (96) 1,849
Net Savings (5,121) (181) (284) (5,586)

SCIA

P
age 19

A
genda Item

 6



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix D

New Growth and Savings Proposals: Planning Advisory Committee

Description Year Ongoing
2019/20 
Impact

Budget 
Impact

Year No. £000 £000
Growth

none
Sub Total 0 0

Savings
none
Sub Total 0 0
Net Savings Total 0 0

SCIA

P
age 21

A
genda Item

 6



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix E
SERVICE CHANGE IMPACT ASSESSMENT

Not applicable for this Advisory Committee as there are no new growth and 
savings proposals.

Page 23

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix F

Update on Growth and Savings Suggestions made last year relating to this Advisory 
Committees

Cabinet 07/12/17:

Cabinet discussed the further growth and savings items suggested by Advisory Committees 
and indicated that the following items be kept on the list for future investigation.

Planning Advisory Committee

Growth
none
Savings
none

Page 25

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



Ten Year Budget Appendix G

Plan Plan Plan Plan Plan Plan Plan Plan Plan Plan Plan
2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Expenditure

Net Service Expenditure c/f 14,470 14,687 14,966 15,321 15,705 16,083 16,468 16,859 17,254 17,655 18,166

Inflation 732 560 653 470 478 485 491 496 501 510 517

0 0 100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Net savings (approved in previous years) (427) (186) (232) 14 0 0 0 (1) 0 1 0

New growth 292 15 (51) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

New savings/Income (380) (110) (115) (100) (100) (100) (100) (100) (100) 0 0

Net Service Expenditure b/f 14,687 14,966 15,321 15,705 16,083 16,468 16,859 17,254 17,655 18,166 18,683

Financing Sources

Govt Support: Revenue Support Grant 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Council Tax (10,420) (10,816) (11,157) (11,508) (11,869) (12,239) (12,619) (13,010) (13,411) (13,798) (14,196)

Business Rates Retention (2,700) (2,096) (2,138) (2,181) (2,225) (2,270) (2,315) (2,361) (2,408) (2,456) (2,505)

Collection Fund Surplus (255) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Interest Receipts (130) (250) (250) (250) (250) (250) (250) (250) (250) (250) (250)

Property Investment Strategy Income (735) (1,185) (1,185) (1,185) (1,185) (1,285) (1,329) (1,329) (1,529) (1,529) (1,529)

Contributions to/(from) Reserves (14) (353) (353) (353) (179) (179) (635) 148 148 148 148

Total Financing (14,254) (14,700) (15,083) (15,477) (15,708) (16,223) (17,148) (16,802) (17,450) (17,885) (18,332)

Budget Gap (surplus)/deficit 433 266 238 228 375 245 (289) 452 205 281 351

Contribution to/(from) Stabilisation Reserve (433) (266) (238) (228) (375) (245) 289 (452) (205) (281) (351)

Unfunded Budget Gap (surplus)/deficit 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Assumptions

Income:

£130,000 in 18/19, £250,000 in later years
£735,000 from 18/19, £1.185m from 19/20, £1.285m from 23/24, £1.329m from 24/25, £1.529m from 26/27 onwards. Sennocke 
Hotel income included from 2019/20.

2.5% in all years except for off-street car parks which are 3.5% from 19/20 -23/24.

Council Tax Base:
Interest Receipts:

2.25% in all years
2% in all yearsPay award:

Other costs:

Superannuation Fund deficit and staff 
recruitment & retention

New Homes Bonus

Property Investment Strategy:

nil all years
Business Rates Retention pilot estimate in 18/19, safety-net in 19/20 plus 2% in later years
2.97% in 18/19, 2% in later years
Increase of 580 Band D equivalent properties per annum in 19/20 - 26/27, 480 from 27/28

Revenue Support Grant:
Business Rates Retention:
Council Tax:

P
age 27

A
genda Item

 6



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix H

2019/20 Budget Setting Timetable

Date Committee
Stage 1

4 September Finance ACFinancial Prospects and Budget Strategy 
2019/20 and Beyond 13 September Cabinet

  
Stage 2

25 September Economic & Comm. Dev. AC

2 October Planning AC

4 October Legal & Dem. Svs AC

9 October Direct & Trading AC

30 October Finance AC

27 November Housing & Health AC

Review of Service Dashboards and Service 
Change Impact Assessments (SCIAs)

29 November Policy & Performance AC

  
Stage 3

Budget Update (incl. Service Change 
Impact Assessments (SCIAs), feedback 

from Advisory Committees)
6 December Cabinet

  
Stage 4

Budget Update (incl. Government 
Settlement information) 10 January Cabinet

  
Stage 5

Budget Update and further review of 
Service Change Impact Assessments (if 

required)

 January - 
February Advisory Committees

  
Stage 6
Budget Setting Meeting (Recommendations 

to Council) 14 February Cabinet

  
Stage 7
Budget Setting Meeting (incl. Council Tax 

setting) 26 February Council

Note: The Scrutiny Committee may ‘call in’ items concerning the budget setting process.

Page 29

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



LOCAL PLAN – INFRASTRUCTURE DELIVERY PLAN UPDATE

Planning Advisory Committee – 2 October 2018

Report of Chief Planning Officer

Status For comment / consideration 

Key Decision No

Executive Summary: National policy and guidance states that Local Plans should 
look beyond the needs for housing and should consider future requirements for 
infrastructure for the local area. The Infrastructure Delivery Plan forms part of the 
evidence base to support the preparation of the Local Plan. It identifies any 
deficiencies in infrastructure across the District, who would deliver the 
infrastructure, any associated costs (if known) and the timescales for delivery. 

The Infrastructure Delivery Plan shall be treated as a “live” document, allowing it 
to be updated where new information is made available to the Council. The 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan will also aid the review of the Council’s Regulation 123 
List (where appropriate). The preparation of the evidence will also account for 
sites that have put forward “exceptional circumstances” cases for consideration. 

It is anticipated that the final version of the Infrastructure Delivery Plan will be 
published alongside the pre-submission Local Plan (Regulation 19) consultation, 
which is scheduled for the end of the year. 

This report supports the Key Aim of ensuring that Sevenoaks District remains a 
great place to live, work and visit and that development is supported by the 
relevant infrastructure

Portfolio Holder Cllr. Robert Piper

Contact Officer Simon Taylor, Ext. 7134

Recommendation to Planning Advisory Committee:  

a) To note the progress made on the Infrastructure Delivery Plan as an 
evidence base for the new Local Plan 2015-2035;

b) To note that the IDP is now a live document and any subsequent updates will 
be made by the Chief Planning Officer in consultation with the Portfolio 
Holder for Planning.

Page 31

Agenda Item 7



Reason for recommendation: 

To ensure that the Infrastructure Delivery Plan is considered as a sound evidence 
base for the new Local Plan 2015-2035.

Introduction and Background

1 The new Local Plan will replace the Core Strategy and the Allocations and 
Development Management Plan (ADMP). It will be used to determine 
planning applications, as well as setting out the strategic land allocations 
which will help meet the needs of the District over the plan period, up to 
2035. The Local Plan is based on local evidence and will be examined in 
public by an independent Inspector, who will need to determine whether the 
Plan is sound and has been positively prepared. 

2 Meeting our development needs, particularly housing needs, within a 
constrained District is clearly a defining factor of the Plan. We are 
committed to creating healthy and vibrant communities through the Local 
Plan, not just providing housing. We recognise that communities need to be 
supported by the necessary services and infrastructure, so people and future 
generations will choose to live and work in sustainable locations across 
Sevenoaks District.    

3 We recently carried out a Draft Local Plan consultation over the summer, 
which set out draft policies and potential development sites to be allocated 
in the Local Plan. Potential development sites were included in the 
consultation where they met the Council’s preferred development strategy: 

 Maximising densities in existing settlements; 

 Redeveloping sustainable brownfield sites in the Green Belt; and 

 Developing greenfield sites in the Green Belt only where there are 
convincing “exceptional circumstances”. 

4 Exceptional circumstances are not defined under national policy. This means 
that local authorities must set their own parameters on what they could 
consider under “exceptional circumstances”. We have been consistently 
clear with our approach to using greenfield Green Belt sites where 
“exceptional circumstances” are demonstrated, since our Local Plan Issues 
and Options consultation in 2017. For clarity, this has been locally defined 
as: 

 The development of greenfield Green Belt land only in “exceptional 
circumstances” where social and community infrastructure is being 
proposed in addition to housing which could help address evidenced 
infrastructure deficiencies in the area.  

Page 32

Agenda Item 7



5 As such, a number of sites have been consulted on during our Draft Local 
Plan consultation. A number of infrastructure improvements have been 
offered which include (but not limited to): 

 3 new primary schools, as well as improvements to 3 existing primary 
schools; 

 1 new secondary school; 

 New GP surgeries and other associated health facilities; 

 New community facilities; 

 New sports facilities and pitches; 

 Improved road infrastructure, including new accesses and junction 
improvements. 

6 All “exceptional circumstances” sites are currently being assessed, to 
determine whether a locally evidenced need has been demonstrated. 

7 Throughout the consultation period, we received a number of 
representations relating to how current infrastructure is at capacity in places 
across the District, including medical facilities, schools and roads. We must 
seriously consider the ramifications of future development to meet the 
needs of the District against the infrastructure improvements required to 
ensure that any future development is deliverable. 

8 The Infrastructure Delivery Plan forms part of the local evidence base for 
preparing the Local Plan, to ensure that any future development proposed in 
the Local Plan can be serviced by adequate infrastructure to meet the 
existing and future needs of the local community. It will allow the Council to 
seek infrastructure improvements as part of the Local Plan, as well as 
providing Officers information when considering planning applications.  

Infrastructure Planning

9 Infrastructure can be identified as the various services and facilities that are 
necessary to help build sustainable communities, which include the delivery 
of new infrastructure or upgrading of the existing facilities to accommodate 
additional capacity from either new or existing developments. 

10 The Planning Act 2008 defines infrastructure to include roads and other 
transport facilities, flood defences, schools and other educational facilities, 
medical and health facilities, sporting and recreational facilities and open 
space. This list is reflected in the Council’s Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) Charging Schedule and Regulation 123 List. 

11 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is clear that infrastructure 
should be integrated with future development and that should be considered 

Page 33

Agenda Item 7



as part of the plan-making process and should include the provision of 
infrastructure and community facilities at the local level. 

12 National guidance emphasises the importance of engaging with 
infrastructure providers throughout the plan-making process. The guidance is 
also clear that Local Plans should set out what infrastructure requirements 
are needed during the first five years of the plan period, how it will be 
funded, who will be responsible for delivering the infrastructure and how it 
relates to the anticipated phasing of development. 

Infrastructure Delivery Plan

13 In October 2015, Members were presented with a revised Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan. This document was used to monitor infrastructure delivery 
against the Core Strategy as well as considering any deficiencies in 
infrastructure across the District. Infrastructure providers submitted 
responses based on the District’s housing requirements in the Core Strategy 
(3,300 units) up to 2026. 

14 Since then, the District’s housing needs have increased significantly. Our 
Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) published in late 2015, 
suggested that 12,400 homes (620 units per annum) were required over the 
new plan period up to 2035. This has been since superseded by the revised 
NPPF and the Government’s standardised methodology for calculating 
housing need (July 2018) which has increased the District’s housing need to 
13,960 homes (698 units per annum) over the new Local Plan period. 

15 It is expected that the revised population projections from the Office of 
National Statistics will be published imminently. This may cause the 
Government’s standardised methodology figure (13,960) to either increase or 
decrease. This will be reflected in the Local Plan moving forward. 

16 Therefore, a revision to the Infrastructure Delivery Plan is essential to 
reflect the revised housing needs of the District and identify any potential 
deficiencies in local infrastructure, and any potential costings that might be 
associated to its delivery. 

17 To prepare the Infrastructure Delivery Plan, the Plan must define the types 
of infrastructure which are considered important to the development of the 
Local Plan. The current Regulation 123 List formed the starting point and 
includes the following infrastructure categories:

 Transport schemes

 Flood defences

 Water quality schemes

 Education

 Health and social care facilities

Page 34

Agenda Item 7



 Police and emergency services facilities

 Community facilities 

 Communications (including broadband)

 Blue Green infrastructure

18 The draft text of the Infrastructure Delivery Plan can be reviewed in 
Appendix A of this report. 

19 The Council contacted infrastructure and service providers, when the Draft 
Local Plan was released for public consultation on Monday 16th July, as 
technical stakeholders. A further letter was sent to infrastructure and 
service providers on 1st August, asking them for further information on any 
potential infrastructure improvements, which would be required to meet the 
needs of future development in the District. This could be site-specific or 
District-wide improvements. 

20 Any responses received as part of the Draft Local Plan consultation were 
included as considerations for the Infrastructure Delivery Plan.

21 A summary of organisations and key messages from responses received can 
be found below: 

 Transport

o Transport for London – responsible for cross-boundary bus services 
and manage the Transport for London Road Network (TLRN). While 
there are no specific infrastructure improvements, TfL support 
future devolution of rail services, while looking for financial 
contributions for bus and rail services from developments located 
close to the Greater London boundary.

o Highways England – responsible of managing and operating the 
Strategic Road Network (i.e. the Trunk Road and Motorway Network 
in England). It was noted in the response that improvements to M23 
Junctions 3-5, M20 Junctions 1-3 and the A21 (from M25 to A225 
junction) would need to be considered if development were to go 
ahead.

o Network Rail – the statutory organisation that maintains and 
upgrades the physical railway infrastructure. Network Rail recognise 
the scale of development proposed in the Draft Local Plan and the 
impact that it might have on current railway infrastructure (i.e. 
requirements for new infrastructure, station improvements and 
increasing capacity through better rolling stock). Network Rail also 
noted that the Department for Transport will be announcing the 
winner of the new South Eastern rail franchise in late 2018. Further 
rail capacity improvements are also likely to come through the new 
franchisee. 

Page 35

Agenda Item 7



 Flooding and water quality

o Environment Agency – statutory body that has responsibility over 
managing the environment and flooding from main rivers, reservoirs 
and estuaries. A number of projects have been identified over the 
new Plan period including increasing floodplain storage, remedial 
works to flood relief channels and scoping for the construction of 
floodwalls in key locations to protect residents and businesses.

 Education 

o KCC Education – the local education authority for Sevenoaks District. 
KCC Education recognises the significant growth that is planned 
across the District, especially with regards to the larger potential 
development sites. A number of new schools (both primary and 
secondary education) would be required, as well as a number of 
expansions to existing schools, should the proposed developments be 
allocated in the Draft Local Plan.  

o KCC Community Learning & Skills Services - while there are no 
specific projects identified to meet the potential demand from 
proposed development in the Draft Local Plan, it would expect 
funding to come from S106 and CIL receipts to meet the demands.

 Health and social care

o West Kent Clinical Commissioning Group – the body which has 
delegated co-commissioning responsibilities with general practices 
and takes a strategic role in planning for medical services across the 
south of the District. WKCCG recognise the pressures that increased 
development will bring to their 7 GP practices in the District. Further 
work is being carried out to assess the impacts of the proposed 
development sites in the Draft Local Plan.  

o Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group - 
the body which has delegated co-commissioning responsibilities for 
general practices and takes a strategic role in planning for medical 
services across the north of the District. DGS CCG is looking to 
expand medical/health services to address the pressure that 
increased development will create for their 7 GP practices in the 
North District. Particularly they are wanting to create of a “health 
and wellbeing centre” in Swanley and further expand existing GP 
facilities where required. Further details to be provided once 
available.

o Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group – while the Bromley CCG 
area does not fall within the boundaries of Sevenoaks District, the 
organisation recognises that a number of potential development sites 
proposed in the Draft Local Plan would impact a number of Bromley 
GP practices. Further information might become available as the 
Local Plan advances. 

Page 36

Agenda Item 7



o KCC Social Care Services – while there are no specific projects 
identified to meet the potential demand from proposed development 
in the Draft Local Plan, it would expect funding to come from S106 
and CIL receipts to meet the demands. 

 Police and emergency services 

o No comments have been received to date

 Community infrastructure

o KCC Libraries - while there are no specific projects identified to 
meet the potential demand from proposed development in the Draft 
Local Plan, it would expect funding to come from S106 and CIL 
receipts to meet the demands.

o KCC Youth Services - while there are no specific projects identified 
to meet the potential demand from proposed development in the 
Draft Local Plan, it would expect funding to come from S106 and CIL 
receipts to meet the demands.

 Communications (including broadband)

o No comments have been received to date

 Blue green infrastructure

o No comments have been received to date

 Other (including utilities) 

o National Grid – operates the high voltage electricity transmission 
system in England and Wales, as well as the gas transmission system. 
No infrastructure improvements were indicated. 

o UK Power Networks – a distribution network operator for electricity 
covering South East England, the East of England and London. The 
organisation states that there are no improvements 

o Historic England – statutory body for the historic environment in 
England. It was noted that no infrastructure requirements are 
necessary but support the Infrastructure Delivery Plan. Where 
infrastructure improvements are necessary in historic environments, 
appropriate assessments are required before works are carried out. 

o Southern Water – statutory wastewater undertaker for the south of 
the District. Indicated that some additional investment into the 
wastewater network in Edenbridge would be required, should the 
“exceptional circumstances” sites proposed in Edenbridge area go 
forward in the Local Plan. 

Page 37

Agenda Item 7



o South East Water – submitted comments through the Draft Local 
Plan consultation. Published their Draft Water Resources 
Management Plan in May 2018 which looks at water resources up to 
2080. It is noted that little infrastructure will be required as 
projected housing growth in the District falls broadly within their 
projected growth forecasts. 

22 At the time of writing this report, information has not been received by the 
following organisations: 

 Bus operators and other public transport bodies 

 Thames Water and other utility providers

23 Where information has been provided, the Infrastructure Delivery Plan will 
provide full project details and project costings. 

Next Steps

24 The Infrastructure Delivery Plan requires engagement of infrastructure and 
services providers to fully understand potential deficiencies in infrastructure 
across the District and how the delivery of necessary infrastructure can be 
realised.  

25 Furthermore, following the close of the Draft Local Plan consultation, 
further work is required to assess sites where “exceptional circumstances” 
are being proposed. Further assessment and engagement with infrastructure 
and service providers will be required if no information has been provided 
during the Draft Local Plan consultation stage. It is important that we 
receive any outstanding information before any recommendations are made 
on which sites will advance to the next stage of the Local Plan. 

26 It should be noted that the Infrastructure Delivery Plan will be treated as a 
“live” document, being periodically updated where new information is made 
available. This also includes the post-adoption of the Local Plan (anticipated 
Autumn 2019). Therefore, it is recommended that any future updates to the 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan be delegated to the Chief Planning Officer, in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Planning. 

27 It is anticipated that the Infrastructure Delivery Plan will be finalised in line 
with the publication of the pre-submission Local Plan (Regulation 19) 
consultation at the end of the year. 

Other Options Considered and/or Rejected 

Members may consider the option not to provide an updated evidence base for 
infrastructure. However, this option would leave the Local Plan being found 
unsound at public examination by the Planning Inspector and open to challenge. 

Page 38

Agenda Item 7



Key Implications

Financial

There are no financial implications regarding this report. 

Legal Implications and Risk Assessment Statement

There are no legal implications regarding this report. 

Equality Assessment

The decisions recommended through this paper have a remote or low relevance to 
the substance of the Equality Act. There is no perceived impact on end users.

Conclusions

The Sevenoaks District Local Plan 2015-2035 will replace the adopted Core Strategy 
(February 2011) and Allocations and Development Management Plan (February 
2015). A sound evidence base, based on local needs, supports the preparing of the 
Local Plan. The Infrastructure Delivery Plan is an evidence base that shows 
infrastructure deficiencies across the District, and the measures that can be taken 
to provide new or improved infrastructure. Further work will need to be carried out 
on the Infrastructure Delivery Plan in relation to sites that are demonstrating 
“exceptional circumstances” which remain to be tested.  

Appendices Appendix A – Draft Infrastructure Delivery Plan 
wording 

Background Papers Infrastructure Delivery Plan 2015 - PAC October 
2015 (Minute 20)

SDC Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
Charging Schedule (February 2014)

SDC Regulation 123 List (November 2014)

Richard Morris

Chief Planning Officer

Page 39

Agenda Item 7

https://cds.sevenoaks.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=326&MId=1975&Ver=4&J=1
https://cds.sevenoaks.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=326&MId=1975&Ver=4&J=1
https://cds.sevenoaks.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=326&MId=1975&Ver=4&J=1
https://www.sevenoaks.gov.uk/info/20075/community_infrastrucure_levy/285/what_is_cil_and_when_does_it_apply
https://www.sevenoaks.gov.uk/info/20075/community_infrastrucure_levy/285/what_is_cil_and_when_does_it_apply
https://www.sevenoaks.gov.uk/info/20075/community_infrastrucure_levy/285/what_is_cil_and_when_does_it_apply


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A

SEVENOAKS DISTRICT

INFRASTRUCTURE 
DELIVERY PLAN

Page 41

Agenda Item 7



Sevenoaks District Infrastructure Delivery Plan (October 2018)

2

CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY X

1 INTRODUCTION X

2 DEFINITION OF INFRASTRUCTURE X

3 INFRASTRUCTURE PLANNING CONTEXT X

4 INFRASTRUCTURE FUNDING AND MECHANISMS X

5 SUMMARY OF KEY INFRASTRUCTURE REQUIREMENTS X

6 INFRASTRUCTURE COSTS X

APPENDIX A – SCHEDULE OF INFRASTRAUCTURE REQUIREMENTS X

ABBREVIATIONS & ACRONYMS

AMR Authority Monitoring Report

CIL Community Infrastructure Levy

DBC Dartford Borough Council

GBC Gravesham Borough Council

GLA Greater London Authority

HRA Habitats Regulations Assessment

IDP Infrastructure Delivery Plan

KCC Kent County Council

LBBe London Borough of Bexley

LBBr London Borough of Bromley

MUGA Multi Use Games Area

NPPF National Planning Policy Framework

NR Network Rail

PROW Public Right of Way

SCC Surrey County Council

SDC Sevenoaks District Council

SuDS Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems

TDC Tandridge District Council

TMBC Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council

TWBC Tunbridge Wells Borough Council

WDC Wealden District Council

Page 42

Agenda Item 7



Sevenoaks District Infrastructure Delivery Plan (October 2018)

3

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Sevenoaks District Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) is an evidence base 

document that supports the development of the Local Plan 2015-2035.

  

What this document DOES do… What this document DOES NOT do…

 Sets out the known infrastructure 

needs of the District, and 

identifies where improvements 

are required.

 It does not limit the infrastructure 

that may be sought in order to 

support development coming 

forward as part of the Local Plan. 

 It is an evidence base document 

for the Local Plan. 

 It does not influence, establish or 

impact upon the Local Plan, or its 

strategies. 

 It is a live document that will be 

updated as and when more 

information is obtained 

throughout the Local Plan

Page 43

Agenda Item 7



Sevenoaks District Infrastructure Delivery Plan (October 2018)

4

1 INTRODUCTION

The provision of the right infrastructure, serving the right location at the right point in 

time is essential when considering the sustainable development of communities. The 

delivery of the correct types of infrastructure should support the Local Plan in providing 

new homes, employment opportunities and economic growth, viable town centres as 

well as improving the quality of the environment. 

We have taken the view that in order to achieve sustainable communities, the balance 

of meeting infrastructure requirements must be two-fold; 

 Ensuring that there is sufficient capacity to meet the needs of existing residents 

at this moment in time; and 

 Ensuring that additional capacity can be provided to accommodate any future 

growth across the District. 

Planning for infrastructure helps to ensure that there is a common understanding 

between service providers, developers, local communities, businesses, neighbouring 

authorities and the District Council as to the local infrastructure needs. This should also 

provide a clear strategy to how infrastructure will be delivered in tandem with any 

future development across the District as a whole. Where possible, the Sevenoaks 

Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) will provide estimated costs associated with each 

piece of required infrastructure, as well as setting out the proposed timescales to deliver 

the project. 

For the purposes of the Local Plan, the IDP will be treated as a “live” document, which 

can be updated when further information has been received. This may include (but not 

limited to): 

 Updating projects where feasibility assessments and studies becomes available 

to deliver the infrastructure; 

 Where bids have been successful for securing funding at a national, regional or 

local level; and 

 Where the infrastructure project has been completed/delivered. 

Purpose of the Infrastructure Delivery Plan

The IDP supports the objectives within our Local Plan 2015-2035 and provides 

commentary on what infrastructure would be required to support future growth and 

development across Sevenoaks District. The Local Plan sets out the local policies and 

locations for development for us to create sustainable and cohesive communities, which 

are served by adequate services, facilities and infrastructure to support the day-to-day 

needs of the local population. 

To assist the delivery of sustainable communities, the IDP identifies the infrastructure 

requirements across the District and any potential deficits, the priority of the 

Page 44

Agenda Item 7



Sevenoaks District Infrastructure Delivery Plan (October 2018)

5

infrastructure to be delivered, details any costs associated with the infrastructure 

delivery (if known) and how the infrastructure will be funded. The IDP also serves an 

important role in the review of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging 

Schedule and the preparation of our Regulation 123 List. Both of these documents will 

support how infrastructure will be funded in the future across Sevenoaks District.  

For meeting our needs across Sevenoaks District, the preferred development strategy 

for the Local Plan is:

 Focusing growth in existing settlements, including at higher densities; 

 Redevelopment of previously developed / locally defined “brownfield” land in 

sustainable locations; and 

 Development of greenfield Green Belt land only in “exceptional circumstances” 

where social and community infrastructure is being proposed in addition to 

housing, which could help address evidenced infrastructure deficiencies in the 

area. 

Therefore, there is potential for a number of sites that demonstrate “exceptional 

circumstances” to be included in the Local Plan. The IDP will consider how the 

infrastructure proposed on these sites will be delivered for the development to come 

forward. 

While we must look at the need for infrastructure within Sevenoaks District, it is 

essential to note that the need for infrastructure is not confined to the boundaries of 

the District. Therefore, consideration must also be given to any cross-boundary 

infrastructure requirements as part of the IDP. 

It should be recognised that infrastructure needs are discussed in broad terms and other 

infrastructure might be required in order to enable a development to go ahead. This 

might be as a result to changes in national legislation or Government priorities as well 

as changes in the plans/strategies provided by infrastructure providers. 

Page 45

Agenda Item 7



Sevenoaks District Infrastructure Delivery Plan (October 2018)

6

2 DEFINITION OF INFRASTRUCTURE

Infrastructure can be identified as the various services and facilities that are necessary 

to help build sustainable communities, which include the delivery of new infrastructure 

or upgrading of the existing facilities to accommodate additional capacity from either 

new or existing developments. 

The term “infrastructure” is broad and can compass many aspects of social, economic 

and environment issues. As there is no set definition of infrastructure within the NPPF, 

we have taken forward the application of infrastructure as set out in the Planning Act 

2008 under Section 216(2). This includes: 

 Transport schemes; 

 Flood defences; 

 Water quality; 

 Education; 

 Health and social care facilities; 

 Police and emergency services facilities; 

 Community facilities; 

 Communications (including broadband); and 

 Blue Green infrastructure.  

This list is not restrictive and can include utilities (i.e. electricity, gas, and water and 

wastewater networks). For the purposes of the IDP, the following types of 

infrastructure could be included within each category described: 

Infrastructure Category Type of Infrastructure / Project

Transport

 Road networks

 Rail networks 

 Bus services 

 Cycling and walking routes

 Public Rights of Way (PROWs)

 Car parking facilities (including electric vehicle  

charging points) 

Flood defences

Water quality

 Flood defences and water quality schemes – Blue 

Green Infrastructure can also provide solutions to 

mitigate any effects. 

Education

 Pre-school and nursery schools

 Primary education 

 Secondary education

 Post 18 / higher education

 Adult education 

 Special educational needs

Page 46

Agenda Item 7



Sevenoaks District Infrastructure Delivery Plan (October 2018)

7

Health and social care 
facilities 

 GP surgeries

 Dental services 

 Hospitals and community trusts

 Mental health services

 Adult social care services

 Children’s social services

Police and emergency 
services facilities

 Schemes involving physical infrastructure for the 

police, fire and rescue services, and ambulance 

services.  

Community facilities

 Places of worship

 Sport venues 

 Playing pitches 

 Meeting places 

 Libraries 

 Cultural buildings 

Communications 
(including broadband)

 Telecommunications

 High speed broadband

Blue Green 
Infrastructure

 Natural / semi-natural open space

Page 47

Agenda Item 7



Sevenoaks District Infrastructure Delivery Plan (October 2018)

8

3 INFRASTRUCTURE PLANNING CONTEXT

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) 

stresses the importance of taking a positive, proactive approach to local plan-making 

and the strategic priorities of an area. The expectation of the NPPF is that local planning 

authorities look beyond the requirements to meeting housing needs, and focus on 

creating sustainable communities during the course of the plan period and beyond. This 

should be extended to infrastructure, community facilities and transport.

The NPPF is clear that infrastructure should be integrated with future development and 

that should be considered as part of the plan-making process and should include the 

provision of infrastructure and community facilities at the local level.

Planning practice guidance for Local Plans emphasises the importance of engaging with 

infrastructure providers early in the plan-making process, as it is essential to understand 

their investment plans, development strategies and critical dependencies. As the PPG 

states: 

“The Local Plan should make clear, for at least the first 5 years, what infrastructure is 
required, who is going to fund and provide it, and how it relates to the anticipated rate 
and phasing of development. […] For the later stages of the plan period less detail may 
be provided as the position regarding the provision of infrastructure is likely to be less 
certain “1

Guidance also states that the deliverability of infrastructure is an important 

consideration, to ensure that the Local Plan provides alternative strategies to provide 

critical infrastructure. The provision of infrastructure must also not affect the viability 

of development coming forward. In addition, consideration of the Community 

Infrastructure Levy must also be considered in terms of viability as well. 

1 National Planning Practice Guidance (August 2018) – Local Plans (Paragraph 018 Reference ID: 12-018-
20140306)

Page 48

Agenda Item 7



Sevenoaks District Infrastructure Delivery Plan (October 2018)

9

4 INFRASTRUCTURE FUNDING AND MECHANISMS

Where new infrastructure or infrastructure improvements are required as a result of 

new development, the planning system allows, through planning obligations, for 

developers to provide or appropriately contribute towards, the provision of this new or 

improved infrastructure. 

Local planning authorities have options available when considering the funding of 

infrastructure: 

a) To secure planning obligations with the development through a legal Section 106 

agreement; 

b) Using contributions collected through the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

to provide funding to deliver (where funding gaps are identified); 

c) Look to secure funding to deliver infrastructure through partnership working via 

third party sources (e.g. central Government programmes, Local Enterprise 

Partnerships, agencies and other public bodies)

Section 106 Agreements

The application of planning obligations assist in mitigating the impacts of unacceptable 

development to make it more acceptable in planning terms. This can include the 

provision of affordable housing or providing specific infrastructure improvements for 

that development. This could include:

 The provision of physical infrastructure on site; 

 The availability of land for the infrastructure to be developed; or 

 The developer providing financial contributions to aid the delivery of 

infrastructure or contribute to the necessary infrastructure improvements. 

Section 106 agreements are legal documents detailing the planning obligations agreed 

between the local planning authority and the developer, and any other third party that 

is required for the development to occur. 

Community Infrastructure Levy

The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) allows local authorities to set rates on specific 

types of development to raise capital for the purposes of delivering infrastructure for 

the area. The levy is set out in the local authority’s Charging Schedule. The Charging 

Schedule sets out the rates for qualifying developments and how contributions are 

calculated. The Charging Schedule gives developers a clear understanding of what 

contributions are expected to fund infrastructure across the District. 

CIL can only be used for infrastructure, and is expected to be raised on mainly residential 

developments in the District. The Government has placed automatic exemptions on 

particular types of development where the levy cannot be sought. 

Page 49

Agenda Item 7



Sevenoaks District Infrastructure Delivery Plan (October 2018)

10

Under the Regulations, SDC is required to pass a percentage of CIL contributions to the 

relevant town or parish council where qualifying development has occurred:

 15% of CIL contributions should be passed to the relevant town or parish council 

where there is no neighbourhood plan in place; or 

 25% of CIL contributions should be passed to the relevant town or parish council 

where a neighbourhood plan is in place. 

In November 2014, SDC agreed that all parish and town councils within the District will 

receive 25% of CIL contributions collected, regardless of charging area and whether a 

neighbourhood plan is in place. This would be calculated against the top CIL charging 

rate (£125 per sq. m.), resulting in discretionary “top-up” payments made by SDC.  

Where town and parish councils have received payments from SDC, they can spend 

their CIL funds on local infrastructure needs, which mitigate the impacts of 

development in the parish area. All remaining CIL contributions are allocated to local 

and strategic infrastructure projects across Sevenoaks District by SDC’s CIL Spending 

Board via an application process. 

However, we still maintain the right as a Charging Authority to review and revise the 

Charging Schedule to reflect the need for infrastructure, without prejudicing the 

viability of development coming forward.  

Other Sources (Third Party Organisations and Agencies)

While developers and local authorities work to deliver a development scheme, local 

authorities also work with a number of public bodies, organisations and agencies to 

help secure funding for the delivery of infrastructure. Organisations could include: 

 Central Government departments (e.g. Department for Health, Department for 

Education, Department for Transport, Ministry for Housing, Communities and 

Local Government) 

 NHS Trusts and Clinical Commissioning Groups

 Skills and Funding Education Agency

 Environment Agency

 Kent County Council

 Homes England

The NPPF places great weight on the Duty to Cooperate between the local authority 

and other organisations that are integral to the plan-making process. 

Page 50

Agenda Item 7



Sevenoaks District Infrastructure Delivery Plan (October 2018)

11

5 Summary of Infrastructure Requirements 

Currently in progress and will be made available for the Pre-submission Local Plan 

(Regulation 19) consultation.

Page 51

Agenda Item 7



Sevenoaks District Infrastructure Delivery Plan (October 2018)

12

6 Infrastructure Costs 

Currently in progress and will be made available for the Pre-submission Local Plan 

(Regulation 19) consultation.

Page 52

Agenda Item 7



Sevenoaks District Infrastructure Delivery Plan (October 2018)

13

Appendix A – Schedule of Infrastructure Requirements

Currently in progress and will be made available for the Pre-submission Local Plan 

(Regulation 19) consultation.

Page 53

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



PUBLIC CONSULTATION ON PROPOSED UPDATED CONSERVATION AREA 
APPRAISALS 

Planning Advisory Committee – 2 October 2018

Report of Chief Planning Officer

Status For Consideration 

Key Decision No 

Executive Summary:  This report concerns the proposed public consultation on the 
updated conservation area appraisals. It sets out the legislative background to and 
purpose of conservation area appraisals and explains the need for public 
consultation. The report recommends that committee members take note and 
support the public consultation.

This report supports the Key Aim of ensuring that Sevenoaks District remains a 
great place to live, work and visit.

Portfolio Holder Cllr. Robert Piper

Contact Officers Regina Jaszinski,  Ext. 7103
Rebecca Lamb, Ext. 7334

Recommendation to Planning Advisory Committee:   To note the draft 
conservation area appraisals and management recommendations and proposed 
associated public consultation.

Reason for recommendation: To enable progression of the review of the district’s 
conservation areas and their associated appraisals. 

Introduction and Background

1 The Conservation Team is undertaking a review of the district’s conservation 
areas. Six conservation areas have been reviewed and updated conservation 
area appraisals been drafted which are ready to be put out to public 
consultation. 

2 People in the district place a high value on the quality of its landscape, 
heritage and open spaces according to the Sevenoaks District Community 
Plan.

3 There are 42 conservation areas within the district. All of them have 
conservation area appraisals, but most of these are 15 to 17 years old. 
Although legislation requires the authority to review its areas ‘from time to 

Page 55

Agenda Item 8



time’, it gives no indication how often this might mean. Good practice is 
generally accepted to be every 5 years.

4 The Council appointed consultants Alan Baxter Associates to undertake the 
review of six conservation areas. It is anticipated that the conservation area 
review will be continued over the following years and update all out-of-date 
conservation area appraisals.

Policy Context

5 The Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) 1990 Act imposes a 
duty on local authorities to review from time to time their areas and to 
determine whether any further parts should be designated as conservation 
areas. Section 71 of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 also places a duty on local planning authorities to draw up and 
publish proposals for the preservation and enhancement of the conservation 
areas in their districts. 

6 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) advises that ‘when 
considering the designation of conservation areas, local planning authorities 
should ensure that an area justifies such status because of its special 
architecture or historic interest, and that the concept of conservation is not 
devalued through the designation of areas that lack special interest’ (para. 
186).

7 In the SDC Core Strategy 2011, para 5.1.1 addresses the protection of the 
district’s key historic assets, stating:

‘At a local level Conservation Area Appraisals and Management Plans will be 
used to provide guidance on distinguishing features of the historic 
environment that should be protected, together with identifying 
opportunities for enhancement.’

8 Policy SP1 Design of New Development and Conservation stipulates: 

‘All new development should be designed to a high quality and should 
respond to the distinctive local character of the area in which it is situated. 
Account should be taken of guidance adopted by the Council in form of … 
Conservation Area Appraisals and Management Plans.’

9 It is highlighted in the SDC Core Strategy that conservation area appraisals 
are in place for all conservation areas and that some of them have been 
updated to include management plans. It states that these will be kept 
under regular review and that remaining appraisals will be updated with 
appraisals and management plans, and adopted as Supplementary Planning 
Documents. Accordingly, the proportion of conservation areas with up-to-
date appraisals is one of the Core Strategy’s performance indicators.

Page 56

Agenda Item 8



Updated Conservation Area Appraisals

10 All appraisals are in need of updating and improvement to make them more 
easily accessible to planning officers and to all who live and work in these 
areas. The majority of the existing appraisals do not include any proposals 
for the preservation and enhancement of the conservation areas The revised 
appraisals address this and incorporate management recommendations to 
help support not only the Council’s functions, but also those of other bodies 
and stakeholders involved with the area.

11 There is no prescribed format for appraisals and management plans, only 
best practice guidance by Historic England on the components they should 
contain. Because the proposals for future management are incorporated 
within the appraisals and are tailored to the relevant conservation area, 
rather than set out in a generic plan, they have been referred to in the 
documents as management ‘recommendations’. 

12 The following six conservation areas have been re-surveyed and updated 
character appraisals been drafted: 

- Brasted High Street,
- Leigh;
- Seal;
- Shoreham High Street and Church Street;
- Shoreham Mill Lane;
- Swanley Village.

13 The above conservation areas were chosen based on the date of their last 
review/appraisal and the number of applications received in recent years 
i.e. to target resources to areas with most out-of-date appraisals but 
greatest development pressure and need for guidance.

14 It is important that the special interest of a conservation area is clearly and 
accurately articulated. The appraisals will 

 inform the public on the heritage value of these areas;

 provide a sound framework against which proposals for development 
are assessed; 

 will be adopted as supplementary planning documents (SPDs) and be 
material considerations in assessing applications for development in 
the conservation areas; 

 serve as evidence base for the Local Plan.

15 The management recommendations include suggestions for minor extensions 
to all but the Seal Conservation Area and to merge the two Shoreham 
Conservation Areas. Article 4 Directions to protect boundary treatments that 
contribute to the character of the area are proposed for the Shoreham and 
Swanley Village conservation areas.

Page 57

Agenda Item 8



16 The appraisals and management recommendations are based on best 
practice contained in the Historic England Advice Note 1 ‘Conservation Area 
Designation, Appraisal and Management’ (2016).

17 Each conservation area appraisal consists of three parts:

 An introduction setting out the legislative background and 
methodology;

 An appraisal of the character of each conservation area including an 
open space assessment and management recommendations

 Conservation area design guidance for new development 

Public Consultation

18 There is no statutory duty to consult when preparing conservation area 
appraisals and management recommendations, but it is good practice to do 
so and it is a prerequisite for adoption of the appraisals as SPDs. Public 
consultation will be carried out by Alan Baxter Ltd to the principles set out 
in the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement, with assistance from 
Officers at public meetings. 

19 Informal consultation with stakeholders took place in May and June this 
year. Parish and District Councillors and local amenity societies were invited 
to join an informal walk-about and use the opportunity to express their 
views about the heritage value of the conservation areas and any issues that 
might affect them. The meetings were well attended and the information 
gathered has fed into the draft appraisals. 

20 It is proposed that the formal public and stakeholder consultation will run 
for 6 weeks from Friday 19th October until Friday 30th November. We will 
send out leaflets to all residents and businesses in the conservation areas 
and hold one local drop-in event for the general public in each area. We will 
use our website to publicise the consultation and have an online 
questionnaire asking stakeholders for their feedback and comments. The 
appraisals will be made available on the Council’s website, the Council’s 
reception desk, Sevenoaks Library and locally accessible places such as local 
libraries, Parish Offices, shops or pub. 

Other Options Considered and/or Rejected 

The Core Strategy is specific about the documents necessary to support Policy SP1. 
Not pursuing the update of the existing appraisals and associated public 
consultation would not accord with SDC policy.

The Council would also fail in its statutory duties in relation to conservation areas, 
as set out in the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation areas) Act 1990. 

These conservation areas have been considered as part of an ongoing programme of 
review of our conservation area appraisals.

Page 58

Agenda Item 8



Key Implications

Financial 

The production of the appraisals and management recommendations has been 
accommodated within existing budgets.

The processing of additional planning applications that would result from the 
proposed extensions to the conservation areas and the application of the 
recommended specific Article 4 Directions to two areas will be accommodated 
within the departmental budgets.

Legal Implications and Risk Assessment Statement 

The Council has a statutory duty under the provisions of section 69 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to designate and review 
conservation areas and is required to produce appraisals and management plans for 
each area.

The documents are based on best practice and would involve local engagement. It 
is therefore considered that once finalised, they would provide a sound basis for 
the future conservation and management of the areas.

Legal input will be required for advising on the procedure for making extensions to 
conservation area and the use of Article 4 Directions.

Equality Assessment

Equal opportunities will be achieved by making the documents available equally to 
all and providing other formats when necessary. 

Otherwise, the decisions recommended through this paper have a remote or low 
relevance to the substance of the Equality Act. There is no perceived impact on 
end users.

Conclusion

In taking note of and supporting the public consultation on the draft appraisals, the 
committee will see the progress of the conservation area review and completion of 
the first tranche of updates.

The appraisals and management recommendations will help the local community, 
developers and local authority to engage in the conservation and enhancement of 
the conservation areas and secure the long term preservation of their character 
and value as important heritage assets.

Appendices Appendix A – Consultation Leaflet (Example for 
the updated Leigh Conservation Area Appraisal)

Appendix B – Sevenoaks District Conservation 

Page 59

Agenda Item 8



Areas: An introduction to appraisals revised in 
2018

Appendix C – Draft Brasted Conservation Area 
Appraisal

Appendix D – Draft Leigh Conservation Area 
Appraisal 

Appendix E -  Draft Seal Conservation Area 
Appraisal

Appendix F – Draft Shoreham Conservation Are 
Appraisal

Appendix G – Draft Swanley Village Conservation 
Area

Appendix H – Conservation Area Design Guidance

Background Papers National Planning Policy Framework

Sevenoaks District Council Core Strategy, 2011

Historic England Advice Note 1 ‘Conservation 
Area Designation, Appraisal and Management’ 
(2016)

Historic England: Conservation Principles (2008)

Richard Morris 
Chief Planning Officer

Page 60

Agenda Item 8

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://www.sevenoaks.gov.uk/downloads/file/356/core_strategy_adopted_version_february_2011
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/conservation-area-designation-appraisal-management-advice-note-1/
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/conservation-area-designation-appraisal-management-advice-note-1/
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/conservation-area-designation-appraisal-management-advice-note-1/


Conservation Area Appraisals
Sevenoaks District Council is consulting local 
people on a new draft Conservation Area 
Appraisal for Leigh. 

The appraisal will guide decisions on 
development proposals affecting the 
conservation area and will help to protect 
what is special about this historic village.

The draft appraisal:
 · Describes the special character of the 
conservation area

 · Identifies important views

 · Defines the contribution of open space 
within and around the conservation area

 · Describes the condition and issues affecting 
the conservation area

 · Makes recommendations for management 
of the conservation area

Accompanying the draft appraisal are two 
documents:

 · Sevenoaks District Conservation Areas: An 
introduction to appraisals revised in 2018

 · Conservation Area Design Guidance

The draft appraisal was prepared for 
Sevenoaks District Council by Alan Baxter Ltd.

To download and read the draft appraisal, 
go online to www.sevenoaks.gov.uk/etc

Paper copies of the document are also 
available for inspection at the following 
addresses during their normal opening hours:

 · (local location tbc)

 · Sevenoaks District Council, Council 
Offices Reception, Argyle Road, 
Sevenoaks, TN13 1HG;

 · Sevenoaks Library, Buckhurst Lane, 
Sevenoaks, TN13 1LQ

There will be an opportunity to learn more 
about the new draft appraisal and to ask 
questions at the public consultation event:

 · (Date tbc)

 · Leigh Village Hall, High Street, Leigh, 
Kent TN11 8RL

 · 10am – 1pm

Have your say

The new appraisal is at draft stage and 
your comments are welcomed to help us 
to protect and shape the future of your 
village.

 · Does the appraisal capture what is 
special about the conservation area?

 · Does the appraisal accurately assess the 
condition of the conservation area and 
the issues affecting it?

 · Do you agree with the management 
recommendations in the appraisal?

 · Is the appraisal easy to use and 
understand? 

You can make written comments:

 · Via our online consultation webpage 
(add URL address)

 · By email to  
conservation@sevenoaks.gov.uk

 · By post to Conservation, Planning 
Policy, Sevenoaks District Council, 
Argyle Road, Sevenoaks TN13 1HG.

The consultation is open until 5pm on 
Friday 30th November 2018.

Where can I find out more?

For further information contact our 
Conservation Team by phone on  
01732 227000  
or email  
conservation@sevenoaks.gov.uk

P
age 61

A
genda Item

 8



Have your say...

Consultation closes 30 November 2018

Leigh Conservation Area
Leigh’s special historic and architectural 
interest is recognised by its designation as 
aconservation area. It was first designated 
in 1972 and extended in 1986 and 2006. It 
covers the historic heart of the village and 
part of the grounds of Hall Place. The draft 
appraisal recommends extension of the area 
to include Garden Cottages and some houses 
on Powder Mill Lane.

Leigh Conservation Area
updated appraisal

Alan BaxterThis drawing incorporates information from the Ordnance Survey 
which is © Crown Copyright. ABA Licence:  AL1000 17547

Listed Building
Positive Contributor
Detractor
Registered Park and Garden

Proposed additions 

Existing boundary

P
age 62

A
genda Item

 8



DRAFT

Sevenoaks CA Appraisals  General Introduction / J u l y  2 0 1 8 1 Alan Baxter

Sevenoaks District Conservation Areas:
An introduction to Appraisals revised in 2018

1.0 What is this document?
This document is an overarching introduction to six Conservation Area Appraisals which 
have been revised in draft in 2018 as part of Sevenoaks Council conservation area 
review programme. 

The affected conservation areas are:
o Brasted

o Leigh

o Seal

o Shoreham High Street

o Shoreham Mill Lane

o Swanley

The draft revised appraisals can be downloaded from the Sevenoaks District Council 
website at http://www.XXXX.

This document supplies an explanation of the purpose, context and methodology of the 
appraisals. It has been written and prepared by Alan Baxter Ltd, in close partnership with 
members of Sevenoaks District Council’s Planning Department.
This document will be updated as the Council progresses with its conservation areas 
review programme.
The location of all conservation areas in Sevenoaks District is shown on the following 
map [INSERT]

2.0 Purpose of conservation area appraisals
Conservation area appraisals help Sevenoaks District Council and local communities to 
preserve the special character of conservation areas.  

They do this by providing homeowners, developers, Council officers and other interested 
parties with  framework against which future development proposals in the conservation 
area can be assessed and determined.

A conservation area appraisal outlines the history of an area and explains what makes it 

Page 63

Agenda Item 8

http://www.xxxx/


DRAFT

Sevenoaks CA Appraisals  General Introduction / J u l y  2 0 1 8 2 Alan Baxter

special. It identifies the elements that make up the character and special interest of the 
area, and those that detract from it, and provides recommendations for the area’s future 
management. This may include recommendation for the changes to its boundaries, where 
appropriate. 
In doing so, appraisals support the District Council’s legal duty (under section 71 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990) to prepare proposals for the 
preservation and enhancement of conservation areas and to consult the public about 
those proposals. 

3.0 Designation and management of 
conservation areas

3.1 What are conservation areas?
Conservation areas are areas of "special architectural or historic interest, the character 
or appearance of which it is desirable to preserve or enhance" – in other words, they 
exist to protect the features and the characteristics that make a historic place unique and 
distinctive.

 They were introduced by the Civic Amenities Act 1967. They need to have a 
definite architectural quality or historic interest to merit designation. 
 They are normally designated by the local planning authority, in this case 
Sevenoaks District Council.

3.2 Effects of conservation area designation
 The Council has a duty, in exercising its planning powers, to pay special attention 
to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of the area.  
 Designation introduces some extra planning controls and considerations, which 
exist to protect the historical and architectural elements which make the areas special 
places.
 To find out how conservation areas are managed and how living in or owning a 
business in a conservation area might affect you, see the Council’s guidance on 
‘Owning a building in a conservation area’ (LINK)

3.3 Policy background
 Government Planning Policies in relation to conservation areas and other types of 
designated heritage assets are set out in are set out in Chapter 16 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). (INSERT LINK)  
 Local policies for alterations and development in conservation areas are contained 
in the Sevenoaks Council’s Core Strategy (adopted 2011), Policy SP1 Design of New 
Development and Conservation, and in the Allocations and Development Management 
Plan (adopted 2015), Policy EN3 (Demolition in Conservation Areas) and EN4 
(Heritage Assets). (INSERT LINKS)  

Page 64

Agenda Item 8



DRAFT

Sevenoaks CA Appraisals  General Introduction / J u l y  2 0 1 8 3 Alan Baxter

4.0 Appraising conservation areas and 
defining significance

4.1 Best practice 
Two Historic England publications provided relevant and widely-recognised advice for 
this project, which informed the methodology employed to prepare the draft appraisals: 

Conservation Area Designation, Appraisal and Management; Historic England Advice 
Note 1 (Second edition – draft), English Heritage (2018)

Good Practice Advice Note: The Setting of Heritage Assets (GPA 3), Historic England 
(2015) 

Other guidance and advice documents that were consulted are listed in the Sources in 
Section 5.1 on page xxx below.

4.2 Methodology
The appraisal of each conservation area involved the following steps:

 A re-survey of the area and its boundaries;
 A review of the condition of the area since the last appraisal was undertaken to 

identity changes and trends;
 Identification of views which contribute to appreciation of the character of the 

conservation area;
 A description of the character of the area and the key elements that contribute to 

it;
 Where appropriate, the identification of character zones where differences in 

spatial patterns and townscape are notable that have derived from the way the 
area developed, its architecture, social make-up, historical associations and past 
and present uses;

 Identification of heritage assets and other positive contributors;
 Assessment of the contribution made by open space within and around the 

conservation area.
 Making recommendations for future management of the conservation area. 

4.3 Heritage Assets 
The appraisals identify buildings, listed or unlisted, which are of townscape merit or 
which contribute in other ways to the special architectural and historic interest of the 
area.

Statutory listed buildings are buildings and structures that have, individually or as 
groups, been recognised as being of national importance for their special architectural 
and historic interest. The high number of nationally listed building plays an important part 
in the heritage significance of many of district’s conservation areas. Listed buildings are 
referred to as designated heritage assets.
There are many unlisted buildings that help to shape the character of an area. The 
Historic England advice note on conservation area designation, appraisal and 

Page 65

Agenda Item 8



DRAFT

Sevenoaks CA Appraisals  General Introduction / J u l y  2 0 1 8 4 Alan Baxter

management includes a set of criteria that can be used to identify positive contributors in 
a conservation area. 
Positive contributors identified during the re-survey tend to meet at least one or more of 
the criteria shown below. They can include buildings that may have suffered from 
unsympathetic alteration but have retained their historic form and could be restored to 
their original appearance relatively easily. 
Positive contributors in conservation areas constitute non-designated heritage assets.

Checklist for identifying positive contributors in a conservation area:
o Is it the work of a particular architect or designer of local or regional note?

o Does it have landmark quality?

o Does it reflect a substantial number of other element in the conservation area, 
in age, style, materials, form or other characteristics?

o Does it relate to adjacent designated heritage assets in age, materials or in any 
other historically significant way?

o Does it contribute to the quality of recognisable spaces including exterior or 
open spaces within a complex of public buildings?

o Is it associated with a designed landscape, e.g. a significant wall, terracing or a 
garden building?

o Does it individually, or as part of a group, illustrate the development of the 
settlement in which it stands?

o Does it have significant historic associations with features such as the historic 
road layout, burgage plots, a town park or a landscape feature?

o Does it have historic associations with local people or past events?

o Does it reflect the traditional functional character or former use in the area?

o Does its use contribute to the character or appearance of the area?

Source: Conservation Area Designation, Appraisal and Management,  Historic England 
2018, Table 1, p. 16.

4.4 Detractors
Not every aspect of a conservation area will contribute to the characteristics that make it 
special. 
This may be by virtue of the scaling and detailing of structures and their impact on the 
street-/townscape, the type and extent of alterations to houses, the way buildings relate 
to neighbouring properties, street clutter, or poor quality of features such as shopfronts, 
advertisements, street furniture or hard landscaping.

4.5 Views analysis
Significant views have been identified both because they encapsulate the special 
character of the conservation areas and the contribution of their landscape setting, and 
because they are a consideration in assessing the impact of new development and other 
change within the area or its setting. 

Page 66

Agenda Item 8



DRAFT

Sevenoaks CA Appraisals  General Introduction / J u l y  2 0 1 8 5 Alan Baxter

 The methodology applies best practice from Historic England’s advice documents 
The Setting of Heritage Assets: Historic Environment Good Practice Advice in 
Planning Note 3 (Second Edition) 2017.. 
 At the heart of the methodology is the analysis of the ‘significance’ of each view in 
terms of its historical, architectural, townscape, aesthetic and community interest, and 
of the key landmarks or heritage assets visible within it. 

The purpose is to identify views that capture and express the special and unique 
character of each conservation area, although the list in each appraisal does not claim to 
be exhaustive. 
Views are categorized are: 

 Townscape views: views within the conservation area which are shorter in range 
and enclosed by buildings.
 Contextual views: longer range views from within the conservation area into the 
surrounding landscape.
 Scenic views: in some conservation areas (e.g. Shoreham), there are important 
views which connect the conservation area to the surrounding landscape, and make 
sense of its landscape setting. 

4.6 Open space assessment
The character of a conservation area can be affected not just by the buildings in it, but 
also by open space inside and outside its boundaries. The appraisals therefore include 
an assessment of the value of such spaces to the character and appearance of the 
conservation area.   

Definition
Open space is defined as common land, farmland, countryside and recreational spaces 
(including school grounds, churchyards and cemeteries). Private gardens and private car 
parks are excluded. 

Analysis
The analysis considered open space inside and immediately outside the conservation 
area. Fieldwork to assess the open space was carried out in March and April  2018; 
seasonal variations, particularly leaf growth on trees may make a difference to the 
contribution of open space at different times of year. 
Fieldwork was combined with an analysis of historic mapping and other secondary 
sources. From this, the following factors were taken into account in assessing the 
contribution of open space to the character and appearance of each Conservation Area:

1.   the historical relationship and function of open space
2.   its contribution to the form and structure of historical settlements
3.   how open space is experienced and viewed from within the Conservation Area 
4.   how the pattern of historic settlements and their relationship to the wider 
landscape can be understood when looking in from outside.

The contribution of open space to the conservation area and are shown on the map. They 
are graded into three different categories i.e. ‘strong contribution’, ‘some contribution’ and 
‘no or negligible contribution’. 

Page 67

Agenda Item 8



DRAFT

Sevenoaks CA Appraisals  General Introduction / J u l y  2 0 1 8 6 Alan Baxter

5.0 Public Consultation
In preparing each draft conservation appraisal a walk about and on site discussion was 
undertaken with representatives of the community of each conservation area. Invitees 
included District and Parish Councillors, local amenity, and civic and historical societies. 

 Wider public consultation on the draft appraisals is being carried out from October 
to November 2018. This will include public presentations. See ww.xxxx.

6.0 How to use the document
Software 

 Documents created as part of this project have been designed to be viewed 
digitally. They will work best on Adobe Reader or Adobe Acrobat Pro versions X or 
later on a PC or laptop. 
 Please be aware that some interactive features such as layered maps and 
navigation buttons do not currently work on many other pdf readers, or on the version 
of Adobe Reader which is used on many mobile devices such as Ipads and mobile 
phones. 
 Because the layered maps are an integral part of the appraisals, we recommend 
using Adobe on a desktop PC or laptop only. 

Navigation 
 To navigate through an appraisal, click on the relevant title on the contents page, 
or use the 'bookmarks panel', which is revealed by clicking the button on the left hand 
side of the screen. 
 Hyperlinks  - identified by blue text – are quick links within the appraisals to other 
sections of the report.
 A series of buttons at the bottom of each page allow you to:

ICON – return to the contents page

ICON – access the layered map

ICON – return to the previous page 

Layered maps 
 Using the 'ICON' button at the foot of the page you can access the layered page 
links you layered conservation area map. 
 This has a series of layers, each displaying a different piece of information. For 
example, listed buildings, historic Ordnance Survey maps, the conservation area 
boundary, etc.
 These layers can be hidden and revealed in any combination. 
 This is achieved by switched layers on and off using the 'layers panel', which is 
revealed by clicking the button on the left hand side of the screen.
 On this panel click the small box alongside the layer name to hide or reveal it. 

7.0 Sources and Acknowledgements

Page 68

Agenda Item 8



DRAFT

Sevenoaks CA Appraisals  General Introduction / J u l y  2 0 1 8 7 Alan Baxter

7.1 Sources
Legislation and Policy

National Planning Policy Framework, DCLG (draft, 2018)

Sevenoaks District Council Core Strategy (adopted 2011)

Sevenoaks District Council Allocations and Development Management Plan (adopted 
2015)

Guidance

Conservation Area Designation, Appraisal and Management; Historic England Advice 
Note 1 (Second edition – draft), Historic England (2018)

Historic Environment Good Practice Advice  in Planning Note 3: The Setting of Heritage 
Assets (Second Ed.), Historic England (2017) 

Seeing the History in the View, English Heritage (2011)

Reference

National Heritage List for England, Historic England (online)

Kent Historic Buildings Index: Sevenoaks Section, Kent Historic Buildings Committee 
(1998)

Ordnance Survey mapping

Secondary sources

‘Influences shaping the human landscape of the Sevenoaks area since c.1600’, 
Archaeologia Cantiana Vol130, David Killingay (2010)

Buildings of England, Kent: West and the Weald, John Newman (2012)

English Domestic Architecture: Kent Houses, Anthony Quiney (1993)

Page 69

Agenda Item 8



DRAFT

Sevenoaks CA Appraisals  General Introduction / J u l y  2 0 1 8 8 Alan Baxter

8.0 Annex 1: Notes on the history and 
character of Sevenoaks District
These notes provide context to the conservation appraisals. More information on 
these subjects can be found amongst the sources listed in section 5.1 below.

8.1 Geology
The geology of Kent runs in strata from Surrey and Great London east towards the 
Straits of Dover.

 In Sevenoaks, this creates clear bands, running east-west. From the north, these 
are:

o Chalk, forming the North Downs
o A narrow lowland belt – the Vale of Holmeddale – made of Gault clay and Upper 
Greensand stone
o Then the escarpment of the Lower Greensand (on which Sevenoaks town sits)
o The Lower Greensand includes beds of building stone such as the famous 
Kentish Ragstone (in the Hythe Formation) 
o The clay of the Low Weald
o The ‘Hastings Beds’  of the High Weald, which include fine yellow sandsones 
which have been widely quarried

8.2 Landscape and agriculture
The stratified geology creates  matching landscape zones, instantly recognizable 
to those who live in Kent:

 The North Downs is a region of rolling chalk uplands, which rises gently to the 
south, heavily wooded. This is an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty T
 The soils of chalk overlaid with clay and flint are poor and very hard to plough.  
Traditionally, these soils and the altitude made for limited settlement and where 
woodland was cleared farms concentrated on sheep and corn.
 The southern edge of the Downs is an escarpment, at the foot of which is the 
narrow Vale of Holmsedale. This is drained by the River Darent before it turns north 
through gap in the North Downs, towards Dartford. The soils here are fertile, and have 
supported settlements for thousands of years.
 The Charltand is the area south of the Vale of Holmsedale, no more than 3 or 4 
miles wide around Sevenoaks and rising steadily to a ridge overlooking the Weald (the 
highest point is Toy’s Hill at 245m). Historically this was wooded country: ‘chart’ means 
poor or infertile soil).
 The famous Kent Weald is an large heavily wooded rolling landscape, running 
south to the South Downs. The heavy clay soils were difficult to plough, which meant 
that historically the Weald was a pasture economy. The clay was once described as 
‘cement in summer and soup in winter’, and made access relatively difficult until the 
railways.

Page 70

Agenda Item 8



DRAFT

Sevenoaks CA Appraisals  General Introduction / J u l y  2 0 1 8 9 Alan Baxter

8.3 History
Neolithic

 The first famers are believed to have arrived in Kent, perhaps as immigrants from 
the Continent, c.4000BC.

Bronze and Iron Ages
 The evidence of barrows (burial mounds) suggest a sizeable population living in 
Kent from the early Bronze Age. These were overwhelmingly agrarian communities.
 By the Iron Age homesteads were thickly studded across the county. Ironworking 
in the Weald became increasingly common, exploiting the iron deposits there.
 There is an iron age hillfort at Otford, at a crossing point on the River Darent

Romans
 Kent was the arrival point for the Romans and the closest location to the rest of the 
Empire. The impact of the Romans was therefore particularly marked.
 Sevenoaks district is off the main Roman road network (which passed to the north) 
and there were no major settlements. However the fertile soils of the Darent valley 
were the location of many villas. 

Middle Ages
 Settlement patterns continued little altered after the Romans left. Cattle were 
driven between the Chartland and the Weald, where they rooted for food in the forests
 Sevenoaks town may pre-date the Norman Conquest, and begun as a market or 
wayside shrine on one of the drovers roads.
 Rural industries of cloth working and iron smelting (in the Weald) brought 
exceptional prosperity in the fifteenth and sixteenth centuries, reflected in the fine 
churches and timber-framed houses that survive.

Seventeenth and eighteenth centuries
 The proximity of the district to Kent increasingly affected its character, for example 
by successful lawyers and merchants investing in estates and building fine houses

Arrival of the railways
 Railways transformed Kent by revolutionizing access to markets and materials. 
The town of Sevenoaks is a good example of the way in which the railway (which first 
arrived in the 1840s) caused rapid and extensive expansion, with a considerable 
change of character as well as form.
 It became possible to commute to London from west Kent, and villas and terraces 
for commuters began to emerge in villages and towns with good rail services.

Twentieth century
 This process continued through the twentieth century
 The economy has shifted away from agriculture,  towards services
 Since the middle of the twentieth century, the beauty of the Kent landscape and its 
towns and villages has been recognized and protected through designations such as 
the Green Belt, Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty and listed buildings and 
conservation areas

Page 71

Agenda Item 8



DRAFT

Sevenoaks CA Appraisals  General Introduction / J u l y  2 0 1 8 10 Alan Baxter

9.0 Annex 2: Glossary
Designated heritage asset – A World Heritage Site, Scheduled Monument, Listed Building, 
Protected Wreck Site, Registered Park and Garden, Registered Battlefield or Conservation Area 
designated under the relevant legislation.

Edwardian – Correctly refers to the period from 1901 to 1910, the reign of King Edward VII, but 
often used in a more general way to refer to the whole period from 1900 to 1914.

Flemish bond brickwork –
an arrangement of bricks in which headers and stretchers alternate in each course; the 
predominant form of brick bond throughout the Georgian period.

Flint – widely available in Kent as a building material, generally used close to its source because 
it was too heavy to transport. Used either in its natural rounded form, or ‘knapped’ (cut and 
shaped).

Georgian – Dating to between 1714 and 1830, i.e. during the reign of one of the four Georges: 
King George I to King George IV.

Half-timbering – non-structural, decorative use of timberwork, as distinct from structural timber 
framing. Popularly used in the nineteenth century and associated with Old English and vernacular 
revival styles of architecture.

Hipped roof – a pitched roof with four slopes of equal pitch.

Kent peg tiles – the traditional form of clay roof tile used in Kent, traditionally hung on roof 
battens with a peg.

Kentish Ragstone – a hard grey sandy limestone found in East and West Kent, not suitable for 
fine stonework or carving and typically used as rubble for walls.

Locally listed building – a building which is of local architectural and historic interest or makes a 
significant contribution to the character and appearance of the District, but which is not 
designated at the national level, i.e. as a listed building. Structures and open spaces can also be 
locally listed.

Mathematical tiles –thin fired clay tiles attached to a timber frame, giving the outward 
appearance of fine brickwork; a response to brick tax levied between 1784 and 1850.

M-shaped roof – a form of pitched roof consisting of two parallel pitched roofs meeting in a 
central valley.

Neo-Tudor – A nineteenth-century architectural style involving revival of elements of Tudor 
architecture. Typically used for schools, workhouses, gate lodges and model cottages.

Non-designated heritage asset – A building, monument, site, place, area or landscape 
identified as having a degree of significance meriting consideration in planning decisions, 
because of its heritage interest, but which does not have the degree of special interest that would 
merit designation at the  national level, e.g. listing. Buildings, structures and open spaces on the 
Local List for Sevenoaks are
considered non-designated heritage assets. 

‘Old English’ style – an architectural style of the late nineteenth century involving revival of 
vernacular elements from the Weald of Kent and Sussex, such as tile-hung walls and timber-
framing, casement windows with leaded lights and decorative bargeboards, in picturesque 
compositions evoking a bygone England.

Page 72

Agenda Item 8



DRAFT

Sevenoaks CA Appraisals  General Introduction / J u l y  2 0 1 8 11 Alan Baxter

Pitched roof – a roof with sloping sides meeting at a ridge. Include m-shaped roofs, hipped roofs 
and semi-hipped.

Rat Trap brickwork – a variant of Flemish bond using bricks laid on their side, with the effect that 
they appear larger.

Roughcast – outer covering to a wall consisting of plaster mixed with gravel or other aggregate, 
giving a rough texture. Associated with vernacular revival styles of architecture.

Rubble stone – irregular blocks of stone used in masonry construction.

Tile-hanging – use of clay tiles, hung vertically to clad a wall. Used predominantly on upper 
storeys only. Nineteenth-century tile-hanging often features tiles with curved or pointed ends.

Vernacular – traditional forms of building using local materials. In Kent this typically features 
timber framed construction, clay tile roofs, casement windows, weatherboarding, tile-hanging and 
flintwork.

Vernacular revival – use of features of vernacular buildings in architecture of the mid-to-late 
nineteenth century.

Victorian. Dating to between 1837 and 1901, i.e. during the reign of Queen Victoria.

Weatherboarding – wall cladding formed of horizontal wooden boards, traditionally painted 
white. A characteristic feature of vernacular buildings in Kent.

Sources

James Stevens Curl and Susan Wilson Oxford Dictionary of Architecture
(2016 edition)

John Newman The Buildings of England, Kent: West and the Weald (2012)

National Planning Policy Framework Annex 2: Glossary (2018)

Page 73

Agenda Item 8



DRAFT

Sevenoaks CA Appraisals  General Introduction / J u l y  2 0 1 8 12 Alan Baxter

Alan Baxter
Prepared by Richard Pollard
To be reviewed by Rob Hradsky
Draft issued 9 July 2018

T:\1837\1837-190\10 Reports\01 ABA Reports\Intro doc\2018 introduction to Sevenoaks 
Conservation Areas.docx

This document is for the sole use of the person or organisation for whom it has been prepared 
under the terms of an invitation or appointment by such person or organisation. Unless and to 
the extent allowed for under the terms of such invitation or appointment this document should 
not be copied or used or relied upon in whole or in part
by third parties for any purpose whatsoever. If this document has been issued as a report 
under the terms of an appointment by such person or organisation, it is valid only at the time of 
its production. Alan Baxter Ltd does not accept liability for any loss or damage arising from 
unauthorised use of this document.
If this document has been issued as a ‘draft’, it is issued solely for the purpose of client and/or 
team comment and must not be used for any other purpose without the written permission of 
Alan Baxter Ltd.

Alan Baxter Ltd is a limited company registered in England and Wales, number 06600598. 
Registered office: 75 Cowcross Street, London, EC1M 6EL.

© Copyright subsists in this document.

Page 74

Agenda Item 8



Draft

Brasted High Street 
Conservation Area 
Appraisal Draft 

September 2018

1.0 Overview of Brasted High Street    
 Conservation Area 1
2.0 Historical development 3
3.0 Architectural and built character 5
4.0 Views 15
5.0 Open space assessment 17
6.0 Condition and issues 19
7.0 Management recommendations 20

This draft Conservation Area Appraisal for Brasted High Street Conservation 
Area supports the duty of Sevenoaks District Council under section 71 of 
the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to prepare 
proposals for the preservation and enhancement of conservation areas and to 
consult the public about those proposals. 

For details of the methodology employed in assessing the conservation area 
and preparing the appraisal, see the Sevenoaks District Conservation Areas: an 
introduction to appraisals revised in 2018, available at http// etc.

P
age 75

A
genda Item

 8



Brasted High Street Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

1

1.0 Overview of Brasted High Street Conservation Area
The village of Brasted lies on the western edge of Kent, 4.5 miles from Sevenoaks 
and within 3 miles of the Surrey border. It is situated on an historic east–west route 
which is now the A25, while the M25 passes very close by on the north side. 

It sits within the Kent Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. The grounds 
of Brasted Place and Combe Bank and some open spaces on the north and south 
edges of the conservation area are included in the Metropolitan Green Belt. The 
area around Brasted’s parish church is designated separately as Brasted Church 
Conservation Area. Sundridge Conservation Area adjoins Brasted High Street 
Conservation Area to the north-east.

Conservation area boundary
Brasted High Street Conservation Area comprises the High Street (the A25), land 
between it and the River Darent to the north including the lodge and part of the 
grounds of Combe Bank where they front onto the main road, along with Brasted 
Place and part of its grounds.

Designation history
Brasted High Street Conservation Area was designated in 1971 and extended in 
1992. The previous Conservation Area Appraisal was published in December 2003. 

Topography and geology
The village of Brasted runs east–west, following the bottom of the Darent valley, 
with the North Downs rising to the north and the Greensand ridge to the south. The 
area is geologically mixed, including bands of chalk, gault clay and stone Folkestone 
beds, and Hythe beds, both of the Lower Greensand Group of sandstones and 
sandy limestones. 

Summary of special interest
The main features of Brasted High Street Conservation Area’s special historic and 
architectural interest are:

• It retains the form and appearance of a traditional Kentish village that developed 
along a main street with a green at its centre;

• An attractive and cohesive streetscape composed of buildings of similar scale, built 
with a distinctive palette of traditional, natural materials and colours;

• A wealth of historic buildings including good examples of medieval, Georgian and 
Victorian architecture; 

• A large number of buildings and structures that are listed;

• Brasted Place, an example of the work of two important architects, Robert Adam 
and Alfred Waterhouse;

• Partially surviving parkland of two gentlemen’s houses of the eighteenth century.

• Strong contribution of boundary walls to the character of the area;

• Traditional craftsmanship embodied in original building materials and architectural 
features.

P
age 76

A
genda Item

 8



Brasted High Street Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

2

Existing boundary

P
age 77

A
genda Item

 8



Brasted High Street Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

3

2.0 Historical development
Beginnings
The manor of Brasted is recorded in Domesday, at which time it had arable 
land, pasture, woodland, a church and two mills. The parish was long and thin, 
running east–west along the valley bottom and at no point exceeding a mile in 
width. It developed as a linear settlement along the High Street and a number 
of sixteenth-century or earlier buildings survive, such as Alms Row Cottages and 
The Old Manor House. 

Eighteenth century
The attractiveness of the countryside and good communication links meant that 
the country around Brasted became populated in the eighteenth century with 
gentlemen’s houses, each in their own park. Two such houses were Combe 
Bank (c.1725, in the neighbouring parish of Sundridge, but with an entrance 
from Brasted(within the conservation area), and Brasted Place. The latter was 
built as a classical villa for Dr John Turton, in 1784–85, using Tunbridge Wells 
sandstone. The surrounding parkland was landscaped and a road that ran through 
it relocated further east to the line of New Road, which now forms the boundary 
of the conservation area. A number of large houses such as Rectory Lodge 
and Brasted House were also built in the village and many smaller houses and 
cottages, such as Barton’s Cottages and the old King’s Arms public house, were 
re-fronted during the eighteenth century.

Nineteenth century
The village evolved gradually during the nineteenth century, with development 
slowly extending further west along the High Street, with the construction of 
Hawthorn Cottages and Vine Cottages in the second quarter of the century. In 

1881 the mill was built, continuing the centuries-old use of the river Darent for 
milling. The process of rebuilding and refronting older buildings continued in the 
late nineteenth century with buildings such as White Hart Cottages and Tilings 
remodelled in a vernacular revival manner. The White Hart was rebuilt on a large 
scale in an Old English style in 1885.

Twentieth century
Several new buildings were added to the village in the early twentieth century, 
including the Hollies and Rosena (1900), the Village Hall (1900) and Bridge 
Cottage (1906) and 1 & 2 Tannery Cottages (1907). In 1911 a motor works was 
established on the High Street by F. A. Smith, which continued in business into 
the 1950s. The major development in the post-war years was the new Durtnell’s 
offices and development of the Old Yard. 

Historical associations
Britain’s oldest building company, R. Durtnell & Sons, which is still located in 
Brasted, dates its existence back to at least 1591 and built many of the buildings 
in the conservation area.  Brasted Place was built for John Turton (1735–1806), 
George III’s doctor, by Robert Adam (1728–92), one of the most important 
architects of the eighteenth century. In 1840 it was lived in by Louis-Napoleon 
Bonaparte (1808–73), the future Emperor Napoleon III of France. The house 
was later owned by the Tipping family, for whom Alfred Waterhouse enlarged 
and altered it and it was the childhood home of H. Avray Tipping (1855–1933), 
an important garden designer and influential Architectural Editor of Country Life 
1907–30. The rebuilding of the White Hart in 1885 was carried out by Edwin T. 
Hall, better known as the architect of Liberty’s department store in London. The 
White Hart later became famous as a watering hole for Battle of Britain pilots 
based at nearby Biggin Hill. 

P
age 78

A
genda Item

 8



Brasted High Street Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

4

Historic OS 1888

P
age 79

A
genda Item

 8



Brasted High Street Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

5

3.0 Architectural and built character
3.1 Spatial character
Brasted is a good example of a linear settlement which remains largely within its 
historic boundaries.

Its spatial character can be summarised as follows:  

• Long lines of virtually continuous development on both sides of the High Street, 
composed of buildings and boundary walls;

• Most buildings on the High Street come right up to the pavement, with some, 
particularly on the south side, set back behind small front gardens;

• Views are largely confined to long views up and down the High Street;  

• Little connection to the surrounding landscape other than occasional glimpses 
between buildings or up side streets;

• The village green and the parkland of Brasted Place and Combe Bank are 
important open spaces;

• Historic buildings in the side streets are smaller in scale than those on the High 
Street;

• Small alleyways between buildings leading to dwellings or outbuildings within rear 
plots.

P
age 80

A
genda Item

 8



Brasted High Street Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

6

3.2 Building forms and details
The historic buildings of the conservation area are 
strongly traditional in character and their forms can 
be summarised as follows:

• Small scale and domestic in character;

• Two storeys, with some attics;

• Simple rectangular forms, mostly flat-fronted but 
some with nineteenth and twentieth-century bay 
windows;

• Traditional pitched roof forms, often with irregular 
rooflines;

• Tall brick chimneys, sometimes with the upper part 
turned through 45 degrees to the lower part;

• Shopfronts, some projecting from the front of the 
building.

Small scale and domestic Simple rectangular forms

Tall brick chimneys

Projecting shopfronts

Traditional pitched roof forms

Shopfronts

P
age 81

A
genda Item

 8



Brasted High Street Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

7

3.3 Architectural styles
• Kentish vernacular – a style characterised by 

the use of locally available materials that reflect 
local custom and building tradition. Characteristic 
features within Brasted include timber frame 
walling, tile hanging, steeply pitched roofs covered 
with plain clay (Kent peg) tiles, and casement 
windows. Roof slopes are unbroken with no dormer 
windows. Other characteristics  are asymmetry in 
form and elevation and the small scale of buildings; 

• ‘Polite’ Georgian domestic architecture –larger in 
scale than the vernacular and characterised by 
symmetrical facades in Flemish bond brickwork or 
stucco render, sash windows and classical detailing 
e.g. classical door cases and porches on larger 
houses.  Larger Georgian houses often have the use 
of the attic as an integral part of their plan-form, 
with small, usual lead-clad dormer windows;  

• Vernacular revival buildings of the late nineteenth 
and early twentieth century. 

Vernacular revival Vernacular revival

Vernacular

GeorgianGeorgian

Vernacular

P
age 82

A
genda Item

 8



Brasted High Street Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

8

3.4 Traditional building materials
The materials used in Brasted’s buildings remained 
remarkably consistent over hundreds of years, 
added to which many buildings combine elements 
from different periods as they were altered and 
improved over the centuries. The traditional building 
materials that are most characteristic are:

• Clay tile roofs – plain (Kent peg) tiles for earlier 
roofs, but in the nineteenth century using different 
shapes and patterns and decorative ridge tiles;

• Slate roofs are less common but appear on a range 
of buildings;  

• Timber-framing – both medieval and later imitation; 

• Local red or orange brick – often Flemish bond 
patterned with grey/blue headers;

• Clay tile hanging on upper storeys;

• Plaster – both roughcast and smooth lime renders, 
generally painted in a traditional cream colour or 
grey; 

• Rubble stone walling of Kent Ragstone, often for 
side elevations only or as a plinth and for boundary 
walls;

• Brick-tile hanging (mathematical tiles);

• One rare example of Rat Trap brick bonding.  

Plastered fronts

Timber frame Slate roofs

Local red brick Clay tile roof and tile-hanging

Rubble stone walls

P
age 83

A
genda Item

 8



Brasted High Street Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

9

3.5 Boundaries and streetscape
Boundary walls play an important part in the 
character of the High Street, connecting the 
buildings together to form a continuous ribbon of 
development through much of the village. Elsewhere, 
they define the traditional separation between public 
space and private gardens or curtilage boundaries. 
Typical boundary treatments within the area are:

• Kentish Ragstone and/or red brick walls, many over 
2 metres in height;

• Punctuated with substantial gatepiers;

• Metal railings –  traditionally detailed railings to front 
gardens, decorative cast-iron railings and surviving 
estate railings to Brasted Place.

The scheme of paving on the High Street’s 
pavements is not historic, but was applied in a 
consistent way, with good quality materials and 
therefore enhances the character and appearance of 
the High Street. It is formed of:

• Red bricks for pedestrian-only areas;

• Blue diamond chequered pavers for off-street 
parking bays and entrances to driveways;

• Bands of stone cobbles or sets;

• Aprons of ironstone pebbles or York Stone flags in 
front of buildings.   

Surviving historic street furniture in form of the 
nineteenth-century pump and the K6 telephone 
kiosk on the Green, and the Royal Mail pillar box 
opposite all add to the historic character of the 
streetscape.  

Kentish ragstone wall Kentish ragstone and brick walls

Substantial gatepiers Brick paving

P
age 84

A
genda Item

 8



Brasted High Street Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

10

3.6 Heritage assets, positive contributors and detractors
The buildings and structures of the conservation areas contribute in different 
ways to its overall character and appearance, some positively (positive 
contributors including listed buildings), others negatively (detractors). The 
contributions of individual elements are shown on the map on page 11.

Positive contributors
The conservation areas contains a large number of heritage assets, both 
designated and non-designated, all of which add to the architectural and historic 
interest of the conservation area. The extent of a building’s contribution to the 
character and appearance of the area is not limited to its street elevations but 
also depends on its integrity as an historic structure and the impact it has in three 
dimensions. Rear elevations can be important, as can side views from alleys and 
yards.

• Listed buildings (designated heritage assets). Buildings or structures that have 
been designated by national government as having special historic or architectural 
interest at a national level. For further details, see https://www.historicengland.org.
uk/listing/what-is-designation/ 

• Positive contributors (non-designated heritage assets). These are unlisted buildings 
that help to shape the character and appearance of the Conservation Area. Some 
buildings may have suffered from unsympathetic alteration but could be restored 
to their original appearance relatively easily. A checklist for identifying positive 
contributors in a conservation area is given in the Historic England guidance 
Conservation Area Designation, Appraisal and Management (2018).

Detractors
Some elements of a conservation area may be out of character due to, for 
example, their scale, use of materials or the way they relate to neighbouring 
buildings. These are identified as detractors. 

P
age 85

A
genda Item

 8



Brasted High Street Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

11

Heritage assets

P
age 86

A
genda Item

 8



Brasted High Street Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

12

3.7 Character Zones
Two zones of discernibly different character can be identified within Brasted 
High Street Conservation Area, based on their spatial character and architectural 
qualities, historical development and the contribution they make to the 
conservation areas:

The features and individual characteristics of each zone that contribute to, 
or detract from the character and appearance of the conservation areas are 
summarised below. The boundaries of the Character Zones are shown on the 
map on page 13.

Character Zone 1: High Street 
• Strongly linear character with important long views up and down the street;

• Retains the character of historic commercial centre of the parish, with shopfronts 
lining the street, some of which are preserved in former retail units converted to 
domestic use;

• The village green is an important component of the townscape of the High Street 
and an historically important survival;

• Streetscape unified by consistently small scale of the buildings and a restricted 
palette of traditional materials;

• Buildings stand mostly parallel to the street fronting straight on to the pavement, 
although some have small front gardens;

• Particularly important groupings are  (south side) Alms Row and Haynes Cottages, 
and (north side) from Tilings to Constables;

• Boundary walls provide continuity of enclosure and consistency of building line.

Important views: 1, 2 (see map on page 16 for location of views)

P
age 87

A
genda Item

 8



Brasted High Street Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

13

Character zones

P
age 88

A
genda Item

 8



Brasted High Street Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

14

Character Zone 2: Brasted Place and Combe Bank
• Parkland character, thickly wooded in parts;

• Historically important as remains of eighteenth-century parks;

• Estate grounds provide an element of separation between the villages of Brasted 
and Sundridge; 

• Brasted Place is the architecturally most significant building in the conservation 
area, listed Grade I;

• Estate boundaries, gateways and lodges characterise the entrance into the village 
from the East;

• Encroachment in the form of new housing, the loss of its lake and the east arm of 
its drive, detract from the setting of Brasted Place.

Important views: n/a

P
age 89

A
genda Item

 8



Brasted High Street Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

15

4.0 Views

Views make an important contribution to our ability to appreciate the character 
and appearance of the conservation area. 

In Brasted High Street Conservation Area the important views are long views 
up and down the High Street and across the village green. Rather than having 
particular viewpoints each is a kinetic, or dynamic, view in which the movement 
along the road reveals a changing streetscape. 

The photographs reproduced here are illustrative of these views but are not 
definitive because of the dynamic nature of the views.

P
age 90

A
genda Item

 8



Brasted High Street Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

16

Views

P
age 91

A
genda Item

 8



Brasted High Street Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

17

5.0 Open space assessment
There are large amounts of open space within and around Brasted High Street 
Conservation Area, not all of which is publicly accessible, but some of which 
makes a strong contribution to the character and appearance of the conservation 
area. Open space contributes in two main ways:

• It allows views, e.g. across the village green;

• It defines the built-up area of the village by providing open space between it and 
neighbouring settlements.

The extent of the contribution of individual parcels of open space depends on 
the way they are experienced. Hence, those which are visible in views from the 
streets of the Conservation Area or from public footpaths tend to be the most 
important. Brasted High Street does not have a strong visual connection with the 
surrounding landscape and as a result the most important open spaces are those 
within the conservation area itself.

Open space is defined as common land, farmland, countryside and recreational 
spaces (including allotments, school grounds, churchyards and cemeteries). 
Private gardens and private car parks are excluded. 

The contributions of individual parcels of land are shown on the map 
on page 18.

Open space inside the conservation area
• The village green is an important component of the townscape of the High Street 

and an historically important survival;

• The grounds of Combe Bank and Brasted Place are historically important and 
provide a separation between the villages of Brasted and Sundridge;

• The grounds of Brasted Place constitute the setting to the house and even in their 
eroded state make an important contribution to its significance; 

• The car park of the White Hart is largely hidden from view by a hedge so that it 
makes no particular contribution. It was formerly a garden, which would have 
made a positive contribution. 

Open space outside the conservation area
• Open space which helps to define the historic boundary of Brasted, as experienced 

on routes into and out of the village, makes some contribution to the character 
and appearance of the conservation area;

• In the absence of any important views into and out of the conservation, therefore, 
the rest of the open space around it makes a negligible contribution. 

P
age 92

A
genda Item

 8



Brasted High Street Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

18

Open space

P
age 93

A
genda Item

 8



Brasted High Street Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

19

6.0 Condition and issues

Buildings in the conservation area are generally in a good condition and are 
looked after by their owners. As in many villages, the loss of the mix of uses 
is an issue but Brasted has retained social facilities, such as the pub and the 
village shop, and a number of retail premises, many of them antique shops. The 
relentless traffic and the air and noise pollution that comes with it continue to 
affect the village character of Brasted. 

A number of issues have been identified that could be addressed with future 
management and improved design guidance:

• Painting of historic brickwork;

• Occasional inappropriate type of paint and paint colour to buildings;

• Unsympathetic repairs to pavements to front of buildings;

• Unsympathetic paving schemes to modern infill development;

• Different colour and texture of tactile paving disrupts the consistency of the paving 
scheme;

• Intrusive twentieth-century development, i.e. No. 8 The Old Yard, Rectory Lane;

• Derelict state of East Lodge detracts from the significance of that building and 
setting of Brasted Place; 

• Poorly-maintained estate railings and inappropriate replacement fencing detract 
from the setting of Brasted Place.

P
age 94

A
genda Item

 8



Brasted High Street Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

20

7.0 Management recommendations

Sevenoaks District Council has a statutory duty to review the management of 
conservation areas from time to time. The following recommendations have 
emerged from the assessment of Brasted High Street Conservation Area in the 
preparation of this appraisal.

Guide for owners and residents on the effects of conservation 
area designation
Recommendation

 Sevenoaks District Council will issue guidance about what it means to own a 
building in a conservation area and to encourage stakeholders to take an active 
part in the preservation and enhancement of these areas.   

Conservation area designation brings with it additional responsibilities for owners 
and occupiers due to increased planning controls and particular requirements 
for materials and detailing in works to buildings. These are often outweighed by 
the benefits of living in an area of architectural integrity and traditional character, 
which people appreciate and which is often reflected in higher property values.

Design of new buildings and alterations to existing buildings
Recommendation

 When determining applications for planning permission, Sevenoaks District 
Council will take into account the Conservation Area Design Guidance which 
is issued with the revised appraisals. The guidance will be reviewed periodically 
to maximise its effectiveness. 

New buildings and alterations to existing buildings have an effect on the 
conservation area and Sevenoaks District Council will exercise its powers 
through the planning system to ensure that such changes preserve or enhance 
the character and appearance of the conservation area. The design guidance 
has been drafted to help applicants in putting together their proposals. It will be 
reviewed periodically to assess its effectiveness and revised if necessary. 

[Add LINK to Conservation Area Design Guidance]

P
age 95

A
genda Item

 8



Brasted High Street Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

21

Development in the setting of the conservation area 
Recommendation

 Applications for permission to develop in the setting of the conservation area 
should be determined with reference to the open space assessment in this 
appraisal. 

Development in the setting of the conservation area could potentially have a 
harmful impact if it erodes the village boundary where that is still well-defined 
and threatens its open character. As identified in this appraisal, different areas of 
open space in the setting of the conservation area make a different contribution 
to its character and appearance (see section 5.0 for details).

• Development on areas of existing open space which make a strong contribution to 
the character of the conservation area is likely to have a harmful impact; 

• Development in areas which make some contribution may be possible without 
causing harm, subject to design, siting, scale, density, choice of materials and 
retention of mature trees. 

To help determine whether the impact of proposed development is harmful 
to the character and appearance of the conservation areas, applicants should 
undertake an assessment of the likely impact of their proposals on the built 
character of the area, on important views and on open space. Historic England’s 
Historic Environment Good Practice Advice Note 3 (2nd edition 2017) provides 
advice on assessing impacts of development on the setting of heritage assets.

Enforcement 
Recommendation

 In implementing its Planning Enforcement Plan, Sevenoaks District Council will 
pay special attention to preserving or enhancing the special qualities of the 
Leigh Conservation Area. 

The effective operation of the planning system depends on the ability to ensure 
that development is carried out in accordance with planning permission and to 
enforce against development carried out without planning permission. Sevenoaks 
District Council has adopted a Planning Enforcement Plan which sets out how 
it will respond to planning enforcement complaints. It can be downloaded 
from the Council’s website: www.sevenoaks.gov.uk/info/20069126/planning_
enforcement.

P
age 96

A
genda Item

 8



Brasted High Street Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

22

Conservation Area boundary
Recommendation

 Extend the conservation area boundary to include Old Orchard, 1 and 2 
Tannery Cottages, the Old Forge and Tannery Mead.

The proposed new boundary is mapped on the map on page 23.

The present boundary of the conservation area excludes a number of houses 
of historic and architectural interest which, if included in the conservation area 
would make a positive contribution to its character and appearance.

• Old Orchard 

This house appears to date from the late eighteenth or early nineteenth century 
and is historically associated with the Ragstone building to the west (at the 
entrance to Corniche House) which probably served as stables, coach house and 
barn to the house. The former barn/stable building is within the conservation 
area. The front boundary wall, shared with the adjacent chapel, is characteristic of 
the conservation area and although it has lost its historic windows, its vernacular 
origins are still visible in its form. The building and the garden and retaining 
walls feature prominently at the entrance into the conservation area and make a 
valuable contribution. 

• 1 and 2 Tannery Cottages  

A pair of vernacular revival cottages with a display date of 1907, probably built by 
the local building firm of Durtnell. They are typical of the early twentieth-century 
cottages in the conservation area, with semi-hipped clay tile roofs, bay windows 
with pitched roofs and have good quality detailing including stone quoins, a 
carved stone tablet bearing the date ‘1907’, carved stone lintels over their 
entrances and coloured glass in the bay windows. Unfortunately new windows 
have recently been installed in no. 1, harming the architectural interest of the 
pair, but windows to the historic pattern could easily be reinstated. 

• The Old Forge 

A modest single-storey building of unknown age, with good Flemish bond 
brickwork and overhanging eaves. It appears to have some age, but does not 
appear on OS maps until the second half of the twentieth century. Despite 
modern alterations, it has a vernacular character in keeping with the many 
buildings of the conservation area.

Extending the conservation to include 1 and 2 Tannery Cottages and The Old 
Forge would mean including the following building, which although not of 
architectural interest, does not detract from the character or appearance of the 
conservation area.

• Tannery Mead  

A typical late twentieth-century bungalow, the small scale and red brick 
elevations of which make it fit unobtrusively within the eclectic development 
along Rectory Lane. 

P
age 97

A
genda Item

 8



Brasted High Street Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

23

Proposed additions

P
age 98

A
genda Item

 8



Brasted High Street Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

24

Public realm 
Recommendation

 Streets and public open spaces should be managed in a way that enhances 
their character and contribution to the conservation area.

The street furniture on the High Street is a mixture of standard, poor quality 
design and more appropriate, sometimes bespoke designs. An holistic scheme of 
good quality paving has been compromised by the overlay of standard elements, 
which undermine the success of the overall scheme. 

The character and appearance of the High Street are sensitive to changes in 
street furniture and surfaces and careful consideration is needed before any 
changes are made. Small changes made over time can easily have a negative 
cumulative effect. 

More sensitive, better quality design and removal of unnecessary or superfluous 
street furniture, signage or road markings would help to enhance the 
conservation area.

This depends on public bodies rather than owners of private property. Kent 
County Council, Sevenoaks District Council and Brasted Parish Council should 
refer to Historic England’s guidance in Streets for All (latest edition 2018) in any 
public realm works they propose or carry out. For more information go to: www.
historicengland.org.uk/publications

Village Design Statement
Recommendation

 The Parish Council and local people could give consideration to whether a 
Village Design Statement should inform design of development in the village 
(including the parts which fall outside the Conservation Area), so as to extend 
community involvement and reinforce the design guidance contained in this 
appraisal.

Village Design Statements (VDS) are prepared by local people to guide new 
development in their villages (not restricted to the conservation area). They 
are used when assessing planning applications for development and other 
changes within villages. The statements have been adopted as informal guidance 
by Sevenoaks District Council and are used in assessing planning applications. 
Adopting a VDS for Brasted would enable local people to express their views on 
design, both inside and outside the conservation areas, and reinforce the design 
guidance contained in this appraisal. 

P
age 99

A
genda Item

 8



Alan Baxter
Prepared by  Nicolas Chapple  
Reviewed by  Robert Hradsky 
Draft issued  September 2018 

T:\1837\1837-190\12 DTP Data\CA Appraisals\printed versions\Brasted\1837-190_Sevenoaks CA Appraisal_Brasted_2018_PRINT.indd

This document is for the sole use of the person or organisation for whom it has been prepared under the 
terms of an invitation or appointment by such person or organisation.  Unless and to the extent allowed for 
under the terms of such invitation or appointment this document should not be copied or used or relied 
upon in whole or in part by third parties for any purpose whatsoever.  If this document has been issued as 
a report under the terms of an appointment by such person or organisation, it is valid only at the time of its 
production.  Alan Baxter Ltd does not accept liability for any loss or damage arising from unauthorised use 
of this document. 

If this document has been issued as a ‘draft’, it is issued solely for the purpose of client and/or team 
comment and must not be used for any other purpose without the written permission of Alan Baxter Ltd. 

Alan Baxter Ltd is a limited company registered in England and Wales, number 06600598.  
Registered office: 75 Cowcross Street, London, EC1M 6EL.

© Copyright subsists in this document.

P
age 100

A
genda Item

 8



Draft

Leigh Conservation 
Area Appraisal 
Draft 

September 2018

1.0 Overview of Leigh Conservation Area 1
2.0 Historical development 3
3.0 Architectural and built character 5
4.0 Views 18
5.0 Open space assessment 20
6.0 Condition and issues 22
7.0 Management recommendations 23

This draft Conservation Area Appraisal for Leigh Conservation Area supports 
the duty of Sevenoaks District Council under section 71 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to prepare proposals for 
the preservation and enhancement of conservation areas and to consult the 
public about those proposals.

For details of the methodology employed in assessing the conservation area 
and preparing the appraisal, see Sevenoaks District Conservation Areas: an 
introduction to appraisals revised in 2018, available at [add LINK].

P
age 101

A
genda Item

 8



Leigh Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

1

1.0 Overview of Leigh Conservation Area
The village of Leigh stands in open country two miles west of Tonbridge, in the 
Weald of Kent. A mile to the east is the A21 Sevenoaks to Tonbridge road. The 
railway line between Tonbridge and Redhill defines the southern boundary of the 
village. 

The park of Hall Place and parts of the village on the north and west sides are 
designated as Metropolitan Green Belt. The south-west corner of the conservation 
area is within the High Weald Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. 

Conservation area boundary
The conservation area comprises the historic village at its extent at the end of the 
nineteenth century, along with Hall Place and part of its inner park. 

Designation history
Leigh Conservation Area was designated in 1972 and extended in 1986 and 2006. 
The previous Conservation Area Appraisal was published in March 2001. 

Topography and geology
The village stands on the edge of the flood plain of the River Medway, with the 
ground rising to the north. The church stands at a high point, commanding views 
south towards the High Weald. The area around the village is geologically mixed, 
yielding clays and various forms of Wealden sandstone. Most of the village lies on 
an area of Tunbridge Wells Sand, with bands of clay immediately to the south and 
running across the Hall Place estate. Wealden clay provided the raw material of 
bricks and the heavy waterlogged soils which favoured the growth of oak trees, 
suitable for timber framed construction.

Summary of special interest
The main features of Leigh Conservation Area’s special historic and architectural 
interest are:

• An outstanding example of an estate village, improved by its owners in the second 
half of the nineteenth-century; 

• Hall Place, the country house historically associated with the village, and its 
surrounding gardens, and parkland, which are Grade II* registered;

• Fanciful lodge buildings to Hall Place provide gateway features into the village; 

• An unusually large number of architect-designed houses, several of them by two 
major nineteenth-century architects: George Devey and Ernest George;

• Large village green;

• A number of designed set-pieces and picturesque groupings of buildings;

• Historic buildings of earlier periods reflecting Kentish vernacular building traditions;

• Traditional craftsmanship embodied in original building materials and architectural 
features;

• Important visual connections between the village and Hall Place park;

• Fine views south from the churchyard towards the High Weald.

P
age 102

A
genda Item

 8



Leigh Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

This drawing incorporates information from the Ordnance Survey 
which is © Crown Copyright. ABA Licence:  AL1000 17547

Existing boundary

Existing boundary

2

P
age 103

A
genda Item

 8



Leigh Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

3

2.0 Historical development
Beginnings
Leigh was in existence by at least the eleventh century and by the fourteenth 
century the parish church had been built. Around this time large areas of land 
were acquired by the owners of the Penshurst Place, to the south-west, and 
successive owners of Penshurst were to have an influence on the development 
of the village. The village was the centre of an agricultural community and its 
original nucleus lay around the site of Forge Square and the White House (which 
is a later house built over medieval cellar). Orchard House is a sixteenth-century 
century building in its core, originally a farmhouse.

Seventeenth and eighteenth century
There is little evidence of development in Leigh during these centuries. On Lower 
Green, Budgeons Cottages bears a plaque recording: ‘O and E Budgeon’s Gift 
– 1620’, while Old Wood Cottage and Elizabeth’s Cottage may be seventeenth-
century (if not earlier). Orchard House was re-fronted in the eighteenth century 
and it is likely that some of the other old houses were modernised with new 
brick, tile or weatherboarded facades during this time. In 1778 Edward Hasted in 
his history of Kent wrote that ‘the Village hath nothing worth notice in it’; if that 
was true then, it would certainly change in the following century. 

Nineteenth century
The greatest influence on the village in the nineteenth century came  from the 
owners of Hall Place, which by the late eighteenth century had been separated 
from Penshurst. The Baily family owned Hall Place from 1820 to 1870. It has 
been estimated that between 1841 and 1870 forty new cottages were erected 
in Leigh. Before 1860, these were still essentially Georgian in character, e.g. 
Pump Cottage (c.185), Barden Cottages (1856) on the south side of the Green, or 
Ranmore and Elvanin on Lower Green (1853) for Lord de Lisle of Penshurst. 

Work done under Baily patronage included Old Lodge and East Lodge, Stone 
Cottage and restoration of the parish church. By 1864 Baily was employing the 
architect George Devey, who had previously worked for Lord de Lisle, to build 
Park House. 

In 1870 Hall Place was bought by Samuel Morley, who continued the work of 
improvement, giving Leigh the school and village hall and amenities that other 
villages did not have, e.g. sewage, gas light and water. He continued to patronise 
George Devey who rebuilt Hall Place in neo-Tudor style for him in 1871–74 and 
oversaw the construction of the Nonconformist chapel in 1871, re-using material 
from the old Hall Place. 

After Devey’s death in 1886, Morley employed Ernest George, one of the leading 
architects of the day, who designed several buildings in the village including Forge 
Square (1886–87), the Square (1889), both of which originally had thatched 
roofs. 

Twentieth century
From the early part of the century the village started to expand beyond its 
historic envelope, but little changed within its core. Of the streets developed 
in the twentieth century Garden Cottages of 1905–13 is the most significant. 
Charlotte Cottages, a group of buildings providing affordable housing, was built 
in the 1960s on the site of an earlier house and its garden. Notwithstanding the 
heavy traffic, Leigh has very much retained the character as conceived by the 
Victorian landowners.

A change to the village is the loss of traditional mix of uses, although Leigh still 
has shops, a pub, businesses and community assets such as a school and nursery, 
village hall and church.

P
age 104

A
genda Item

 8



Leigh Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft
Historic OS 1897

4

P
age 105

A
genda Item

 8



Leigh Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

5

3.0 Architectural and built character
3.1 Spatial character
The historic village of Leigh grew up around the parish church, village green and 
high street. It most distinctive spatial characteristic is the juxtaposition of the 
great open space of the Green and the narrow and tightly enclosed High Street. 
Its spatial character can be summarised as follows:  

• Linear development, with the Hall Place estate lying to the north of the village and 
extending right to the edge of the High Street; 

• Large amounts of open space: Village Green, Hall Place park, churchyard;

• Around the Green and at the entrances to the village it has an open texture with 
houses standing apart in their own gardens; 

• Siting of church on higher ground;

• Closely spaced detached or groups of buildings along the High Street set behind 
front gardens;

• Much of the High Street is confined by the estate wall along its northern side;

• Most houses have open aspects, not directly facing other houses;

• Little visual connection with surrounding landscape except looking south from 
churchyard;

• Open parkland of Hall Place. 

P
age 106

A
genda Item

 8



Leigh Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

6

3.2 Building forms and details
The historic buildings which contribute positively 
to  the conservation area  are characterised by the 
following :

• Small scale in the centre of the village with a group 
of larger houses to the east of the church;

• Domestic in character;

• Older houses are simple in form, but late 
nineteenth-century houses are more complex in 
plan form and roof form, with multiple gables, 
projecting upper storeys, bay windows etc.

• Mostly informal groupings, but some composed 
groups, i.e. the Square and Forge Square, Charlotte 
Cottages;

• Traditional, steeply pitched roofs with many 
prominent gables and ornamental bargeboards

• Tall brick chimneys

• Many buildings display dates and the arms of the 
landowning families who built them;

• Many nineteenth-century buildings have high 
quality carved and turned woodwork including open 
porches and barge boards;

• Metal-framed windows, with leaded lights or 
decorative patterns of metal glazing bars, e.g. 

• Timber framed casement windows under flat or 
segmental arches.

Date stones

Simple building forms More complex building forms

Composed groups Steeply pitched roofs

Carved woodwork

P
age 107

A
genda Item

 8



Leigh Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

7

3.3 Architectural styles
The predominant types of historic architecture in 
Leigh Conservation Area are: 

Before 1850
• Kentish vernacular styles, of various periods

• Georgian and  early Victorian domestic.

After 1850 
• ‘Old English’ style buildings of the mid-to-late 

nineteenth century; 

• Neo-Tudor of the mid-to-late nineteenth century.

Old English

Kentish vernacular

Neo-TudorEarly Victorian domestic

Old English

Kentish vernacular

P
age 108

A
genda Item

 8



Leigh Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

8

3.4 Traditional building materials
Before 1850
Historically there was plentiful timber in the parish 
for building, as well clay nearby for making bricks 
and tiles. Local sandstone does not appear to have 
been widely exploited until the nineteenth century. 
As a result the characteristic materials pre-1850 are:

• Timber frames;

• Local red brick  laid in Flemish bond patterned with 
blue/grey headers;

• Tile-hanging on upper storeys;

• Plain clay tile (historically Kent peg tile) roofs;

• White painted timber weatherboarding. 

Timber frame Weatherboarding

Local red brick Clay tile roofs and tile-hanging

P
age 109

A
genda Item

 8



Leigh Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

9

After 1850
From the mid-nineteenth century onwards building 
construction was influenced by the availability 
of a greater variety of material due to more 
economic methods of transport and, from the 
1860s, a preference for vernacular revival styles. 
Characteristic materials are:

• Half-timbering in a variety of patterns;

• Red brick laid in English bond, patterned with grey 
brick; 

• Tile-hanging on upper storeys;

• Clay tile roofs, often with patterns of plain and 
shaped tiles;

• Slate roofs on neo-Tudor buildings;  

• Wealden sandstone; 

• Wooden shingles on upper storeys;

• Thatched roofs to The Square and Forge Square 
(replaced with clay tiles in the twentieth century).

Half-timbering Half-timbering and wooden shingles

Red brick patterned with grey brick Clay tile roofs and tile-hanging

Slate roofs Wealden sandstone

P
age 110

A
genda Item

 8



Leigh Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

10

3.5 Boundaries and streetscape
Boundary treatments and front gardens make an 
important contribution to the character of the 
conservation area. The use of a mixture of timber 
fences, field gates and hedges around the village 
greatly add to its rural character. Along the High 
Street, a strong consistency of enclosure to the 
street is provided by a mix of traditional boundary 
treatments. Many boundaries reflect the style of the 
houses they belong to. Boundaries to front gardens 
are low allowing views into the front gardens. 

Boundary treatments in the area include:  
Large sections of estate wall made of red brick, blue 
brick diapering and stone dressings, At its eastern 
extremity, it is lowered to become a continuous run 
of boundary walls to former estate properties i.e. 
The Stone House, Charlotte Cottages (a twentieth-
century insertion) and The White House .

• Wooden palings, mostly picket fences, often with 
a hedge behind. This can be found in front of most 
houses, giving a consistency and sense of identity to 
the conservation area;  

• Victorian brick and stone boundary walls; 

• Two examples of metal railings;

• Estate-type railings to Forge Square.

Brick estate wall to Hall Place Stone boundary walls

Estate-type railings Hedges and picket fences

P
age 111

A
genda Item

 8



Leigh Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

11

There is a wealth of street furniture in the 
conservation area, which contributes positively to its 
character and appearance. It includes:

• The Well House and its nineteenth-century pump; 

• Drinking fountains in the park wall (one missing its 
metal fixtures);

• Horse trough on the green;

• Hanging signs.

There is also a lot of standard modern street 
furniture, e.g. litter bins, benches and lamp posts, 
which detracts. 

Road and pavement surfaces are generally tarmac, 
with a mixture of granite and concrete kerbs, and as 
such are neutral in their contribution.  

The Well House Drinking fountain in the park wall

Hanging signs Standard modern street furniture

P
age 112

A
genda Item

 8



Leigh Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

12

3.6 Heritage assets, positive contributors and detractors
The buildings, structures and open spaces of the conservation area contribute in 
different ways to its overall character and appearance, some positively (positive 
contributors), others negatively (detractors). The contributions of individual 
elements are shown on the map on page 13.

The conservation areas contains a large number of heritage assets, both 
designated and non-designated, all of which add to the architectural and historic 
interest of the conservation area. The extent of the buildings’ contribution to the 
character and appearance of the area is not limited to their street elevations but 
also depends on their integrity as historic structures and the impact they have in 
three dimensions. Rear elevations can be important, as can side views from alleys 
and yards.

• Listed buildings (designated heritage assets). Buildings or structures that have 
been designated by national government as having special historic or architectural 
interest at a national level. For further details, see https://www.historicengland.org.
uk/listing/what-is-designation/. 

• Positive contributors (non-designated heritage assets). These are unlisted buildings 
that help to shape the character and appearance of the Conservation Area. A 
checklist for identifying positive contributors in a conservation area is shown 
opposite, based on the Historic England guidance. Some buildings may have 
suffered from unsympathetic alteration but could be restored to their original 
appearance relatively easily.

Detractors
Some elements of a conservation area may be out of character due to, for 
example, their scale, use of materials or the way they relate to neighbouring 
buildings. These are identified as detractors. 

P
age 113

A
genda Item

 8



Leigh Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft
Heritage assets

13

P
age 114

A
genda Item

 8



Leigh Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

14

3.7 Character Zones
Three zones of discernibly different character can be identified within Leigh 
Conservation Area, based on their spatial character and architectural qualities, 
historical development and the contribution they make to the conservation areas:

The features and individual characteristics of each zone that contribute to, 
or detract from the character and appearance of the conservation areas are 
summarised below. The boundaries of the Character Zones are shown on the 
map on page 15.

Character Zone 1: High Street and Pershurst Road
• Dominated by mid-to-late nineteenth-century buildings; 

• Strongly linear in character;

• Denser texture between Fleur de Lis in the west and the school in the east;

• Variety of building types, including all the village institutions such as the school, the 
village hall shop and pub;

• Views are constantly unfolding due to the curved alignment of the street;

• Views into the parkland of Hall Place;

• Front gardens, many well-kept, provide attractive setting for houses.

Important views: 1 (see map on page 19 for location of views)

P
age 115

A
genda Item

 8



Leigh Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft
Character zones

15

P
age 116

A
genda Item

 8



Leigh Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

16

Character Zone 2: The Green and St Mary’s Church
• All domestic properties with the exception of the church and the cricket pavilion;

• Picturesque grouping of buildings at its northern side i.e. Forge Square, The Forge, 
Forge House & Forge Cottage and South View;

• Loose texture of properties east of church and north of Powder Mill Lane, with 
houses widely spaced and set well back from the street; 

• On the southern and western side of the green loose texture with buildings set 
behind front gardens facing the green;long views over the green towards the 
church;

• Well-defined historic boundary at north-east corner of the village.

Important views: 2, 3, 4, 5  (see map on page 19 for location of views)

P
age 117

A
genda Item

 8



Leigh Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

17

Character Zone 3: Hall Place and park
• Characteristic English parkland of the eighteenth and nineteenth century; 

• Imposing neo-Tudor house by leading nineteenth-century architect George Devey;

• Distinctive lodge buildings and gateways positioned at eastern and western end of 
the village;

• Views into the park from High Street/Penshurst Road, although visual connection 
between the house and the village are obscured by mature trees and shrubs;

• Park wall along High Street/Penshurst Road makes a strong contribution to the 
conservation area;

• Other views into the park from the churchyard and the footpath on the east 
boundary of the conservation area;

• Of fundamental historic importance to the village.

Important views: 6, A (see map on page 19 for location of views)

P
age 118

A
genda Item

 8



Leigh Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

18

4.0 Views

Views make an important contribution to our ability to appreciate the character 
and appearance of the conservation area. 

Examples of the type of view that are important to Leigh Conservation Area are 
shown on the map on page 19. Such a list of views cannot be definitive, but 
illustrates the type of views that are important.

Important views in Leigh Conservation Area include: 

• Unfolding views of groups of buildings as one traverses the length of the High 
Street;

• Views across the village green; 

• Views from the village green towards the church;

• Views to the High Weald from the churchyard;

• Views across the parkland of Hall Place, including of the house itself from the 
public footpath.

Townscape views within the conservation area which 
include a mix of building types and materials and 
give a sense of the spatial character and architectural 
quality of the village. Trees play an important part in 
these views, but are sometimes intrusive (Views 1–3 
and 5–7).

Contextual views which look out to the landscape 
beyond the Conservation Area and give an 
understanding of its topography and rural setting 
(View 4).

Scenic views from outside the conservation area 
towards Hall Place and the village which help to 
appreciate its rural setting (View A).

P
age 119

A
genda Item

 8



Leigh Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft
Views

19

P
age 120

A
genda Item

 8



Leigh Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

20

5.0 Open space assessment
There are large amounts of open space within and around Leigh Conservation 
Area, some of which makes a strong contribution to its character. Open space 
contributes in two main ways:

• It allows views;

• It defines the built-up area of the village.

The extent of the contribution of individual parcels of open space depends on 
the way they are experienced. Hence, those which are visible in views from the 
main streets of the conservation area, or from the footpaths around the village 
make the greatest contribution. 

Open space is defined as common land, farmland, countryside and recreational 
spaces (including allotments, school grounds, churchyards and cemeteries). 
Private gardens and private car parks are excluded. Although the grounds of 
Hall Place are private, their visibility from public places and their fundamental 
importance to the conservation mean that they have been included in this 
assessment.

The contributions of individual parcels of land are shown on the map  
on page 21.

Open spaces inside the conservation area
• Open spaces inside the conservation area, notably the village green, create the 

sense of openness and rural character of the village and providing attractive 
settings for the buildings;

• The grounds of Hall Place provide the historic parkland setting associated with the 
character and status of a country house.

Open spaces outside the conservation area
• The portion of Hall Place park on Penshurst Road and between the footpath on the 

east side of the village and the mansion make a strong contribution,because they 
retaintheir historic parkland character which can be appreciated from the road; 

• The portion of Hall Place park which is now open farmland along Hildenborough 
Road at the entry to the village from the north: This is important in limiting 
and defining the historic boundary of the village, although it has lost its historic 
parkland appearance;

• Parts of Hall Place park away from the road and footpath:  these parts are integral 
to the setting and character of the country house but they are not experienced by 
many people and therefore make a lesser contribution;

• The land to the south of the conservation area makes little contribution since 
it is on the side of the village which has experienced major twentieth-century 
expansion, eroding the village’s historic boundary; none of it plays a part in 
important views towards the conservation area, nor is it experienced by many 
people. 

P
age 121

A
genda Item

 8



Leigh Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft
Open space

21

P
age 122

A
genda Item

 8



Leigh Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

22

6.0 Condition and issues

• Clutter around the old cattle trough at the entrance of the village detracts from 
this historic feature and the streetscene;

• Moving the Scout hut to a new location would  improve the setting of the 
architecturally and historically interesting waterworks building on Kiln Lane;

• Over-scaled new buildings and extensions on existing houses detract from the 
character and appearance of the conservation area; 

• Plastic windows and doors, which are alien and unsympathetic materials for 
historic buildings and therefore detract from their character;

• Encroachment by traffic onto the edges of the village green is currently managed 
successfully, but needs monitoring to ensure the character and appearance of the 
green is not harmed.

Clutter around the old cattle trough

Damage to the edges of the village green

P
age 123

A
genda Item

 8



Leigh Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

23

7.0 Management recommendations

Sevenoaks District Council has a statutory duty to review the management of 
conservation areas from time to time. The following recommendations have 
emerged from the assessment of the conservation area made in the preparation 
of this appraisal.

Guide for owners and residents on the effects of conservation 
area designation
Recommendation
 Sevenoaks District Council will issue guidance about what it means to own a 

building in a conservation area and to encourage stakeholders to take an active 
part in the preservation and enhancement of these areas.   

Conservation area designation brings with it additional responsibilities for owners 
and occupiers due to increased planning controls and particular requirements 
for materials and detailing in works to buildings. These are often outweighed by 
the benefits of living in an area of architectural integrity and traditional character, 
which people appreciate and which is often reflected in higher property values.

Design of new buildings and alterations to existing buildings
Recommendation
 When determining applications for planning permission, Sevenoaks District 

Council will take into account the Conservation Area Design Guidance which 
is issued with the revised appraisals. The guidance will be reviewed periodically 
to maximise its effectiveness. 

New buildings and alterations to existing buildings have an effect on the 
conservation area and Sevenoaks District Council will exercise its powers 
through the planning system to ensure that such changes preserve or enhance 
the character and appearance of the conservation area. The design guidance 
has been drafted to help applicants in putting together their proposals. It will be 
reviewed periodically to assess its effectiveness and revised if necessary. 

[Add LINK to Conservation Area Design Guidance]

P
age 124

A
genda Item

 8



Leigh Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

24

Development in the setting of the conservation area 
Recommendation
 Applications for permission to develop in the setting of the conservation 

area should be determined with reference to the open space assessment in 
this appraisal. 

Development in the setting of the conservation area can have a harmful impact 
if it would erode the village boundary where that is still well-defined, or would 
threaten its open character or harm important views. As identified in this 
appraisal, areas of open space in the setting of the conservation area differ in 
their contribution to its character and appearance (see section 5.0 for details).

• Development on areas of existing open space which make a strong contribution to 
the character of the conservation area is likely to have a harmful impact; 

• Development in areas which make some contribution may be possible without 
causing harm, subject to design, siting, scale, density, choice of materials and 
retention of mature trees and hedges. 

When proposing new development within the setting of the conservation area, 
applicants should assess and describe the likely impact of their proposals on the 
significance and built character of the area, on important views and on open 
space. Historic England’s Historic Environment Good Practice Advice Note 3 (2nd 
edition 2017) provides advice on assessing impacts of development on the 
setting of heritage assets.

Enforcement 
Recommendation
 In implementing its Planning Enforcement Plan, Sevenoaks District Council will 

pay special attention to preserving or enhancing the special qualities of the 
Leigh Conservation Area. 

The effective operation of the planning system depends on the ability to ensure 
that development is carried out in accordance with planning permission and to 
enforce against development carried out without planning permission. Sevenoaks 
District Council has adopted a Planning Enforcement Plan which sets out how 
it will respond to planning enforcement complaints. It can be downloaded 
from the Council’s website: www.sevenoaks.gov.uk/info/20069126/planning_
enforcement.

P
age 125

A
genda Item

 8



Leigh Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

25

Conservation area boundary
Recommendation
 Leigh Conservation Area should be extended to include Garden Cottages and 

properties on Powder Mill Lane , so as to protect buildings which contribute to 
the conservation area’s special interest.

The proposed new boundary is shown on the map on page 26.

The properties that are recommended for addition to the conservation area are 
nos. 1–22 Garden Cottages, 21 and 22 Barnetts Road, 1 Powder Mill Lane, The 
Hawthorns, Oak Tree Cottage The Beeches, The Cottage and Rosslyn, all on 
Powder Mill Lane.

• 1–22 Garden Cottages

Garden Cottages is an intact grouping of early twentieth-century houses 
designed by the noted architects Smith and Brewer. It is of historic interest as 
a representative, but early example of the co-partnership housing model which 
flourished in the early twentieth-century, most notably in the garden cities. It also 
has historic associations with two local figures, Liberal MP Alfred Paget Hedges 
and Dr Frank Fraser and illustrates an important aspect of Leigh’s social history. 
Architecturally it is of interest as a set-piece, single-phase development that in 
layout and house design incorporates many features that are associated with the 
nationally important Arts and Craft style and garden city movement. The building 
form and layout of the development survives intact.

• 21 and 22 Barnetts Road, 1 Powder Mill Lane, The Hawthorns, Oak Tree Cottage 
The Beeches, The Cottage and Rosslyn, all on Powder Mill Lane

This run of twentieth-century houses on Powder Mill Lane contributes positively 
to the character and appearance of the conservation area because of their 
traditional forms and sympathetic scale,  materials and details, such as clay 
tile roofs, roughcast walls and casement windows. It is recommended that the 
strip of land on the north side of Powder Mill Lane, opposite these houses, is 

also included in the conservation area, to protect their setting. This follows the 
precedent at the west end of Powder Mill Lane, where a strip of land by the road 
successfully preserves the rural character and appearance of the area, despite the 
houses built behind it (i.e. Oak Lodge to Hedgerows).

If added to Conservation Area, these buildings would form a separate character 
zone, the characteristics of which would be as follows:

• Early to mid twentieth-century small houses of traditional character combined with 
Arts and Crafts influences; 

• Garden Cottages is an intact grouping of early twentieth-century houses designed 
by the noted architects Smith and Brewer;

• The ‘green’ in the centre of the Garden Cottages development makes a positive 
contribution.

Important views: n/a

Garden Cottages

P
age 126

A
genda Item

 8



Leigh Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft
Proposed additions

26

P
age 127

A
genda Item

 8



Leigh Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

27

Public realm 
Recommendation
 Streets and public open spaces should be managed in a way that enhances 

their character and contribution to the conservation area.

The street furniture on the High Street is a mixture of standard, poor quality 
design and some more appropriate, sometimes historic elements. The character 
and appearance of the High Street and the Village Green are sensitive to changes 
in street furniture and surfaces and careful consideration is needed before any 
changes are made. Small changes made over time can easily have a negative 
cumulative effect. 

More sensitive, better quality design and removal of unnecessary or superfluous 
street furniture or signage would help to enhance the conservation area. The 
edges of the Village Green need special attention to ensure they are not eroded 
by traffic. 

Management of the public realm depends on public bodies rather than owners 
of private property. Kent County Council, Sevenoaks District Council and Leigh 
Parish Council should refer to Historic England’s guidance in Streets for All (latest 
edition 2018) in any public realm works they propose or carry out. For more 
information go to: www.historicengland.org.uk/publications.

P
age 128

A
genda Item

 8



Alan Baxter
Prepared by  Nicolas Chapple  
Reviewed by  Robert Hradsky 
Draft issued  September 2018

T:\1837\1837-190\12 DTP Data\CA Appraisals\printed versions\Leigh\1837-190_Sevenoaks CA Appraisal_Leigh_2018_PRINT.indd

This document is for the sole use of the person or organisation for whom it has been prepared under the 
terms of an invitation or appointment by such person or organisation.  Unless and to the extent allowed for 
under the terms of such invitation or appointment this document should not be copied or used or relied 
upon in whole or in part by third parties for any purpose whatsoever.  If this document has been issued as 
a report under the terms of an appointment by such person or organisation, it is valid only at the time of its 
production.  Alan Baxter Ltd does not accept liability for any loss or damage arising from unauthorised use 
of this document. 

If this document has been issued as a ‘draft’, it is issued solely for the purpose of client and/or team 
comment and must not be used for any other purpose without the written permission of Alan Baxter Ltd. 

Alan Baxter Ltd is a limited company registered in England and Wales, number 06600598.  
Registered office: 75 Cowcross Street, London, EC1M 6EL.

© Copyright subsists in this document.

P
age 129

A
genda Item

 8



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Seal Conservation 
Area Appraisal 
Draft 

September 2018

1.0 Overview of Seal Conservation Area 1
2.0 Historical development 3
3.0 Architectural and built character 5
4.0 Views 19
5.0 Open space assessment 21
6.0 Condition and issues 24
7.0 Management recommendations 25

This draft Conservation Area Appraisal for Seal Conservation Area supports 
the duty of Sevenoaks District Council under section 71 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to prepare proposals for 
the preservation and enhancement of conservation areas and to consult the 
public about those proposals.

For details of the methodology employed in assessing the conservation area 
and preparing the appraisal, see the Sevenoaks District Conservation Areas: an 
introduction to appraisals revised in 2018, available at http// etc

P
age 131

A
genda Item

 8



Seal Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

1

1.0 Overview of Seal Conservation Area
The village of Seal lies 2 miles to the north-east of the town of Sevenoaks, on 
an historic east-west route through Kent which is now the A25. To the north 
is the M26 and beyond that the North Downs. It sits within the Kent Downs 
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and some open spaces on the edges of the 
conservation area are included in the Metropolitan Green Belt.

Conservation area boundary
Seal Conservation Area comprises the historic built-up area of the village of Seal 
along with the Recreation Ground to the west and part of the northern edge of the 
Wildernesse estate. The Wildernesse Conservation Area abuts Seal Conservation 
Area to the south. 

Designation history
Seal Conservation Area was designated in 1972 and extended in 1987 and again in 
2006. The previous Conservation Area Appraisal was published in December 2003. 

Topography and geology
The village sits on the Greensand ridge, from which the stone used in many village 
buildings comes. To the north is the Vale of Holmesdale with Guzzle Brook, a 
tributary of the River Darent, running through it. Beyond that rises the chalk 
escarpment of the North Downs. Views over the vale towards the downs are an 
important characteristic of the conservation area.

Summary of special interest
Seal is an attractive village with a well-preserved historic townscape. The main 
features of Seal Conservation Area’s special historic and architectural interest are:

• It retains the character and appearance of a traditional Kentish village;

• An attractive, informal streetscape composed of buildings of varied but traditional 
character;

• A well defined village boundary;

• A rich mix of historic buildings including a medieval parish church, a small number 
of medieval houses, some good Georgian domestic architecture and a good 
collection of late nineteenth-century ‘Old English’-style buildings;

• A large number of buildings and structures that are listed;

• Visual harmony resulting from use of a limited palette of local, natural building 
materials and colours;

• Traditional craftsmanship embodied in original building materials and architectural 
features;

• A strong visual connection with the North Downs;

• The parish church is an important landmark.

P
age 132

A
genda Item

 8



Seal Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

2

Existing boundary

P
age 133

A
genda Item

 8



Seal Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

3

2.0 Historical development
Beginnings
Seal lies on the ancient Saxon Road from Winchester to Maidstone and is 
mentioned in the Domesday book. From the earliest times up to the middle 
of the twentieth century it was a predominantly agricultural community, with 
pasture, arable and fruit growing; hops were grown locally from at least the 
sixteenth century. The oldest parts of the parish church date to the thirteenth 
century and it was enlarged with a typical Kentish west tower in the 1520s. 

The village green, on the north side of the High Street, was being encroached 
upon as early as the fifteenth century, when Forge Cottage was built. There are 
at least four medieval hall-houses in Seal village: the former Kentish Yeoman, the 
former Crown, 29-31 High Street and Camden House in School Lane.

Georgian Seal
The second half of the eighteenth century saw a number of prestigious houses 
built in Seal, such as The Croft, Church Street (1767–73) and the Grey House 
(c.1760). Other Georgian buildings in Seal include the 5 Bells Inn and the cottages 
to the west of it, as encroachment on the village green continued. Medieval 
houses were modernised with new brick or tile facades. 

Nineteenth century
By the mid-nineteenth century the local economy was still based on agriculture, 
and associated trades such as blacksmiths, wheelwrights, harness-makers, 
saddlers and farriers were located in the village. A particular specialism was 
developed in edge-tool manufacturing. At the church, the north aisle was added 
by the architect George Gilbert Scott in 1855 and the churchyard was extended 
northwards in 1869.

The late nineteenth century saw many new buildings in the village. The Coffee 
Tavern at the east end of the High Street was built in the early 1880s, to 
discourage drunkenness, and the Bible Christian Chapel in Church Street was 
built in 1886. Much of the development at this time is associated with local 
benefactor Lord Hillingdon who lived at nearby Wildernesse. Under his patronage 
the Village Hall, Fire Station and a number of houses were built and the land for 
the Recreation Ground and the Allotments was given over to the village.  

Twentieth century
Seal expanded significantly in the 1920s (the parish population increased from 
1,600 in 1921 to 2,078 in 1931), with developments to the north of the historic 
village, a mixture of public and private housing. The 2nd Lord Hillingdon sold 
Wildernesse in 1924 and it became a country club. After the Second World War, 
agriculture was still the principal local industry. In 1945 Herbert Schwartz, a 
former German prisoner of war, set up Seal General Engineers in the outbuildings 
of Church Farm. The village continued to expand to the north after the war, 
as Seal steadily turned from an agricultural to a commuter settlement. At the 
same time, increasing traffic, particularly on the High Street, has altered the rural 
character of the village.

P
age 134

A
genda Item

 8



Seal Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

4

Historic OS 1894

P
age 135

A
genda Item

 8



Seal Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

5

3.0 Architectural and built character
3.1 Spatial character
The spatial character of Seal is a good example of a settlement built around the 
three key elements of main street, village green and parish church. It can be 
summarised as follows:  

• The High Street has continuous development along its length, with most buildings 
tight up against the pavement; 

• North of the High Street is a network of narrow streets with informally grouped 
buildings around two small greens that are remnants of the former village green;

• Many houses along the High Street have historic outbuildings in their back yards;

• The church stands at the north-eastern extremity of the village providing a 
landmark to the area;

• Larger houses set in generous gardens, and the churchyard create a greater sense 
of openness and greenery in the north-eastern part of the conservation area;

• The land falls away to the north allowing views towards the North Downs and 
giving an understanding of local topography;

• Open space on the edges of the conservation area mean that Seal can still be 
understood as a discrete settlement.

P
age 136

A
genda Item

 8



Seal Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

6

3.2 Building forms and details
The historic buildings of the conservation area 
are strongly traditional in character and can be 
summarised  as follows:

• Small-scale and domestic in character;

• Some larger-scale buildings on the High Street and 
Church Street;

• Predominantly two storeys; 

• Traditional forms of pitched roofs often with gable 
ends facing the street;

• Unbroken roof slopes; 

• Brick chimneys, often tall and prominent;

• Timber-framed sash or casement windows, mostly 
small-paned, with square or segmental heads;

• Panelled timber doors.

Small-scale and domestic Two storeys with unbroken roof slopes

Brick chimneys Sash windows and casement windows

P
age 137

A
genda Item

 8



Seal Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

7

3.3 Architectural styles
Seal has a rich mix of architectural styles and 
detailing that reflect the incremental development 
of the village. The predominant types of historic 
architecture in Seal Conservation Area are: 

• Kentish vernacular: a style characterised by the 
use of locally available materials that reflect local 
custom and building tradition. Characteristic 
features within Seal include Ragstone walls, timber 
frame walling, tile hanging, steeply pitched roofs 
covered with plain clay (Kent peg) tiles, and painted 
timber weatherboarding;

• Georgian domestic architecture, characterised 
by Flemish bond brickwork or rendered facades, 
symmetrical elevations and sash windows. Example 
in the village include both large houses e.g. the Grey 
House, Church Road, and small scale cottages; 

•  ‘Old English’ style buildings of the late nineteenth 
century.

Vernacular Vernacular

Georgian domestic

Old English

Georgian domestic

Old English

P
age 138

A
genda Item

 8



Seal Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

8

3.4 Traditional building materials
Before 1850
Historically there was plentiful timber in the parish 
for building, as well stone quarries, and brickworks 
at Seal Chart. Characteristic materials dating from 
pre-1850 are:

• Timber frame walling, mostly now concealed, 

• Local red brick, usually laid in Flemish bond and 
often with burnt/blue headers;

• Tile-hanging on upper storeys;

• Plain clay (Kent peg) tile roofs;

• Rubble stone, mostly Kentish Ragstone (grey), but 
also Folkestone sandstone (yellow) and ironstone 
(dark brown), used widely for the return walls of 
houses or for boundary walls or simply as a plinth 
for a house; 

• Timber weatherboarding; 

• Use of brick tile hanging i.e. mathematical tiles; 

• Rare examples of Rat Trap brick bonding.

Tile-hanging and weatherboarding Local red brick

Red brick and Kentish ragstone Weatherboarding

P
age 139

A
genda Item

 8



Seal Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

9

After 1850
Use of materials from the mid-nineteenth century 
onwards was influenced by the more economic 
transport of materials and from, the 1880s, a revival 
of vernacular styles. As a result the characteristic 
materials are:

• Half-timbering; 

• Red brick;

• Tile-hanging on upper storeys;

• Clay tile roofs, often with decorative ridges and 
finials; 

• Kentish Ragstone; 

• Yellow brick.

Half-timbering Clay tile roofs with decorative ridges

Red brick and tile-hanging Kentish ragstone and yellow brick

P
age 140

A
genda Item

 8



Seal Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

10

3.5 Boundaries and streetscape
A large number of buildings within the conservation 
area stand right on the edge of the pavement or the 
street, with no front garden or yard. Where historic 
boundary treatments occur they tend to be low and 
make an important contribution to the streetscape, 
either as retaining walls or as traditional separation 
between private and public space.

The most common boundary treatments within the 
area are:

• Kentish Ragstone walls, sometimes with brick 
dressings; 

• Brick walls;

• Timber palings;

• A notable example of nineteenth-century iron railings 
in front of Camden Terrace on School Lane.

Road and pavement surfaces are mostly tarmac, with 
concrete kerbs, although parts of School Lane, Church 
Street and the High Street have better quality, brick 
paving.  

The street furniture on the High Street is standard, 
poor quality design and therefore harmful to the 
character and appearance of the conservation area. 
There is also a profusion of traffic signage at certain 
points on the High Street. 

The Victorian stone horse trough at the junction of 
Church Street and High Street, a K6 telephone box 
outside the village hall and a Post Office pillar box 
outside the parade of shops on the High Street make 
positive contributions.  

Kentish Ragstone walls Brick walls

Timber palings

Brick paving

Iron railings

Victorian stone horse trough

P
age 141

A
genda Item

 8



Seal Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

11

3.6 Heritage assets, positive contributors and detractors
The buildings and structures of the conservation areas contribute in different 
ways to its overall character and appearance, some positively (positive 
contributors including listed buildings), others negatively (detractors). The 
contributions of individual elements are shown on the map on page 12.

Positive contributors
The conservation areas contains a large number of heritage assets, both 
designated and non-designated, all of which add to the architectural and historic 
interest of the conservation area. The extent of a building’s contribution to the 
character and appearance of the area is not limited to its street elevations but 
also depends on its integrity as an historic structure and the impact it has in three 
dimensions. Rear elevations can be important, as can side views from alleys and 
yards.

• Listed buildings (designated heritage assets). Buildings or structures that have 
been designated by national government as having special historic or architectural 
interest at a national level. For further details, see https://www.historicengland.org.
uk/listing/what-is-designation/ 

• Positive contributors (non-designated heritage assets). These are unlisted buildings 
that help to shape the character and appearance of the Conservation Area. Some 
buildings may have suffered from unsympathetic alteration but could be restored 
to their original appearance relatively easily. A checklist for identifying positive 
contributors in a conservation area is given in the Historic England guidance 
Conservation Area Designation, Appraisal and Management (2018).

Detractors
Some elements of a conservation area may be out of character due to, for 
example, their scale, use of materials or the way they relate to neighbouring 
buildings. These are identified as detractors. 

P
age 142

A
genda Item

 8



Seal Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

12

Heritage assets

P
age 143

A
genda Item

 8



Seal Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

13

3.7 Character Zones
Five zones of discernibly different character can be identified within Seal 
Conservation Area, based on their spatial character and architectural qualities, 
historical development and the contribution they make to the conservation areas:

The features and individual characteristics of each zone that contribute to, or detract 
from the character and appearance of the conservation areas are summarised below. 
The boundaries of the Character Zones are shown on the .

Character Zone 1: High Street
• Strongly linear character with long views up and down the street;

• To the east, the built-up area stops decisively, giving the village a clear boundary; to 
the west sporadic development on both sides of the street has blurred the boundary;

• A streetscape of a rich mix of styles and architectural details unified by a consistent 
colour palette and texture of red clay roof tiles, hanging tiles and brick and white 
painted timber and render surfaces; 

• Includes a number of prominent individual buildings: the library, the nineteenth-
century Village Hall, the two former pubs, Old Seal House and no.26;

• Buildings mostly front straight on to the pavement although some have front 
gardens;

• Views along the central section are animated by slight variations in building line and 
roofline and rhythm of gable ends facing the street;

• Retains the character of the historic commercial centre of the parish with 
commercial/retail units fronting the street and some shopfronts having been retained 
in units converted into domestic use;

• A number of yards and alleyways with associated outbuildings illustrate the close 
grain of the village’s historic development; 

• Trees and the line of the North Downs form an attractive backdrop to views that 
also allows understanding of local topography.

Important views: 1, 4, 7, 8 (see map on page 20 for location of views)

P
age 144

A
genda Item

 8



Seal Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

14

Character zones

P
age 145

A
genda Item

 8



Seal Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

15

Character Zone 2: North of the High Street
• A tight network of lanes developed from the medieval period onwards; 

• Fragments of the old village green to east and west are key features;

• Narrow or no pavements with buildings of various ages, often grouped in terraces;

• Dwellings predominantly small workers and artisan cottages, with some houses of 
larger scale dating from the late nineteenth century;

• From the north side of Church Road the ground slopes steeply away, creating 
distant views to the North Downs.

Important views: 2, 3 (see map on page 20 for location of views)

P
age 146

A
genda Item

 8



Seal Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

16

Character Zone 3: Area around the church east of Childsbridge Lane

• A more open texture and rural character than in Zones 1 and 2;

• Provides transition to open countryside to the north-east;

• Substantial houses in large gardens and the church in its churchyard;

• Long rubble stone boundary walls lining Church Street are a key feature;

• Workshops and sheds in the former yard of Church Farm add to the rural character of 
this zone;

• Good views of the medieval parish church; 

• Extensive views to the North Downs from the north side of the church;

• Open space on either side of Childsbridge Lane creates an important separation 
between the historic village and the twentieth-century extension to the north.

Important views: 3, 5, 6 (see map on page 20 for location of views)P
age 147

A
genda Item

 8



Seal Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

17

Character Zone 4: Recreation Ground 
• The Recreation Ground provides a buffer between the historic village and the 

twentieth-century extension to the north and ribbon development to the west;

• Glimpsed views of the church and of the North Downs from parts of the 
Recreation Ground.

Important views in Character Zone 4: n/a

P
age 148

A
genda Item

 8



Seal Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

18

Character Zone 5: South of the High Street 
• The southern approach to the village retains a rural character, giving a strong 

definition to the built-up area of the village;

• The former stable block and lodge to Wildernesse are key features, illustrating the 
historic connection between the village and the Wildernesse House and estate;

• A long rubble stone wall on the east side of Park Lane is a key feature;

• Substantial houses set well back from the road in large gardens.

Important views: n/a

P
age 149

A
genda Item

 8



Seal Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

19

4.0 Views

Views make an important contribution to our ability to appreciate the character 
and appearance of the conservation area. 

Two types of view have been identified, along with examples of each type. These 
are shown on the map on page 20.

Such a list of views cannot be definitive, but illustrates the nature of views that 
are important to Seal Conservation Area.

Townscape views within the conservation area which include a mix of building 
types and materials and give a sense of the spatial character and architectural 
quality of the village. (Views 1–5, 7– 8).

Contextual views which look out to the landscape beyond the Conservation Area 
and give an understanding of its topography and setting (View 6). 

The important views are characterised by the interaction of informal groups of 
buildings of a strongly traditional character with the local topography. The only 
landmark building in the Conservation Area is the church, which can be seen 
quite widely, e.g. from the Recreation Ground and the Allotments, as well as in 
the views identified here.

P
age 150

A
genda Item

 8



Seal Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

20

Views

P
age 151

A
genda Item

 8



Seal Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

21

5.0 Open space assessment
There are large amounts of open space within and around Seal Conservation 
Area, some of which makes a strong contribution to its character. Open space 
contributes in two main ways:

• Allows views;

• Defines the built-up area of the village.

The extent of the contribution of individual parcels of open space depends on the 
way they are experienced. Hence, those which are visible in views from the streets 
of the Conservation Area tend to be the most important. Seal is not easily viewed 
from the surrounding landscape and the footpath which approaches from the north 
only gives a view of the church, not the Conservation Area as a whole.

Open space is defined as common land, farmland, countryside and recreational 
spaces (including allotments, school grounds, churchyards and cemeteries). Private 
gardens and private car parks are excluded. Much of the land surrounding Seal 
Conservation Area is comprised of private gardens and therefore does not come 
within the definition of open space used for this assessment. 

The contributions of individual parcels of land are shown on the map  
on page 23.

Open space inside the conservation area

• The ‘greens’ at road junctions contribute to the conservation area’s historic interest 
as fragments of the old village green; 

• The churchyard, Church Farm fields and the north end of the Recreation Ground 
combine with the Allotments (outside the CA) to create a separation between the 
historic village and the twentieth-century extension to the north;

• The churchyard also allows extensive views over farmland towards the North 
Downs;

Part of the old village green

The Recreation Ground

P
age 152

A
genda Item

 8



Seal Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

22

• The Recreation Ground and the Church Farm fields allow good views of the 
church;

• Small amounts of open space at either end of the High Street help to create an 
understanding of Seal as a discrete village settlement.

Open space outside the conservation area

• The Allotments form part of a buffer between the historic village and its twentieth-
century extension to the north;

• Farmland to the north-east of the village helps to define the village boundary and 
enables extensive views to the North Downs;

• The southern approaches to the village still have a strong rural character thanks to 
open space either side of Grove Road and Park Lane;

• Due to the local topography and the extent of vegetation to the south side of the 
Conservation Area there is no visual connection between the open space there and 
the Conservation Area.

The Allotments

The buffer between the historic village and its twentieth-century extension

P
age 153

A
genda Item

 8



Seal Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

23

Open space

P
age 154

A
genda Item

 8



Seal Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

24

6.0 Condition and issues

The character and appearance of the conservation area is generally well-
preserved. There are, however, some issues which affect it and should be 
addressed in the ongoing management of the conservation area.

• Heavy traffic and the lack of crossing points turn the A25 into a physical barrier 
between the northern and southern side of the High Street;

• A profusion of traffic signage and poor quality street furniture and street surfaces 
detract from the character of the High Street and setting of listed buildings;

• The light-industrial warehouse at Church Farm west of the church detracts from 
the setting of the church;

• Inappropriate uPVC replacement windows e.g.in the terrace of Nos. 3 – 9 High 
Street;

• Inappropriate pointing to some Ragstone walls.
Traffic and other signage harming the setting of listed buildings on the High Street

Inappropriate pointing to some Ragstone walls

P
age 155

A
genda Item

 8



Seal Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

25

7.0 Management recommendations

Sevenoaks District Council has a statutory duty to review the management of 
conservation areas from time to time. The following recommendations have 
emerged from the assessment of the conservation area in Seal made in the 
preparation of this appraisal.

Guide for owners and residents on the effects of conservation 
area designation
Recommendation

 Sevenoaks District Council will issue guidance about what it means to own a 
building in a conservation area and to encourage stakeholders to take an active 
part in the preservation and enhancement of these areas.   

Conservation area designation brings with it additional responsibilities for owners 
and occupiers due to increased planning controls and particular requirements 
for materials and detailing in works to buildings. These are often outweighed by 
the benefits of living in an area of architectural integrity and traditional character, 
which people appreciate and which is often reflected in higher property values.

Design of new buildings and alterations to existing buildings
Recommendation

 When determining applications for planning permission, Sevenoaks District 
Council will take into account the Conservation Area Design Guidance which 
is issued with the revised appraisals. The guidance will be reviewed periodically 
to maximise its effectiveness. 

New buildings and alterations to existing buildings have an effect on the 
conservation area and Sevenoaks District Council will exercise its powers 
through the planning system to ensure that such changes preserve or enhance 
the character and appearance of the conservation area. The design guidance 
has been drafted to help applicants in putting together their proposals. It will be 
reviewed periodically to assess its effectiveness and revised if necessary. 

[Add LINK to Conservation Area Design Guidance]

P
age 156

A
genda Item

 8



Seal Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

26

Development in the setting of the conservation area 
Recommendation

 Applications for permission to develop in the setting of the conservation area 
should be determined with reference to the open space assessment in this 
appraisal. 

Development in the setting of the conservation area could potentially have a 
harmful impact if it erodes the village boundary where that is still well-defined 
or harms important views. As identified in this appraisal, different areas of 
open space around the conservation area make a different contribution to the 
character and appearance (see section 5.0 for details).

• Development on areas of existing open space which make a strong contribution to 
the character of the conservation area is likely to have a harmful impact; 

• Development in areas which make some contribution may be possible without 
causing harm, subject to design, siting, scale, density, choice of materials and 
retention of mature trees. 

To help determine whether the impact of proposed development is harmful 
to the character and appearance of the conservation areas, applicants should 
undertake an assessment of the likely impact of their proposals on the built 
character of the area, on important views and on open space. Historic England’s 
Historic Environment Good Practice Advice Note 3 (2nd edition 2017) provides 
advice on assessing impacts of development on the setting of heritage assets.

Enforcement 
Recommendation

 In implementing its Planning Enforcement Plan, Sevenoaks District Council will 
pay special attention to preserving or enhancing the special qualities of the 
Leigh Conservation Area. 

The effective operation of the planning system depends on the ability to ensure 
that development is carried out in accordance with planning permission and to 
enforce against development carried out without planning permission. Sevenoaks 
District Council has adopted a Planning Enforcement Plan which sets out how 
it will respond to planning enforcement complaints. It can be downloaded 
from the Council’s website: www.sevenoaks.gov.uk/info/20069126/planning_
enforcement.

Public realm 
Recommendation

 Streets and public open spaces should be managed in a way that enhances 
their character and contribution to the conservation area.

The street furniture and pavement surfaces on the High Street are standard, poor 
quality design and harmful to the character and appearance of the conservation 
area. There is also a profusion of traffic signage at certain points on the High 
Street. More sensitive, better quality design and removal of unnecessary or 
superfluous street furniture or signage would help to enhance the conservation 
area.

This depends on public bodies rather than owners of private property. Kent 
County Council, Sevenoaks District Council and Seal Parish Council should 
refer to Historic England’s guidance in Streets for All (latest edition 2018) in any 
public realm works they propose or carry out. For more information go to: www.
historicengland.org.uk/publications

P
age 157

A
genda Item

 8



Alan Baxter
Prepared by  Nicolas Chapple  
Reviewed by  Robert Hradsky 
Draft issued  September 2018 

T:\1837\1837-190\12 DTP Data\CA Appraisals\printed versions\Seal\1837-190_Sevenoaks CA Appraisal_Seal_2018_PRINT.indd

This document is for the sole use of the person or organisation for whom it has been prepared under the 
terms of an invitation or appointment by such person or organisation.  Unless and to the extent allowed for 
under the terms of such invitation or appointment this document should not be copied or used or relied 
upon in whole or in part by third parties for any purpose whatsoever.  If this document has been issued as 
a report under the terms of an appointment by such person or organisation, it is valid only at the time of its 
production.  Alan Baxter Ltd does not accept liability for any loss or damage arising from unauthorised use 
of this document. 

If this document has been issued as a ‘draft’, it is issued solely for the purpose of client and/or team 
comment and must not be used for any other purpose without the written permission of Alan Baxter Ltd. 

Alan Baxter Ltd is a limited company registered in England and Wales, number 06600598.  
Registered office: 75 Cowcross Street, London, EC1M 6EL.

© Copyright subsists in this document.

P
age 158

A
genda Item

 8



Draft

Shoreham 
Conservation Area 
Appraisals Draft 

September 2018

1.0 Overview of Shoreham conservation areas 1
2.0 Historical development 3
3.0 Architectural and built character 6
4.0 Views 19
5.0 Open space assessment 21
6.0 Condition and issues 23
7.0 Management recommendations 24

This draft appraisal for Shoreham High Street and Shoreham Mill Lane 
conservation areas supports the duty of Sevenoaks District Council under 
section 71 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990 to prepare proposals for the preservation and enhancement of 
conservation areas and to consult the public about those proposals. 

For details of the methodology employed in assessing the conservation area 
and preparing the appraisal, see the Sevenoaks District Conservation Areas: an 
introduction to appraisals revised in 2018, available at http// etc

For details of the methodology 
employed in assessing the 
conservation areas and 
preparing the appraisal, see 
the General Introduction to 
Conservation Area Appraisals 
available at http// etc.

P
age 159

A
genda Item

 8



Shoreham Conservation Areas Draft Appraisals   September 2018

Draft

1

1.0 Overview of Shoreham conservation areas
Shoreham is an historic village in west Kent with a population of 2,041 (2011 
census). It is four miles to the north of Sevenoaks and 19 miles south-east of 
central London. The village lies in the valley of the River Darent, giving it a sense 
of remoteness, even though the M25 is only a mile to the west. It is connected 
to Sevenoaks and London by the railway which first opened in 1862. Shoreham 
lies within the Metropolitan Green Belt and the Kent Downs Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty.

Conservation area boundary
There are two conservation areas in Shoreham: Shoreham High Street and 
Shoreham Mill Lane. Together they encompass the whole of the historic village. 
Twentieth-century housing developments within and on the edges of the village are 
excluded from the conservation areas. 

Designation history
Shoreham High Street Conservation Area and Shoreham Mill Lane Conservation 
Area were both designated in 1972 and subsequently extended in 2006.

Topography and geology
The topography of the village has been shaped by the River Darent, which flows 
through a gap in the North Downs north of Sevenoaks. The High Street runs along 
the lower slope of the west side of the river valley. The rest of the village lies below, 
with the river meandering through it. Church Street connects the High Street to 
the bridge over the river and on to the parish church. The presence of the river and 
the views across the valley are crucial to Shoreham’s sense of place and its special 
character.  

The village sits on the band of chalk which forms the North Downs and in which flints 
abound. As a result there is no good local building stone, but much use is made of flint. 
Nearby are areas of clay which provided materials for making roof tiles and bricks.

Summary of special interest
Shoreham is an attractive riverside village in a beautiful landscape setting. The 
main features of the special historic and architectural interest of the Shoreham 
High Street and Shoreham Mill Lane conservation areas are:

• Rich in historic buildings comprising mainly small rural vernacular houses, including 
some late-medieval timber-framed houses, a fine parish church and good examples 
of Georgian domestic architecture;

• Predominantly a linear settlement developed along two main streets: High Street 
and Church Street;

• A well-defined boundary which preserves the village’s rural character, with only 
limited twentieth-century expansion;  

• A strong visual connection with the enfolding landscape of the Darent valley, made 
possible by its topographical position and the loose texture of its built form; 

• Parish church tower provides an important landmark from vantage points within 
the valley;

• Townscape has a varied but harmonious character, thanks to the consistently 
small scale of building and the continued use of traditional Kentish materials and 
architectural styles; 

• The area around the site of the old paper mill illustrates the impact of an industry 
which was traditionally important in Kent;

• Traditional craftsmanship embodied in original building materials and architectural 
features.

P
age 160

A
genda Item

 8



Shoreham Conservation Areas Draft Appraisals   September 2018

Draft

2

Existing boundaries

Shoreham Mill Lane

Shoreham High Street 
and Church Street

Existing boundaries

P
age 161

A
genda Item

 8



Shoreham Conservation Areas Draft Appraisals   September 2018

Draft

3

2.0 Historical development
Beginnings
Shoreham developed as a farming community from the fifth century onwards, 
based around a ford over the River Darent and confined by the thickly wooded 
ridges of the valley. The earliest surviving building is the parish church, which has 
some fabric dating back to the early twelfth century. 

Middle ages to 1800
Growth of the village was very slow before the nineteenth century and it was 
concentrated in the area between the church and the river. In the late fifteenth 
and early sixteenth century several substantial timber-framed houses were built, 
including Ye Olde George Inn (originally a private house), Ivy Cottage and Tudor 
Cottage, and part of what is now Chapel Alley Cottages. In the same period the 
south aisle, south porch and rood screen were added to the church. A paper mill 
was established to the north of the village in 1690, taking advantage of the clean, 
fast-flowing water of the River Darent. Only the Mill House survives of what was 
once a large complex of mill buildings.

Nineteenth century
By the beginning of the nineteenth century the village was still an isolated 
agricultural community, poorly connected by road to the rest of Kent. Over the 
course of the century, however, the population almost doubled (from 828 in 
1801 to 1,515 in 1901). Signs of expansion were construction of the Methodist 
chapel behind the Rising Sun (1836; no longer in use), a substantial mansion for 
the Mildmay family at Shoreham Place (1838; demolished 1950s) and the school 
(1841).

Impact of the railways
The railway arrived in 1862, on a new line between Sevenoaks and Swanley, 
connecting to an existing line into London. This boosted the local economy, 
making it easier to transport agricultural produce and paper from the mill. On 
the back of his expanding profits, the mill owner, George Wilmott, built The 
Mount as his home in 1869. The railway also brought visitors into the area and 
it became popular with walkers and cyclists. Despite the increase in population, 
only one new street was developed, Crown Road, which was laid out in 1869 
and developed with houses for the workers in the paper mill. In the High Street 
and Church Street a few new houses were added, increasing the density of the 
village. 

1900–1945
In the early twentieth century Shoreham was a busy place with six pubs (of 
which four survive), a laundry, a Post Office, a school, three forges, and several 
shops including a bakery, a grocer’s and a draper’s. As well as the parish church 
there was a Methodist Chapel in the High Street and the Baptist Chapel in 
Crown Road. Yet there was also a good deal of poverty in the village and several 
cottages had to be demolished as unfit for human habitation, for instance those 
on the site of Marne Cottages. 

In 1920 the War Memorial cross was cut into the hillside above the High Street 
by the villagers themselves. New houses were built by the local authority to 
the south-west of the village, in Mesnes Way and Bowers Road. The paper mill 
closed in 1926 and most of the buildings were demolished in 1936. The village 
was bombed sporadically during the Second World War, the damage including 
the destruction of Town Field Cottages (on the site of 72–76a High Street) and 
the loss of most of the stained glass windows in the church.

P
age 162

A
genda Item

 8



Shoreham Conservation Areas Draft Appraisals   September 2018

Draft

4

A view of Shoreham in the early nineteenth century by Samuel Palmer

©
 Ya

le
 C

en
te

r f
or

 B
riti

sh
 A

rtPost-1945
The village expanded significantly after the Second World War, with new 
developments in Boakes Meadow, Forge Way, Palmers Orchard and Mildmay 
Place (all excluded from the conservation areas) and individual houses on the 
High Street and on Church Street south-east of the bridge. Most of the shops 
and businesses have closed during the twentieth century and the buildings 
converted to residential use, although four of the pubs survive, helped by 
Shoreham’s continued popularity with walkers and cyclists. There have been no 
major additions to the village in the twenty-first century. 

Historical associations
The artist Samuel Palmer (1805–81) lived in the village for eight years in the 
1820s and 30s, during which time he was visited by, among others, William 
Blake. He lived for some of that time at Water House (marked by a plaque) 
and is associated with a number of other buildings in the village. John Wesley 
(1703–91) visited Shoreham regularly during the incumbency of the Revd 
Vincent Perronet in the parish and preached at the parish church. Verney Lovett 
Cameron (1844–94), son of another Vicar of Shoreham, the first European to 
cross Equatorial Africa from coast to coast (he is buried in the churchyard and 
subject of a fine painting in the church).

P
age 163

A
genda Item

 8



Shoreham Conservation Areas Draft Appraisals   September 2018

Draft

5

Historic OS 1894

Existing boundaries

P
age 164

A
genda Item

 8



Shoreham Conservation Areas Draft Appraisals   September 2018

Draft

6

3.0 Architectural and built character
3.1 Spatial character
Shoreham is a good example of a linear settlement developed gradually over 
centuries. It can be summarised as follows:  

• The village has been built up around a river crossing, in a linear fashion along two 
main streets – High Street and Church Street – with little backland development 
prior to the twentieth century;

• The buildings are all small in scale, creating a sense of openness; 

• Most buildings are grouped in pairs or in small rows of three to six buildings;  

• The streets – with the exception of Crown Road – meander, and rise and fall, 
revealing and concealing views as one moves along them; 

• In Mill Lane, the High Street and Church Street west of the bridge, most houses 
stand parallel to the street behind small front gardens, with low boundary fences or 
walls; 

• On Church Street east of the bridge the buildings mostly come right up to the 
pavement and there are fewer gaps between buildings creating a greater sense of 
enclosure; 

• Varied building line and gaps between buildings allow views in to the landscape 
beyond;

• Trees make a very important contribution, framing – and sometimes interrupting 
– views inside the conservation area, but also hiding the village in views from the 
surrounding countryside;

• Clearly defined village boundaries.

Contrasting areas of looser and denser texture

P
age 165

A
genda Item

 8



Shoreham Conservation Areas Draft Appraisals   September 2018

Draft

7

3.2 Building forms and details
The historic buildings of the conservation areas 
are typically small, simple in design and without 
any glaring contrasts between them. They can be 
characterised as having:

• A simple rectangular plan form, mostly two rooms 
deep;

• One or two storeys, with some attic storeys;

• Most buildings are in small groups or pairs;

• Various forms of traditional pitched roof, mostly 
gabled or hipped; 

• Unbroken roofslopes without dormers or rooflights;

• Timber-framed sash or casement windows under 
flat or segmental arches;

• Panelled timber doors;

• Brick chimneys, often tall and prominent;

• Historic extensions or ancillary structures projecting 
at the rear;

• Some nineteenth-century shopfronts survive in what 
are now domestic properties.

19th-century shopfront

Simple building forms Unbroken roof slopes

Hipped roofs Historic ancillary buildings

Tall brick chimneys

P
age 166

A
genda Item

 8



Shoreham Conservation Areas Draft Appraisals   September 2018

Draft

8

3.3 Architectural styles
The village buildings reflect a number of 
architectural styles. The predominant styles are: 

• Kentish vernacular: a style characterised by the 
use of locally available materials that reflect local 
custom and building tradition. Characteristic 
features within Shoreham include timber frame 
walling, flint walling, tile hanging, clay tiled roofs and 
casement windows; 

• ‘Polite’ Georgian domestic architecture, including 
facades added to earlier buildings, characterised by 
Flemish bond brickwork, stucco rendered elevations, 
sash windows and classical doorcases; 

• Nineteenth-century Neo-Tudor;

• Victorian semi-detached and terraced mill workers’ 
cottages in Crown Road;

• Vernacular revival houses of the late nineteenth and 
early twentieth century.

Vernacular revival

Kentish vernacular

Georgian domesticNeo-Tudor

Victorian workers' cottages

Kentish vernacular

P
age 167

A
genda Item

 8



Shoreham Conservation Areas Draft Appraisals   September 2018

Draft

9

3.4 Traditional building materials
The use of a limited palette of traditional building 
materials which are characteristic of west Kent gives 
the conservation areas much of their special interest. 

Earlier buildings are constructed of the materials 
that would have been readily available locally while 
the late nineteenth-century interest in vernacular 
architecture led to a revival in historic styles, using 
a similar palette. The arrival of the railway allowed 
a wider range of materials from further afield to be 
used from the mid-nineteenth century onwards.  

The following materials all contribute to the character 
and appearance of the conservation areas.   

Pre-1800
• Some rubble walling is to be found in the church and 

Ye Olde George Inn; 

• Timber framed structures, dating to the fifteenth, 
sixteenth and early-seventeenth century; 

• Tile-hanging, white-painted weatherboarding or 
plaster covering timber frames; 

• Mathematical tiles, probably eighteenth-century, 
on the upper part of the east wall of Ivy Cottage, 
Church Street; 

• Plain clay tile roofs, historically peg tiles, which have 
been the typical roof covering in Shoreham since the 
late middle ages; 

• Eighteenth-century facades of locally hand-made 
orange to red bricks laid in Flemish bond, often 
patterned with blue headers;

• Flint used in combination with brick.  

Flemish bond brickwork

Rubble stone and timber frame Timber frame

Tile-hanging and clay tile roofs Mathematical tiles

Brick and flint

P
age 168

A
genda Item

 8



Shoreham Conservation Areas Draft Appraisals   September 2018

Draft

10

Nineteenth and early-twentieth century
• Imported white and yellow bricks used at first in 

high status buildings and later more widely; 

• Tile-hung upper storeys and red brick on vernacular 
revival buildings;

• Flint, used for houses and for the Victorian 
restorations of the parish church; 

• Roughcast walls on early twentieth-century cottage-
style houses, e.g. Marne Cottages, Church Street. 

Yellow brick Tile-hanging and red brick

Flint and brick Roughcast and red brick

P
age 169

A
genda Item

 8



Shoreham Conservation Areas Draft Appraisals   September 2018

Draft

11

3.5 Boundaries and streetscape
A characteristic feature of the conservation areas, 
which contributes strongly to their special interest, is 
the number of historic garden boundaries, especially 
on the High Street and the western part of Church 
Street. These are typically low and enclose small 
front gardens. Many modern boundaries also 
follow historic precedents and thereby contribute 
positively to the character of the conservation areas.  

The most typical historic materials used are: 

• Brick-and-flint walls;

• Wooden palings; 

• Iron railings.

The conservation areas area also notable for the 
scarcity of road markings and traffic signage, which 
contributes to their rural character. 

There is very little street furniture contributing to 
character, except for a K6 telephone box on Forge 
Way.

Road and pavement surfaces are generally tarmac, 
with a mixture of granite and concrete kerbs, and as 
such do not make a strong contribution.   

Brick-and-flint walls

Brick-and-flint walls Wooden palings

Iron railings Unmarked roadway

Brick wall and railings

P
age 170

A
genda Item

 8



Shoreham Conservation Areas Draft Appraisals   September 2018

Draft

12

3.6 Heritage assets, positive contributors and detractors
The buildings and structures of the conservation areas contribute in different 
ways to its overall character and appearance, some positively (positive 
contributors including listed buildings), others negatively (detractors). The 
contributions of individual elements are shown on the map on page 13.

Positive contributors
The conservation areas contains a large number of heritage assets, both 
designated and non-designated, all of which add to the architectural and historic 
interest of the conservation area. The extent of a building’s contribution to the 
character and appearance of the area is not limited to its street elevations but 
also depends on its integrity as an historic structure and the impact it has in three 
dimensions. Rear elevations can be important, as can side views from alleys and 
yards.

• Listed buildings (designated heritage assets). Buildings or structures that have 
been designated by national government as having special historic or architectural 
interest at a national level. For further details, see https://www.historicengland.org.
uk/listing/what-is-designation/ 

• Positive contributors (non-designated heritage assets). These are unlisted buildings 
that help to shape the character and appearance of the Conservation Area. Some 
buildings may have suffered from unsympathetic alteration but could be restored 
to their original appearance relatively easily. A checklist for identifying positive 
contributors in a conservation area is given in the Historic England guidance 
Conservation Area Designation, Appraisal and Management (2018).

Detractors
Some elements of a conservation area may be out of character due to, for 
example, their scale, use of materials or the way they relate to neighbouring 
buildings. These are identified as detractors. 

P
age 171

A
genda Item

 8



Shoreham Conservation Areas Draft Appraisals   September 2018

Draft

13

Heritage assets

Existing boundaries

P
age 172

A
genda Item

 8



Shoreham Conservation Areas Draft Appraisals   September 2018

Draft

14

3.7 Character Zones
Four zones of discernibly different character can be identified within the 
conservation areas, based on their spatial character and architectural qualities, 
historical development and the contribution they make to the conservation areas.

The features and individual characteristics of each zone that contribute positively  
to the character and appearance of the conservation areas are summarised 
below. The boundaries of the Character Zones are shown on the map  
on page 15.

Character Zone 1: High Street, Church Street west of the bridge, 
and Mill Lane
• Loose texture, with buildings standing mostly back from the street behind small 

front gardens and gaps between buildings; 

• Open feel to the High Street because it stands on the sloping side of the valley; 

• View west along Church Street as it rises up to meet the High Street, with the 
range of hills behind, is particularly attractive and characteristic;

• Many well-maintained front gardens, bounded by low walls, hedges or fences;  

• A small number of modern buildings, which due to their modest scale and simple 
design do not detract from the character and appearance of the conservation area;

• At the entry from the north the historic boundary between village and open 
countryside is well preserved; 

• Oxbourne House plays an important part in the townscape by providing a ‘full stop’ 
in views from the south at the end of the village;

• Mill Lane retains the character of a small rural lane providing the transition 
between the village to the south and open countryside to the north. 

Important views: 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 8, 9, 11, A, C. (see map on page 20 for 
location of views)

P
age 173

A
genda Item

 8



Shoreham Conservation Areas Draft Appraisals   September 2018

Draft

15

Character zones

Existing boundaries

P
age 174

A
genda Item

 8



Shoreham Conservation Areas Draft Appraisals   September 2018

Draft

16

Character Zone 2: Church Street east of the bridge
• A denser texture than Character Zone 1, with most houses and boundary walls 

built right up to the pavement or road; 

• A series of more open spaces: the churchyard, the ‘village square’ in front of Ye 
Olde George Inn, the area by the War Memorial and the triangle of land in front of 
Water House;

• The tightness of buildings against the street and the fact that the ground is flat 
means that the surrounding landscape is generally less of a presence than in 
Character Zone 1. An exception is the view looking westwards over the bridge to 
the hills in the distance and the War Memorial cross (currently obscured);  

• Entry to the village from the east; the built-up area of the village is still well-
defined, with open fields giving way immediately to the boundary walls of the Old 
Vicarage and the Lodge on either side; 

• A fine run of Georgian brick facades, from Bridge Cottage round to Little Record.  

Important views: 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, A, B, C. (see map on page 20 
for location of views)

P
age 175

A
genda Item

 8



Shoreham Conservation Areas Draft Appraisals   September 2018

Draft

17

Character Zone 3: Crown Road

• New development of the 1870s, so less varied in age of buildings;

• A straight road tightly enclosed to both sides by pairs and terraces of nineteenth-
century workers’ cottages;

• No pavement;

• Due to the topography, views are channelled east over the valley;

• Distinct in having a river frontage, composed of 24 Crown Road and 1–8 Riverside 
Cottages;

• The most visible part of the conservation areas due to relative lack of tree cover;

• Separated from the main part of the village by the allotments. 

Important views: 7, A, C, D. (see map on page 20 for location of views)P
age 176

A
genda Item

 8



Shoreham Conservation Areas Draft Appraisals   September 2018

Draft

18

Character Zone 4: Open spaces 
• Largely grassed areas with belts of trees around their edges, the exceptions being 

the Allotments and the grounds of The Mount, which are cultivated as vineyard; 

• Views of the rear of buildings, which are generally less well-preserved than the 
fronts; 

• Openness, greenery and mature trees provided by the open spaces significantly 
contribute to the rural character of the village and its setting;

• Important role in defining the shape of the village, preserving its historic form as a 
largely linear settlement crossing the flood plain of the River Darent; 

• Allotments were the former common land of the village and define the historically 
detached nature of the Mill Lane/Crown Road area.

Important views: 6, 10, A. (see map on page 20 for location of views)

P
age 177

A
genda Item

 8



Shoreham Conservation Areas Draft Appraisals   September 2018

Draft

19

4.0 Views

Views make an important contribution to our ability to appreciate the character 
and appearance of the conservation areas. 

Three types of view have been identified, along with examples of each type. 
These are shown on the map on page 20. Such a list of views cannot be 
definitive, but illustrates the nature of views that are important to Shoreham’s 
conservation areas.

Townscape views within the conservation area 
which include a mix of building types and materials 
and give a sense of the spatial character and 
architectural quality of the village. Trees play an 
important part in these views, but are sometimes 
intrusive (Views 1–3, 8, 9, 11, 12, 14–17).

Contextual views which look out to the landscape 
beyond the Conservation Area and give an 
understanding of its topography and rural setting 
(Views 4–7, 10, 13). 

Scenic views from outside the conservation areas 
which take in the village as a whole together with its 
surrounding landscape and help to appreciate its rural 
setting and well-defined boundary  
(Views A, B, C and D).

Since there are no architectural set-pieces in the conservation area, the important 
views, with one exception, have come about by chance and combine the natural 
and the man-made in an attractive fashion. 

The exception is the view from the War Memorial by the bridge up to the War 
Memorial Cross on the hill which was consciously designed and is described on 
the War Memorial’s inscription. The view is currently obscured by tree growth, 
even in Winter.

P
age 178

A
genda Item

 8



Shoreham Conservation Areas Draft Appraisals   September 2018

Draft

20

Views

Existing boundaries

P
age 179

A
genda Item

 8



Shoreham Conservation Areas Draft Appraisals   September 2018

Draft

21

5.0 Open space assessment
The large amounts of open space within and around the conservation area make 
a strong contribution to its character and appearance. The topography of the 
Darent Valley is vitally important to the character of the conservation area, both 
in the hills that rise above the village and in the water meadows by the river as it 
flows through the village. Open space enables an understanding and appreciation 
of the topography and preserves the linearity of its built form.

The extent of the contribution of individual parcels of open space depends on 
the way they are experienced. Hence, those which are visible in views from the 
main streets of the conservation areas, or from the footpaths around the village 
make the greatest contribution. 

Open space is defined as common land, farmland, countryside and recreational 
spaces (including allotments, school grounds, churchyards and cemeteries). 
Private gardens and private car parks are excluded.

The contributions of individual parcels of land are shown on the map  
on page 22.

Open space inside the conservation areas
• The Allotments allow views eastwards across the valley from the High Street and 

preserve part of the water meadows in the heart of the village; 

• The watermeadow to the south of the Allotments is prominent in the view over 
the village from the War Memorial. The trees in the watermeadow provide the 
backdrop to many views within the conservation area;

• The land behind the High Street on the west side, including the Recreation Ground, 
is largely hidden from the rest of the conservation areas and trees prevent any 
appreciation of it as an open space in longer views;

• The Mount vineyard helps to define the edge of the village in views over the valley 
and its trees provide the backdrop to many views within the conservation areas.

Open space outside the conservation areas
• The enclosure provided by the sides of the valley is an important aspect of the 

character of the conservation areas and the ability to see the hills in long views 
from Church Street and between buildings from the High Street is fundamental to 
Shoreham’s sense of place. The ability to see the 1914–18 War Memorial Cross 
on the hill from the War Memorial within the village is particularly important to its 
historic significance and this view should be re-instated;  

• Open space provides the foreground and background to scenic views of the village, 
from footpaths and from the railway, defining the edges of the village and creating 
a beautiful setting. The ability to see the church with fields behind and in front of it 
is particularly important. 

P
age 180

A
genda Item

 8



Shoreham Conservation Areas Draft Appraisals   September 2018

Draft

22

Open space

Existing boundaries

P
age 181

A
genda Item

 8



Shoreham Conservation Areas Draft Appraisals   September 2018

Draft

23

6.0 Condition and issues

The character and appearance of the two conservation areas in Shoreham are 
generally well-preserved. 

There are, however, some issues which affect them and should be addressed in 
the ongoing management of the conservation areas.

• Loss of front gardens for parking and the loss of front boundary walls, fences etc.;

• Because the houses are generally small, there is considerable pressure for 
extensions, which would detract if they were not of appropriate scale and 
materials;

• Over-scaled new buildings are harmful especially in views over the conservation 
areas;

• Small porches have been added to many houses; some are of poor design, or are 
out of character for the host building and others disrupt the unity of a terrace or 
other grouping;

• The designed view from the War Memorial to the cross on the hill is obscured by 
intervening tree growth;

• Plastic windows and doors, which are alien and unsympathetic materials for 
historic buildings and therefore detract from their character;

• Parking on the street and in front of houses is visually intrusive and detracts from 
the historic character and appearance of the streets;

• Lack of street lamps and limited amounts of traffic signage and road markings help 
to preserve the character of the conservation areas and is prized by local people.

Obscured view from the War Memorial

Loss of unity of a terrace of houses due to later additions

P
age 182

A
genda Item

 8



Shoreham Conservation Areas Draft Appraisals   September 2018

Draft

24

7.0 Management recommendations

Sevenoaks District Council has a statutory duty to review the management of 
conservation areas from time to time. The following recommendations have 
emerged from the assessment of the conservation areas in Shoreham made in 
the preparation of this appraisal.

Guide for owners and residents on the effects of conservation 
area designation
Recommendation

 Sevenoaks District Council will issue guidance about what it means to own a 
building in a conservation area and to encourage stakeholders to take an active 
part in the preservation and enhancement of these areas.   

Conservation area designation brings with it additional responsibilities for owners 
and occupiers due to increased planning controls and particular requirements 
for materials and detailing in works to buildings. These are often outweighed by 
the benefits of living in an area of architectural integrity and traditional character, 
which people appreciate and which is often reflected in higher property values.

Design of new buildings and alterations to existing buildings
Recommendation

When determining applications for planning permission, Sevenoaks District 
Council will take into account the Conservation Area Design Guidance which 
is issued with the revised appraisals. The guidance will be reviewed periodically 
to maximise its effectiveness. 

New buildings and alterations to existing buildings have an effect on the 
conservation area and Sevenoaks District Council will exercise its powers 
through the planning system to ensure that such changes preserve or enhance 
the character and appearance of the conservation area. The design guidance 
has been drafted to help applicants in putting together their proposals. It will be 
reviewed periodically to assess its effectiveness and revised if necessary. 

[Add LINK to Conservation Area Design Guidance]

P
age 183

A
genda Item

 8



Shoreham Conservation Areas Draft Appraisals   September 2018

Draft

25

Development in the setting of the conservation area 
Recommendation

 Applications for permission to develop in the setting of the conservation area 
should be determined with reference to the open space assessment in this 
appraisal. 

The village’s historic boundaries are still well-defined except at the south-west 
corner and as a result the conservation area has a well-preserved rural setting 
which contributes strongly to its character and appearance. Its position in a valley 
means that open space on the valley sides plays an important part in the way 
the conservation area is experienced. Development in its setting could therefore 
potentially have a harmful impact if erodes the village boundary where that is still 
well-defined or harms important views. As identified in this appraisal, different 
areas of open space around the conservation area make a different contribution 
to the character and appearance (see section 5.0).

• Development on areas of existing open space which make a strong contribution to 
the character of the conservation area is likely to have a harmful impact; 

• Development in areas which make some contribution may be possible without 
causing harm, subject to design, siting, scale, density, choice of materials and 
retention of mature trees. 

When proposing new development within the setting of the conservation area, 
applicants should assess and describe the likely impact of their proposals on the 
significance and built character of the area, on important views and on open 
space. Historic England’s Historic Environment Good Practice Advice Note 3 
(2nd edition 2017) provides advice on assessing impacts of development on the 
setting of heritage assets.

Enforcement 
Recommendation

 In implementing its Planning Enforcement Plan, Sevenoaks District Council will 
pay special attention to preserving or enhancing the special qualities of the 
Leigh Conservation Area. 

The effective operation of the planning system depends on the ability to ensure 
that development is carried out in accordance with planning permission and to 
enforce against development carried out without planning permission. Sevenoaks 
District Council has adopted a Planning Enforcement Plan which sets out how 
it will respond to planning enforcement complaints. It can be downloaded 
from the Council’s website: www.sevenoaks.gov.uk/info/20069126/planning_
enforcement.P

age 184

A
genda Item

 8



Shoreham Conservation Areas Draft Appraisals   September 2018

Draft

26

Conservation area boundary
Recommendation

 Shoreham High Street and Shoreham Mill Lane conservation areas should be 
combined and extended to include the properties on the High Street which are 
currently excluded, so as to preserve the integrity of the village as an historic 
settlement and provide consistency in future management.

The proposed new boundary is shown on the map on page 27.

The historic village of Shoreham is currently divided into two conservation 
areas, yet there is strong historical and architectural continuity between the two 
areas. Although Crown Road (in the Shoreham Mill Lane CA) has a distinct built 
character, the rest of the Shoreham Mill Lane Conservation Area is in keeping 
with the general character of the larger Shoreham High Street and Church Street 
Conservation Area. 

Given the linear nature of Shoreham’s historic development it would aid 
protection of its character to include the whole of both sides of the High Street 
in the Conservation Area. Views up and down the street are important to the 
way it is experienced. 

The properties that are recommended for addition to a single unified 
conservation crea are nos. 40, 42, 44, 46–56, 72–76, 76a and 83, all in the High 
Street. The field at the north end of the High Street is also recommended for 
inclusion. 

• 40, 42, 46–56, 72–76, 76a High Street

These are all post-1945 domestic buildings, similar to others which are already 
included in the Conservation Area, such as nos. 7, 79 and 81. They fit within 
the general character of the existing conservation areas, being modest in scale, 
simple in design and traditional insofar as they have masonry walls, pitched roofs 
and chimneys. Nos. 40–42 and 72–74 have tile kneelers, a nice detail in the Arts 

and Crafts tradition.  The affordable homes (nos. 46–56) continue a tradition 
of social housing which stretches back to the almshouses of medieval origin on 
Filston Lane and constitutes an important part of the social and communal history 
of Shoreham.  The front and side gardens to all these properties contribute to the 
character of the area, with the open fronted courtyard to the affordable housing 
development providing a small ‘Green’ and welcome breathing space within the 
streetscene.   

• 44 High Street

No. 44 is an early twentieth-century, cottage-style building which uses a 
combination of brick and roughcast walling and clay-tiled roof seen elsewhere 
in the conservation areas (e.g. at Marne Cottages). It stands behind a small 
front garden with a wooden paling fence in keeping with traditional boundary 
treatments in the conservation areas. This building would therefore make a 
positive contribution to the conservation area.

• 83 High Street

No. 83 and its former coach house is one of a small group of larger houses 
dating from the late-nineteenth and early-twentieth century in Shoreham. It 
uses characteristic materials such as brick, tile-hanging and half-timbering with 
roughcast infill and makes architecturally and by way of its generous garden 
setting and the verdant bank towards the High Street a positive contribution to 
the conservation area.

• The field at the north end of the High Street

Like the other open spaces in the Conservation Area, this piece of land 
contributes to important views, helps to define the boundary of the village and 
forms part of its rural setting. It affords a good view of the conservation areas 
from the north (View 10, see section 4.0) and forms the backdrop to the Mill 
Lane area in scenic views of the village (Views C and D, see section 4.0). It has 
been assessed (see section 5.0) as making a strong contribution to the character 
of the conservation area.

P
age 185

A
genda Item

 8



Shoreham Conservation Areas Draft Appraisals   September 2018

Draft

27

Proposed additions

Existing boundaries

P
age 186

A
genda Item

 8



Shoreham Conservation Areas Draft Appraisals   September 2018

Draft

28

Article 4 directions
Recommendation

 Article 4 directions should be made to protect historic boundary treatments 
and front gardens.

Article 4 (1) of the GDPO the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015 allows for restrictions to be applied to 
permitted development rights, but the NPPF requires that the purpose and 
extent of any restriction should be clear and justifiable.

As set out in this appraisal, an important part of the character of the conservation 
areas is the way that many buildings are set back behind small front gardens, 
enclosed by low boundary fences, railings or hedges. The loss of both the 
boundary treatments and the gardens would weaken the enclosure to the street 
and have an urbanising effect and therefore be harmful. The area in front of 
51 High Street, which has been paved over and has a wide gate for vehicular 
access, and the lay-by created to the front of 12 & 12a have been identified as 
detracting from the character of the conservation areas.

In order to exercise control over such changes and protect the special interest 
and character of the conservation area, it is recommended that within the 
conservation areas, planning permission should be required for development 
consisting of: 

• The provision within the curtilage of a dwellinghouse of a hard surface for any 
purpose incidental to the enjoyment of the dwellinghouse as such (Class F)

• The erection, construction, maintenance, improvement or alteration of a gate, 
fence, wall or other means of enclosure (Class A)

Public realm 
Recommendation

 Streets and public open spaces should be managed in a way that sustains their 
character and contribution to the conservation areas.

A valued part of the character of the Conservation Area is the lack of street 
lamps and the relative scarcity of traffic signage, road markings, advertising and 
other forms of visual clutter. Maintaining this depends on public bodies more 
than on the owners of private property. Kent County Council, Sevenoaks District 
Council and Shoreham Parish Council should refer to Historic England’s guidance 
in Streets for All (latest edition 2018) in any public realm works they propose or 
carry out. For more information go to: www.historicengland.org.uk/publications

Parking
Recommendation

 Ways of encouraging use of public transport and possibilities for the provision 
of parking outside the boundaries of the conservation area should be explored.

Few houses have off street parking, so there is a lot of parking on the street – 
and pavement. This is visually intrusive and detracts from historic character of 
the streets and their picturesque appeal. The importance of front gardens and 
boundaries to the character of the conservation area means that their loss to 
provide off street parking would be even more harmful. Ways of encouraging 
use of public transport and possibilities for the provision of parking outside the 
boundaries of the conservation area should therefore be explored.

P
age 187

A
genda Item

 8



Shoreham Conservation Areas Draft Appraisals   September 2018

Draft

29

Village Design Statement
Recommendation

 The Parish Council and local people could give consideration to whether a 
Village Design Statement should inform design of development in the village 
(including the parts which fall outside the Conservation Area), so as to extend 
community involvement and reinforce the design guidance contained in this 
appraisal.

Village Design Statements (VDS) are prepared by local people to guide new 
development in their villages (not restricted to the conservation area). They 
are used when assessing planning applications for development and other 
changes within villages. The statements have been adopted as informal guidance 
by Sevenoaks District Council and are used in assessing planning applications. 
Adopting a VDS for Shoreham would enable local people to express their views 
on design, both inside and outside the conservation areas, and reinforce the 
design guidance contained in this appraisal.

Views
The obscuring of the designed view between the war memorial next to the river 
and the chalk cross on the hill diminishes the significance and historic value of 
the memorial. From the heritage point of view, and for the enhancement of the 
conservation area, it would be desirable that this view is re-instated. This would 
need to be balanced against the amenity and nature conservation value of the 
affected trees.

P
age 188

A
genda Item

 8



Alan Baxter
Prepared by  Nicolas Chapple  
Reviewed by  Richard Pollard 
Draft issued September 2018

T:\1837\1837-190\12 DTP Data\CA Appraisals\printed versions\Shoreham\1837-190_Sevenoaks CA Appraisal_Shoreham_2018_PRINT.indd

This document is for the sole use of the person or organisation for whom it has been prepared under the 
terms of an invitation or appointment by such person or organisation.  Unless and to the extent allowed for 
under the terms of such invitation or appointment this document should not be copied or used or relied 
upon in whole or in part by third parties for any purpose whatsoever.  If this document has been issued as 
a report under the terms of an appointment by such person or organisation, it is valid only at the time of its 
production.  Alan Baxter Ltd does not accept liability for any loss or damage arising from unauthorised use 
of this document. 

If this document has been issued as a ‘draft’, it is issued solely for the purpose of client and/or team 
comment and must not be used for any other purpose without the written permission of Alan Baxter Ltd. 

Alan Baxter Ltd is a limited company registered in England and Wales, number 06600598.  
Registered office: 75 Cowcross Street, London, EC1M 6EL.

© Copyright subsists in this document.

P
age 189

A
genda Item

 8



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Draft

Swanley Village 
Conservation Area 
Appraisal Draft 

September 2018

1.0 Overview of Swanley Village Conservation Area 1
2.0 Historical development 3
3.0 Architectural and built character 5
4.0 Views 15
5.0 Open space assessment 17
6.0 Condition and issues 20
7.0 Management recommendations 21

This draft Conservation Area Appraisal for Swanley Village Conservation 
Area supports the duty of Sevenoaks District Council under section 71 of 
the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to prepare 
proposals for the preservation and enhancement of conservation areas and to 
consult the public about those proposals.

For details of the methodology employed in assessing the conservation area 
and preparing the appraisal, see the Sevenoaks District Conservation Areas: an 
introduction to appraisals revised in 2018, available at http// etc.

P
age 191

A
genda Item

 8



Swanley Village Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

1

1.0 Overview of Swanley Village Conservation Area
Swanley Village lies on the western edge of Kent, 16 miles from central London and 
a mile and a half north-east of the modern town of Swanley. The M25 motorway is 
350m to the east of the village and the railway line between London and east Kent 
runs just to the south, the nearest station being at Swanley.

The entire conservation area is within the Metropolitan Green Belt.

Conservation area boundary
Swanley Village Conservation Area encompasses the main village street from 
Highlands Farm in the west to Coldharbour Farm in east, along with land on the 
north side as far as the Victorian church, school and vicarage and the north part of 
Beechenlea Lane.

Designation history
Swanley Village Conservation Area was designated in 1984 and extended in 1997 
and again in 2006. The previous Conservation Area Appraisal was published in 
December 2003. 

Topography and geology
Swanley Village occupies an area of high ground between the valley of the River 
Darent and its tributary the Cray. The main street through the conservation area 
climbs up to the brow of Highlands Hill then descends, flattens before dipping again 
after the Lamb. The gently rolling landscape around the village lies partly on Thanet 
Sand and partly on chalk, but neither seems historically to have provided building 
materials. Agricultural land still forms the setting of the village. 

Summary of special interest
The main features of Swanley Village Conservation Area’s special historic and 
architectural interest are:

• It retains the character of a Kentish rural hamlet;

• A well-defined village boundary and sense of rural isolation despite its proximity to 
Swanley town and it being within few hundred metres of the M25;

• A mix of historic buildings dating from the late medieval to the early twentieth 
century that reflect the incremental development of the village;

• An important group of Victorian buildings comprising the church, school and 
vicarage, set within an parkland setting, and built by the notable Victorian architect 
Ewan Christian;

• Traditional craftsmanship embodied in original building materials and architectural 
features.

P
age 192

A
genda Item

 8



Swanley Village Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

2

Existing boundary

P
age 193

A
genda Item

 8



Swanley Village Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

3

2.0 Historical development
Swanley Village is the place that was historically known simply as Swanley. It was 
named ‘Swanley Village’ in the 1920s when the name Swanley was transferred to 
Swanley Junction, the urban town that had grown up from the 1860s around the 
railway junction a mile to the south-west of the village.

Beginnings
The origins of Swanley Village were probably as a clearing in woodland used for 
grazing in Saxon times, when two homesteads – Highlands and Gilden Hall – 
were established on an area of higher ground between the River Darent and its 
tributary the Cray. An agricultural community slowly grew, based along Swanley 
Village Road, between the two homesteads, which after the Norman conquest 
became manors in monastic ownership. The village was part of the parish of 
Sutton-at-Hone and did not therefore have its own parish church.

Nineteenth century
Swanley remained an agricultural settlement with little change until the 
nineteenth century. Several buildings date from the first half of the century and 
indicate a growing population and greater economic activity. The Wesleyan 
Methodist chapel (now greatly altered) was built in 1817; Alice Dene was rebuilt 
c.1820, followed by Prospect Row (1821), Old Place (1826–29), the Nook and 
Rose Cottage (1830s), Fern Cottage and Crocus Bank (1840). In 1860–61, the 
village gained a church, designed by the noted architect Ewan Christian, along 
with a school and vicarage. Parish status followed in 1862.

The comings of the railways in the 1860s changed the future of the village and 
surrounding region. The Chatham main line which runs along the southern edge 
of the settlement was completed in 1860, although Swanley only received its 
own station to the south-west of the village in 1862 with the completion of the 
Sevenoaks branch. In the following decades, a new railway town grew around the 
rail junction, known a Swanley Junction, as the area developed into a centre for 
horticulture and market gardens that supplied the London markets. Within the 
village, many new buildings were erected on Swanley Village Road, including the 
two pubs, but the commercial centre of the parish established itself in Swanley 
Junction.  

Twentieth and twenty-first century
The twentieth century saw the rapid expansion of Swanley Junction whose name 
was subsequently changed to Swanley while the original settlement received 
the affix ‘Village’. Swanley Village remained for the most part unaffected by new 
development: the Official Guide to Swanley in 1960 could still describe it as ‘an 
old world village unspoilt by modern development’ (Official Guide, p.15). The 
characterisation still holds up today. The village is predominantly residential, 
although there is a plant nursery and a group of small business units at the Old 
Stable Yard at Coldharbour Farm. The village shops have now gone, but the 
primary school, church and two pubs remain. 

More recently the population grew significantly as a result of the re-development 
of the former Beddington Fruit Company on School Lane with housing in the late 
1990s. One of the most significant changes in the village is the creation of the 
village green which was established as part of the above housing scheme and is 
maintained by the Swanley Village Trust.  

P
age 194

A
genda Item

 8



Swanley Village Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

4

Historic OS 1909

P
age 195

A
genda Item

 8



Swanley Village Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

5

3.0 Architectural and built character
3.1 Spatial character
The spatial character of the conservation area is a good example of a small, low 
density settlement which has developed very gradually over centuries. It can be 
summarised as follows:  

• Linear development along a narrow, winding main street with secondary streets or 
lanes intersecting;

• No discernible village centre, although clusters of buildings occur around road 
junctions;

• Outlying farms at both ends of the village i.e. Highlands and Coldharbour;

• Large gaps created by open spaces and gardens give a sense of separation between 
development clusters;

• No or narrow pavements;

• Varied building line;

• Informal grouping of buildings;

• Loose texture and varied plot sizes; 

• Building often only on one side of the road;

• No historic backland development except for Elm Cottages;

• Sense of enclosure with little opportunity to see the landscape beyond;

• Many houses set above road level behind retaining walls;

• Well-kept front gardens add to the rural character of the streetscene; 

• Open public spaces including allotments, the village green and churchyard make up 
a large part of the conservation area. 

Contrasting areas of looser and denser texture

P
age 196

A
genda Item

 8



Swanley Village Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

6

3.2 Building forms and details
The historic buildings can be summarised as follows:

• Small-scale and domestic in character;

• Simple rectangular forms, mostly flat-fronted but 
some nineteenth and twentieth-century buildings 
have bay windows;

• Predominantly two-storey;

• A mixture of individual houses, pairs and short 
terraces;

• A variety of traditional pitched roof forms, most 
distinctively low, M-shaped roofs; 

• Unbroken roof slopes;

• Tall brick chimneys;

• Timber-framed sash or casement windows, mostly 
small-paned, with square or segmental heads;

• Nineteenth-century date stones.

Unbroken roof slopes

Simple building forms Unbroken roof slopes

Varied size of building M-shaped roof

Date stones

P
age 197

A
genda Item

 8



Swanley Village Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

7

3.3 Architectural styles
The predominant types of historic architecture in 
the Swanley Conservation Area are: 

• Kentish vernacular styles characterised by simple 
building forms and the use of local traditional 
materials i.e. timber frame walling, weatherboarding, 
red brick, clay-tiled roofs, casement windows; 

• Georgian and Victorian domestic architecture, 
characterised by Flemish bond brickwork or Stucco 
rendered elevation, slate roofs, symmetrical facades 
and sash windows. A number of properties of 
that period are suburban type detached villas or 
attached houses that reflect the influence of the 
capital, as does the use of yellow or buff coloured 
brick; 

• Vernacular revival buildings of the late nineteenth 
and early twentieth century. 

Vernacular revival

Kentish vernacular

Victorian domesticGeorgian domestic

Vernacular revival

Kentish vernacular

P
age 198

A
genda Item

 8



Swanley Village Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

8

3.4 Traditional building materials
The use of traditional materials makes a large 
contribution to the character and appearance of the 
conservation area. Three phases of historic building 
can be distinguished, each with its own palette of 
materials:

Pre-1800 vernacular
• Timber frames, now concealed by later added brick 

elevations or weatherboarding;

• Plain clay tile roofs, historically Kent peg tile roofs;

• Weatherboarding, traditionally painted in white for 
domestic properties; 

• Local red brick.

Early to mid-nineteenth century domestic
• Yellow or buff coloured brick laid in Flemish bond; 

• Painted stucco render; 

• Timber sash windows;

• Slate roofs.

Vernacular revival
• Red brick walls; 

• Tile-hung upper storeys;

• Clay tile roofs with decorative ridge tiles;

• Timber casement windows.

Clay tile roofs

Weatherboarding and brick covering timber frame Weatherboarding

Yellow brick and slate roofs Yellow brick and slate roofs

Tile-hanging

P
age 199

A
genda Item

 8



Swanley Village Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

9

3.5 Boundaries and streetscape
Boundary treatments including many hedges make 
an important contribution to the character of the 
conservation area, defining the narrow streets and 
providing a sense of enclosure. The greenery and 
openness provided by the front gardens also greatly 
adds to the rural nature of the village.

From historic photographs, the typical front garden 
boundary seems to have been wooden palings like 
those outside The Cottage or White Cottages.  

Others which contribute positively to the character 
of the conservation area are:

• Brick or brick and rubble stone retaining walls and 
boundary walls;

• Metal railings, e.g. original cast-iron railings in front of 
Woodhurst, Swan House, Holly Tree and Portswood;

• Flint and brick walls. 

There are only short stretches of pavement within 
the conservation area, mostly paved in good quality 
red brick, which along with the use of granite setts on 
the roadway enhances the quality of the streetscape. 
A number of properties have expansive areas of 
paving or gravel in front of them, which detracts from 
the character of the conservation area.  

In terms of street furniture, the historic replica 
lamp posts on Highlands Hill and Swanley Village 
Road contribute positively, as do the early-to-
mid twentieth-century pillar box at the corner of 
Highlands Hill and the post box in the gate pier in 
front of Old College Cottage.

Brick paving and historic replica lamp post

Brick-and-flint walls Wooden palings

Stone and brick retaining wall Attractive gardens

Expansive area of paving

P
age 200

A
genda Item

 8



Swanley Village Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

10

3.6 Heritage assets, positive contributors and detractors
The buildings and structures of the conservation area contribute in different ways 
to its overall character and appearance, some positively (positive contributors), 
others negatively (detractors). The contributions of individual elements are shown 
on the map on page 11.

The conservation areas contains a large number of heritage assets, both 
designated and non-designated, all of which add to the architectural and historic 
interest of the conservation area. The extent of the buildings’ contribution to the 
character and appearance of the area is not limited to their street elevations but 
also depends on their integrity as historic structures and the impact they have in 
three dimensions. Rear elevations can be important, as can side views from alleys 
and yards.

• Listed buildings (designated heritage assets). Buildings or structures that have 
been designated by national government as having special historic or architectural 
interest at a national level. For further details, see https://www.historicengland.org.
uk/listing/what-is-designation/ 

• Positive contributors (non-designated heritage assets). These are unlisted buildings 
that help to shape the character and appearance of the Conservation Area. A 
checklist for identifying positive contributors in a conservation area is shown 
opposite, based on the Historic England guidance. Some buildings may have 
suffered from unsympathetic alteration but could be restored to their original 
appearance relatively easily.

Detractors
Some elements of a conservation area may be out of character due to, for 
example, their scale, use of materials or the way they relate to neighbouring 
buildings. These are identified as detractors. 

P
age 201

A
genda Item

 8



Swanley Village Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

11

Heritage assets

P
age 202

A
genda Item

 8



Swanley Village Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

12

3.7 Character Zones
Four zones of discernibly different character can be identified within the 
conservation areas, based on their spatial character and architectural qualities, 
historical development and the contribution they make to the conservation areas.

The features and individual characteristics of each zone that contribute positively  
to the character and appearance of the conservation areas are summarised 
below. The boundaries of the Character Zones are shown on the map 
on page 13:

Character Zone 1: Swanley Village Road and Beechenlea Lane 
• Strongly linear character;

• Cluster of development mainly around road junctions, with some attractive 
groupings of buildings; 

• Winding street creates short range views and picturesque juxtapositions;

• Houses set in well-kept gardens;

• Mature trees and hedges emphasise rural character.

Important views: 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 7 (see map on page 16 for location of views)

P
age 203

A
genda Item

 8



Swanley Village Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

13

Character zones

P
age 204

A
genda Item

 8



Swanley Village Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

14

Character Zone 2: Area around the church north of Swanley 
Village Road
• Individual buildings set in green spaces;

• Parish church at the heart of the area;  

• Large areas of public open spaces i.e. village green, churchyard, allotments and the 
‘Church Green’ between churchyard and school;

• Church, vicarage and school form an important group of Victorian buildings built 
by the same architect;

• Abundant trees;

• Parkland character to setting of church and associated buildings;

• Secluded footpaths with occasional glimpsed views;

• Views of parish church from the village green.

Important views: 5, 8 (see map on page 16 for location of views)P
age 205

A
genda Item

 8



Swanley Village Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

15

4.0 Views

Views make an important contribution to our ability to appreciate the character 
and appearance of the conservation area. 

The views within the conservation area are constantly unfolding due to the 
winding nature of the main street. Boundary treatments, hedges and woodland 
lining the street to both sides limit the views into the surrounding countryside. 
The church tower provides a landmark when seen from the new Village Green 
but is otherwise hidden in views by mature tree cover.   

Important views have been identified and are shown on the Interactive map at 
the front of this appraisal. Such a list of views cannot be definitive, but illustrates 
the nature of views that are important to Swanley Village Conservation Area.

View 7: view of Swanley Village RoadView 5: view of the church spire from the village green

View 3: view along Beechenlea Lane towards Swanley Village Road

P
age 206

A
genda Item

 8



Swanley Village Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

16

Views

P
age 207

A
genda Item

 8



Swanley Village Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

17

5.0 Open space assessment
There are large amounts of open space within and around Swanley Village 
Conservation Area, some of which makes a strong contribution to its character. 
The extent of the contribution of individual parcels of open space depends on the 
way they are experienced. Hence, those which are visible in views from the main 
streets of the conservation area, or from the footpaths around the village make the 
greatest contribution. 

Open space is defined as common land, farmland, countryside and recreational 
spaces (including allotments, school grounds, churchyards and cemeteries). Private 
gardens and private car parks are excluded. Much of the land surrounding Seal 
Conservation Area is comprised of private gardens and therefore does not come 
within the definition of open space used for this assessment. 

The contributions of individual parcels of land are shown on the map 
on page 18.

Open space inside the conservation area
• The allotments on the south side of Swanley Village Road make a strong 

contribution by ensuring the street is not continuously built up on both sides, 
thereby reinforcing its character; 

• Large, mostly publicly accessible open spaces north of Swanley Village Road are 
an essential part of the character of Character Zone 2 and distinctive to the 
conservation area.

Land to the rear of Swanley Village Road

Village allotments

P
age 208

A
genda Item

 8



Swanley Village Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

18

Open space

P
age 209

A
genda Item

 8



Swanley Village Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

19

Open space outside the conservation area
• Farmland to the south-west of the village helps to preserve the village boundary 

which can be appreciated when approaching by road and on the public footpath 
which runs south from Elm Cottages; 

• Open space to the south of Swanley Village Road rises and forms the backdrop to 
views from footpaths on the north side of the road; where this open space meets 
the street it makes a strong contribution by ensuring the street is not continuously 
built up on both sides; 

• Some pockets of open space to the south of Swanley Village Road make little or 
no contribution because they are already bounded by development and are not 
readily experienced from roads, footpaths or open spaces;

• Open space to the north-west and north-east of the Conservation Area help to 
define the village boundary and thereby appreciation of its rural character.

Land to the south-west of the Conservation Area looking towards Swanley

Land to the north-west of the Conservation Area

P
age 210

A
genda Item

 8



Swanley Village Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

20

6.0 Condition and issues

The character and appearance of the conservation area is generally well-
preserved. There are, however, some issues which affect it and should be 
addressed in the ongoing management of the conservation area.

• Modern boundary treatments of inappropriate suburban character which detract 
from the rural character of the conservation area;

• Lack of any front boundary, or loss of front garden to parking;

• Plastic windows and doors, which are alien and unsympathetic materials for 
historic buildings and therefore detract from their character;

• The lamp posts at the east half of Swanley Village Road are modern designs; it 
would be beneficial to replace them with the same historic replica lamp posts 
found elsewhere in the conservation area.

Modern boundary treatment of inappropriate suburban character

Lack of front boundaries detracts from the character of the Conservation Area

P
age 211

A
genda Item

 8



Swanley Village Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

21

7.0 Management recommendations

Sevenoaks District Council has a statutory duty to review the management of 
conservation areas from time to time. The following recommendations have 
emerged from the assessment of Swanley Village Conservation Area in the 
preparation of this appraisal.

Guide for owners and residents on the effects of conservation 
area designation
Recommendation

 Sevenoaks District Council will issue guidance about what it means to own a 
building in a conservation area and to encourage stakeholders to take an active 
part in the preservation and enhancement of these areas.   

Conservation area designation brings with it additional responsibilities for owners 
and occupiers due to increased planning controls and particular requirements 
for materials and detailing in works to buildings. These are often outweighed by 
the benefits of living in an area of architectural integrity and traditional character, 
which people appreciate and which is often reflected in higher property values.

Design of new buildings and alterations to existing buildings
Recommendation

 When determining applications for planning permission, Sevenoaks District 
Council will take into account the Conservation Area Design Guidance which 
is issued with the revised appraisals. The guidance will be reviewed periodically 
to maximise its effectiveness. 

New buildings and alterations to existing buildings have an effect on the 
conservation area and Sevenoaks District Council will exercise its powers 
through the planning system to ensure that such changes preserve or enhance 
the character and appearance of the conservation area. The design guidance 
has been drafted to help applicants in putting together their proposals. It will be 
reviewed periodically to assess its effectiveness and revised if necessary. 

[Add LINK to Conservation Area Design Guidance]

P
age 212

A
genda Item

 8



Swanley Village Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

22

Development in the setting of the conservation area 
Recommendation

 Applications for permission to develop in the setting of the conservation area 
should be determined with reference to the open space assessment in this 
appraisal. 

Development in the setting of the conservation area can have a harmful impact 
if it would erode the village boundary where that is still well-defined, or would 
threaten its open character or harm important views. As identified in this 
appraisal, areas of open space in the setting of the conservation area differ in 
their contribution to its character and appearance (see section 5.0 for details).

• Development on areas of existing open space which make a strong contribution to 
the character of the conservation area is likely to have a harmful impact; 

• Development in areas which make some contribution may be possible without 
causing harm, subject to design, siting, scale, density, choice of materials and 
retention of mature trees and hedges. 

When proposing new development within the setting of the conservation area, 
applicants should assess and describe the likely impact of their proposals on the 
significance and built character of the area, on important views and on open 
space. Historic England’s Historic Environment Good Practice Advice Note 3 (2nd 
edition 2017) provides advice on assessing impacts of development on the 
setting of heritage assets.

Enforcement 
Recommendation

 In implementing its Planning Enforcement Plan, Sevenoaks District Council will 
pay special attention to preserving or enhancing the special qualities of the 
Leigh Conservation Area. 

The effective operation of the planning system depends on the ability to ensure 
that development is carried out in accordance with planning permission and to 
enforce against development carried out without planning permission. Sevenoaks 
District Council has adopted a Planning Enforcement Plan which sets out how 
it will respond to planning enforcement complaints. It can be downloaded 
from the Council’s website: www.sevenoaks.gov.uk/info/20069126/planning_
enforcement.

P
age 213

A
genda Item

 8



Swanley Village Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

23

Conservation Area boundary
Recommendation

 The boundary of the conservation area should be amended to include Argyle, 
Ascona and the group of buildings around Lucas farmhouse so as to protect 
the rural and historic character of Beechenlea Lane as an integral part of the 
conservation area.

The proposed new boundary is mapped on the interactive map at the front of this 
appraisal.

The existing conservation area boundary takes in several of the properties on 
Beechenlea Lane, but excludes others, some of which are of clear architectural 
and historic interest, leaving gaps in the protection of this historic street. It is 
recommended that two groups of buildings be included in the conservation area.

• Ascona and Argyle

These two houses stand at the north end of Beechenlea Lane and are therefore 
in the heart of the village. Argyle is a good example of an architect-designed 
house of the 1930s, using traditional building forms and materials in a modern 
way. Ascona is a modern house built in part of the garden of Alice Dene, but 
sympathetic to the character and appearance of the conservation area in its use 
of materials and its small scale. It occupies an important position in the setting of 
several positive contributors and the listed Alice Dene.

• Lucas Farmhouse, Cygnet, Lucas Cottage and Pine Cottage

The last houses on Beechenlea Lane before it crosses the railway form an 
attractive and historic grouping which contributes positively to the conservation 
area. Lucas Farmhouse is an attractive late-Georgian building, displaying a date of 
1828 on its front elevation. Cygnet and Lucas Cottage are a pair of houses, which 
appear on the OS map of 1896 and are probably of nineteenth-century date, 
despite later alterations. Pine Cottage is a mid-twentieth century bungalow which 
forms part of this group. The stable building on the other side of Beechenlea 
Lane probably dates to the first half of the twentieth century (it does not appear 
on the 1896 OS, but is shown on the 1961 OS) and its materials of yellow 
brick and clay tiles are in keeping with the character and appearance of the 
conservation area. 

P
age 214

A
genda Item

 8



Swanley Village Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

24

Proposed additions

P
age 215

A
genda Item

 8



Swanley Village Conservation Area Draft Appraisal   September 2018

Draft

25

Article 4 directions
Recommendation

 Article 4 directions should be made to protect historic boundary treatments 
and front gardens.

Article 4 (1) of the GDPO the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015 allows for restrictions to be applied to 
permitted development rights, but the NPPF requires that the purpose and 
extent of any restriction should be clear and justifiable.

As set out in this appraisal, an important part of the character of the conservation 
areas is the way that many buildings are set back behind front gardens, enclosed 
by low boundary fences, railings or hedges. Where gardens have been paved 
over and boundary treatments been removed, this has had an urbanising effect 
on the streetscene that is harmful to the rural character of the village. In order to 
exercise control over such changes and protect the special interest and character 
of the conservation area, it is recommended that the following permitted 
development right be removed: 

• The provision within the curtilage of a dwellinghouse of a hard surface for any 
purpose incidental to the enjoyment of the dwellinghouse as such (Class F of 
Schedule 2, Part 1 of the GPDO)

• The erection, construction, maintenance, improvement or alteration of a gate, 
fence, wall or other means of enclosure. (Class A of Schedule 2, Part 1 of the 
GPDO)

Village Design Statement
Recommendation

 The Parish Council and local people could give consideration to whether a 
Village Design Statement should inform design of development in the village 
(including the parts which fall outside the Conservation Area), so as to extend 
community involvement and reinforce the design guidance contained in this 
appraisal.

Village Design Statements (VDS) are prepared by local people to guide new 
development in their villages (not restricted to the conservation area). They 
are used when assessing planning applications for development and other 
changes within villages. The statements have been adopted as informal guidance 
by Sevenoaks District Council and are used in assessing planning applications. 
Adopting a VDS for Swanley Village would enable local people to express their 
views on design, both inside and outside the conservation areas, and reinforce 
the design guidance contained in this appraisal. 

P
age 216

A
genda Item

 8



Alan Baxter
Prepared by  Nicolas Chapple  
Reviewed by  Robert Hradsky 
Draft issued September 2018

T:\1837\1837-190\12 DTP Data\CA Appraisals\printed versions\Swanley Village\1837-190_Sevenoaks CA Appraisal_Swanley Village_2018_PRINT.indd

This document is for the sole use of the person or organisation for whom it has been prepared under the 
terms of an invitation or appointment by such person or organisation.  Unless and to the extent allowed for 
under the terms of such invitation or appointment this document should not be copied or used or relied 
upon in whole or in part by third parties for any purpose whatsoever.  If this document has been issued as 
a report under the terms of an appointment by such person or organisation, it is valid only at the time of its 
production.  Alan Baxter Ltd does not accept liability for any loss or damage arising from unauthorised use 
of this document. 

If this document has been issued as a ‘draft’, it is issued solely for the purpose of client and/or team 
comment and must not be used for any other purpose without the written permission of Alan Baxter Ltd. 

Alan Baxter Ltd is a limited company registered in England and Wales, number 06600598.  
Registered office: 75 Cowcross Street, London, EC1M 6EL.

© Copyright subsists in this document.

P
age 217

A
genda Item

 8



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

Sevenoaks District Conservation Areas:
Appraisals revised in 2018 Part 3

Conservation Area Design Guidance

If you are looking to make changes or additions to your property in a conservation area you’ll find the 

following guidance helpful to ensure that your proposals are sympathetic to the character of your 

building and the wider area. The guidance is intended for both works that will require a planning 

application as well as providing general good practice guidance on changes that don’t require 

planning permission from the Council. 

Extensions

Location, scale, detailing and materials are important considerations when designing a new extension 

and successful extensions will be sympathetic to the building and wider conservation area. Please 

consider the guidance below when looking to extend your property. 

Guidance

New extensions should: 

 Respond positively to the character and integrity of the original building; 

 use materials that are appropriate to the age of the existing building; 

 in most cases, be located to the rear of the existing building. This is an important consideration 

when the main elevation has been designed to be symmetrical;

 respect the character identified in the conservation appraisal by retaining  important views from 

open spaces or from the village streets and respecting gaps and other spatial characteristics of 

the area;

 recognise the unity of a terrace or other group of adjoining buildings

To help determine whether the impact of proposed development is harmful to the character and 

appearance of the conservation areas, applicants should undertake an assessment of the likely impact 

of their proposals on the built character of the area, on important views and on open space.

New buildings

A new building in a conservation is an opportunity to enhance the conservation areas through high 

quality design that respects the townscape, architectural character and building forms and alignments. 

The conservation area appraisals identify buildings that detract from the character of the conservation 

areas and their sympathetic replacement is welcomed. 

Guidance

Page 219

Agenda Item 8



2

When designing a new building please consider:

 materials, colours and textures that reflect the traditional building materials and architectural 

character of the conservation area;

 the scale of surrounding buildings and be proportional to the setting of the area; 

 the form of  the surrounding buildings. The predominant building form in most of the District’s 

villages is the simple rectangular shape of two-storeys and (mostly) steeply pitched roofs, 

with the roof generally spanning a width of five to six metres; 

 the typical building line of street in which they are located;

 the important views. 

To help determine whether the impact of proposed development is harmful to the character and 

appearance of the conservation areas, applicants should undertake an assessment of the likely impact 

of their proposals on the built character of the area, on important views and on open space.

Materials 

Before transport improvements in the nineteenth century building materials were largely restricted 

to the range of materials found in the locality. This has resulted in locally distinct building traditions 

and vernacular detailing that shapes the appearance of the district’s rural settlements, many of 

which exemplify the image of the ‘traditional Kentish Village’.

A wide range of traditional building materials have been employed in the district. For walls, timber-

framing with plastered or brick infill or external cladding with weatherboarding, tile hanging and 

brick is widespread. Other common materials include brick (mainly red brick), flint walling, or, where 

available, rag or sand stone. Traditional roofing materials include mainly clay plain tiles (historically 

Kent peg tiles) and on occasions thatch. Natural slate is rarely found on buildings dating from before 

the 19th century. Very rarely, pantile roofs can be found, but these tend to be limited to outbuildings 

or single storey agricultural buildings. 

The richness of historic buildings lies in the texture, colour and durability of the traditional materials, 

and the patina of age these acquire with time. The weathering of natural materials results in an 

appearance that improves with age, an effect which many modern artificial alternatives fail to 

achieve and which makes them unsuccessful additions in a historic built context.

For the choice of materials for replacement, new development, and alteration to existing buildings 

the following should be considered:

 Brick

The type, size, texture and finish of traditional historic bricks on the relevant building or the 

surrounding area in general;  

Page 220

Agenda Item 8



3

The type of brick bonding - The prevalent historic brick bond in the district is either Flemish or 

English bond, or English garden bond for boundary wall. Stretcher bond is overwhelmingly found in 

buildings dating from the early 20th century as cavity walling became prevalent. It is monotonous in 

appearance and will be only appropriate for buildings of that period. 

 Pointing

The type of pointing – The primary feature of a wall is the brick and the pointing should normally 

visually subservient to it. Pointing should be “flush” or slightly recessed rather than “struck”.

Avoid the use of cement based pointing for re-pointing historic brickwork or rendering. It is 

damaging to all building types, being impervious and inflexible, and trapping moisture and causing 

damp and rot. For more information see: https://www.spab.org.uk/advice/inappropriate-cement-

pointing.

 Timber

The type of timber and its traditional finish - Oak was used for timber-framing and joinery up to the 

17th century and was generally left to weather naturally. Softwood was always painted. Stain is a 

modern preference and should be avoided.

Weatherboarding is traditionally painted in white or cream on houses, or sometimes black at less 

prominent elevations. Outbuildings and agricultural buildings traditionally have the 

weatherboarding tarred (i.e. are black) or have oak weatherboarding that is left unpainted.

Windows and doors

Windows are crucial elements to the appearance of a building and wider historic streetscape. The 

type of window, its detailing and material denote the architectural style and the period of 

construction of the building. In recent decades they have become particularly vulnerable to 

alteration and loss due to a variety of factors including lack of maintenance and concerns over 

energy efficiency. 

Guidance

 Original or historic windows can be often be repaired and refurbished. Sometimes slim-glazed 

units can be inserted into the historic frame. If replacement is necessary, match the originals 

in style, opening pattern, and detailing. 

 Extensive technical guidance on the care, repair and thermal upgrading of traditional 

windows are set out in guidance by Historic England: 

https://www.historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/traditional-windows-care-

repair-upgrading/.

Page 221

Agenda Item 8

https://www.historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/traditional-windows-care-repair-upgrading/
https://www.historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/traditional-windows-care-repair-upgrading/


4

Roofscape

The undulating roofscapes of old handmade peg tiles are one of the most attractive features of the 

District’s historic settlements. The width of buildings and the resulting roof pitch indicate the 

appropriate covering For example, peg tile roofs are steeply pitched normally between 42° and 50°, 

while slate and pantiles have a lower pitch of at least 30°, usually between 35° and 40°. Thatch is laid 

at a pitch of at least 55°.

The roof slopes of traditional buildings tend to be unbroken. Rooflights and dormer windows 

interrupt the simplicity of the form and may have a detrimental effect on the character of the 

buildings and quality of the roofscape of the area.

Guidance

 Sympathetic roof design will follow local tradition and relate to the existing historic roof 

details. When designing new roofs for extensions to existing buildings or for new buildings it 

is best to reflect the pitch of existing buildings and use appropriate tiles. On tiled roofs simple 

verges with undercloaks will normally be appropriate. Verges formed by the use of 

bargeboards must be generally avoided unless the building is rendered or weatherboarded.

 The plain tiles found on older buildings are traditionally hand-made, resulting in a roof that 

exhibits a particularly attractive uneven appearance due to the small differences between 

individual tiles. New hand-made tiles are available and are preferable in many situations to 

the uniformity of those that have been machine-made. 

 Rooflights can be discreetly placed, using architectural features such as parapets and 

concealed valley or placed on rear roofslopes. 

 Rooflights that sit flush to the roofscape minimise their prominence on the roofscape.

 Dormers which are carefully designed to match the character of the surrounding buildings 

and should be detailed in a simple style. They should not dominate the roofscape or be set 

close together.

Chimneys

Chimneys are an integral element to the design and appearance of historic buildings and often 

provide clues to the history and age of the property. As well as being functional, they were often 

designed for visual effect. Chimney stacks make an important contribution to the skyline of 

Conservation Areas. 

Guidance

 Chimney stacks and pots should always be retained and repaired, where necessary. Where 

they are no longer required for heating, consider using them for boiler flues and external 

ventilation ducts.

Page 222

Agenda Item 8



5

 Where chimneys they have been capped-off or truncated, they should wherever possible be 

reinstated to their original detailing and height. 

 The removal of internal chimney breasts to create additional internal space should allow for 

the retention of the external chimney stack. It is usually possible to provide internal structural 

support so that the chimney stack can remain intact externally.

 Original clay chimney should always be retained and re-bedded. Where replacement is 

necessary, or chimney pots have been lost, they can be reinstated with a suitable replica. 

Many of the traditional chimney pot models are still manufactured today.

Boundary treatments

Boundary treatments make an attractive and significant contributing to the setting of buildings and 

the character and appearance of the area in which they are situated. Historic boundary walls are a 

cherished part of the district’s built heritage and there are examples of walls that are statutory listed 

in their own right. 

The repair of an existing, the reinstatement or the addition a new boundary treatment, which uses 

traditional forms and materials, can enhance the conservation area. The type and detailing (including 

height) of boundary treatments is influenced various factors including: 

 the location of the boundary in relation to the building to which they define the curtilage e.g. 

front or rear, 

 the type of property,

 the period of construction of that property, 

 the character of the wider streetscene and area i.e. rural/urban.

Guidance

 Successful replacement boundary treatments and new boundary walls and fences to new 

buildings will  use the traditional materials and detailing prevalent in the conservation areas;

 Boundaries fronting the street tend traditionally to be low, rarely exceeding 90cm in height.

 Where buildings are part of a group, boundary treatments should take account of their visual 

relationship to neighbouring boundary treatments.

 In villages, picket fences, or, where there are historic examples, traditionally detailed low 

brick, flint or ragstone walls, are sympathetic choices. 

 Post and rail timber fencing, simple estate railing, field gates and hedges are common at the 

fringes to settlements providing a transition into the countryside.

 Georgian and Victorian properties often have boundaries that are distinctive to the style of 

the main house, such as wrought and cast iron railings on low brick boundary walls.

 The type and design of traditional boundary treatments and gates reflect the type and status 

of the building they belong too. Boundaries to vernacular buildings are modest in character.

Page 223

Agenda Item 8



6

Aerials and satellite dishes 

 Aerials and satellite dishes along with associated wiring  can add clutter to a building and this 

impact can be sometimes minimised. It is best to consider an alternative location to the side or 

the rear of a property. It also may be possible to locate the equipment away from the building.

 Please consider the removal of any redundant aerials and equipment when no longer in use.

Improving energy efficiency

The Council encourages improving energy efficiency of existing buildings. This can be done 

sympathetically and without compromising the character of historic buildings. There is extensive 

guidance available from Historic England: 

https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/your-home/saving-energy/

Page 224

Agenda Item 8

https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/your-home/saving-energy/


 

Planning Advisory Committee Work Plan 2017/18 (as at 17/09/18)

2 October 2018 22 November 2018 15 January 2019 12 March 2019 Summer 2019 

Budget: Review of 
Service Dashboards and 
Service Change Impact 
Assessments (SCIAs)

Infrastructure delivery 
plan

 

Draft Local Plan – 
results of consultation

CIL Spending Board – 
review of governance

P
age 225

A
genda Item

 9



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	3 Actions from Previous Meetings
	6 Budget 2019/20: Service Dashboards and Service Change Impact Assessments (SCIAs)
	06 Budget - PAC - App A - Service Dashboard
	06 Budget - PAC - App B - 201819 Budget by service
	06 Budget - PAC - App C - Old growth savings
	06 Budget - PAC - App D - New growth savings
	06 Budget - PAC - App E - SCIAs
	06 Budget - PAC - App F - Adv Ctte Previous Suggestions
	06 Budget - PAC - App G - 10 year Budget
	06 Budget - PAC - App H - Budget Timetable

	7 Local Plan - Infrastructure delivery plan update
	07 Appendix A - SDC Infrastructure Delivery Plan Background Wording

	8 Public consultation on proposed updated conservation area appraisals
	08 2_ConsultationLeaflet_DRAFT_Leigh v3
	08 3- Introduction to Sevenoaks Conservation Areas DRAFT_RJI rev2
	08 4_Brasted_Conservation Area Appraisals_PRINT
	08 5_Leigh_Conservation Area Appraisals_PRINT
	08 6_Seal Conservation Area Appraisals_PRINT
	08 7_Shoreham_Conservation Area Appraisal_PRINT
	08 8_Swanley Village_CAA_2018_PRINT
	08 9_Sevenaoks CAA_Design GuidanceRL3

	9 Work Plan



